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THE PENULTI MATE TRUTH

A fog can drift in fromoutside and get you; it can invade. At the Iong high wi ndow of his
library--an Ozymandi asi an structure built from concrete chunks that had once in another age forned
an entrance ranp to the Bayshore Freeway--Joseph Adans pondered, watched the fog, that of the
Pacific. And because this was evening and the world was darkening, this fog scared himas nuch as
that other fog, the one inside which did not invade but stretched and stirred and filled the enpty
portions of the body. Usually the latter fog is called | oneliness.

"Fix me a drink," Colleen said plaintively from behind him

"Your arm" he said, "it fell off? You can't squeeze the |emon?" He turned fromthe w ndow
with its view of dead trees, the Pacific beyond and its layer in the sky, darkness hangi ng and
approachi ng, and for a nonment actually considered fixing her the drink. And then he knew what he
had to do, where he had to be:

At the nmarbl e-top desk which had been sal vaged from a bonbed-out house in the Russian Hil
section of the former city of San Francisco he seated himself at the rhetorizor, touched its _on_-
t ab.

G oani ng, Colleen disappeared to search for a leady to fix her the drink. Joseph Adans, at
his desk and rhetorizor, heard her go and was gl ad. For some reason--but here he did not care to
probe his own mind too deeply--he was lonelier with Coll een Hackett than w thout her, and anyhow
| ate on Sunday night he fixed a dreadful drink; it was always too sweet, as if by m stake one of
his | eadies had dug up a bottle of Tokay and he had used it, not dry vermouth, in the nmartinis.
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Ironically, left to themselves, the |eadies never nmade that error . . . was this an onmen? Joe
Adans wondered. Are they getting smarter than us?

At the keyboard of the rhetorizor he typed, carefully, the substantive he wanted.
_Squirrel . Then, after a good two mnutes of sluggish, deep thought, the liniting adjective

smart _.

"Ckay," he said, aloud, and sat back, touched the rerun tab

The rhetorizor, as Colleen reentered the library with her tall gin drink, began to
construct for himin the auddimension. "It is a wise old squirrel,"” it said tinnily (it possessed
only a two-inch speaker), "and yet this little fellow s wisdomis not its own; nature has endowed
it--"

"Aw god, " Joe Adans sai d savagely, and slapped off the sleek, steel and plastic machi ne
with all its many mcroconponents; it becane silent. He then noticed Colleen. "Sorry. But |'m
tired. Wiy can't they, Brose or General Holt or Marshal Harenzany, _sonebody_in a position of
responsi bility, put Sunday ni ght sonewhere between Friday noon and--"

"Dear," Colleen said, and sighed. "I heard you type out only two senantic units. Gve it
nore to ogpon."

“I"lIl give it plenty to ogpon." He touched the no -tab, typed a whol e sentence, as
Col | een stood behind him sipping and wat ching. "Ckay?"

"I just can never tell about you," Colleen said. "If you passionately |ove your job or
hate it." She read the sentence aloud. " 'The well-informed dead rat ronped under the tongue-tied
pink log.""

"Listen," he said grimy. "I want to see what this stupid assist that cost ne fifteen
thousand Wes-Dem dollars is going to do with that. I'mserious; I"'mwaiting." He jabbed the rerun
tab of the machine.

"When's the speech due?" she asked.

"Tonorrow. "

"Cet up early."

"Ch no." He thought, |I hate it even nore when it's early.

The rhetorizor, inits cricket's voice, intoned folksily. "W think of rats, of course, as
our eneny. But consider their vast value to us in cancer research alone. The lowy rat has done
yeoman's service for huma--"

Again, at his savage instigation, it died into silence.

"--nity," Colleen said distantly; she was inspecting the authentic |ong-ago dug up Epstein
bust in the niche that divided the west wall shelves of books, where Joseph Adans kept his
reference texts on TV commercials of the last, past, great twentieth century, in particular the
religious and the Mars candy bar inspired creations of Stan Freberg. "A niserable netaphor,"” she
murmured. "A yeonan rat . . . yeonmen were young Vvillagers during the Medi eval period, and | bet
even though you're such a pro you didn't know that." She nodded to a | eady which had come to the
library door at her request. "Get ny cloak and have ny flapple brought to the main entrance." To
Joe she said, "I'mflapping back to ny own villa." Wen he didn't answer she said, "Joe, try it,
the entire speech, without that assist; wite it in your own words. And then you won't have
"yeoman rats' to nmake you so cross."

He thought, | don't think honestly | could do it, in my own words, w thout this machine;
I''m hooked on it now.

Qut side, the fog had nanaged a conpl ete success; he saw, with one brief sideways gl ance,
that it inhabited the world right to the window of his library. WlIl, he thought, anyhow we're
spared anot her one of those brilliant, radioactive-particles-in-suspension-for-all-eternity
sunsets.

"Your flapple, Mss Hackett," the |eady announced, "is at the main entrance and | hear by
renote that your type Il chauffeur holds the door open for you. And due to the eveni ng vapors one
of M. Adans' household servants will shed warm air about you until you are tucked safely inside."

"Jeez," Joseph Adans said, and shook his head.

Col l een said, "You teached it, dear. It got its precious jargony |inguistic habits
strai ght out of you."

"Because," he said bitterly, "I like style and ponp and ritual." Turning to her
appeal ing, he said, "Brose told nme in a nmeno, it showed up at the Agency directly fromhis own
bureau in Geneva, that this speech has to use a squirrel as the operational entity. What can you
say about themthat hasn't already been said? They save; they're thrifty. W know that. Do they do
anyt hi ng el se good that you know of, that you could _hang a goddam noral on?" And he thought,
they're all dead. There just isn't such a life formany nore. But we still extol its virtues .
after having exterminated it as a race.
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On the keyboard of the rhetorizor he vigorously, with deliberation, punched two new

semantic units. _Squirrel _. And--_genocide_.

The machi ne, presently, declared, "The funniest thing happened to ne on ny way to the
bank, yesterday. | happened to pass through Central Park, and you know how -"

I ncredul ous, staring at the nachine, Joe said, " _You_ passed through Central Park

yesterday? Central Park's been gone forty years."
"Joe, it's just a machine." Coak on, she returned nonmentarily to kiss hi mgoodnight.
"But the thing's insane," he protested. "And it said 'funny' when | fed in _genocide_ . D d

you- - "

"It's remniscing," Colleen said, trying to explain it to him she knelt briefly, touched
his face with her fingers and peered at him eye to eye. "I |love you," she said, "but you're going
to die; you're going to rupture yourself working. Through ny office at the Agency I'lIl file a
formal petition to Brose, asking if you can take two weeks off. | have sonmething for you, a gift;

one of ny leadies dug it up near ny villa; legally within the boundaries of ny denesne, as per
that recent little interchange nmy | eadies had with those of ny north nei ghbor's."

"A book." He felt a flicker within him the peaked flane of |ife.

"An especially good book, the real prewar thing, not a Xeroxed copy. Know what of?"

" _Alice in Wnderland_." He had heard so nmuch about that, had al ways wanted to own it and
read it.

"Better. One of those outrageously funny books fromthe 1960s--in good shape: both front
and back covers intact. A self-help book; _How | Tranquilized Myself by Drinking Onion Juice_ or

sonme such thing. | Made a MIlion Dollars by Leadi ng Two- And-a-Half Lives For the FBI . O--"

He said, "Colleen, one day | |ooked out the window and | saw a squirrel."

Staring at himshe said, "No."

"The tail; you can't mistake the tail. It's as round and fat and gray as a bottle brush.
And they hop like this." He nade a w cket-notion with his hand, showi ng her, trying to recapture
it, for hinself, too. "I squalled; | got four of ny |eadies out there with--" He shrugged. "Anyhow

they finally canme back and said, 'There's no such thing out there, domnus,' or sone darn renmark."
He was silent a nonent. It had, of course, been a hypnagogi c hall uci nation, based on too nmany
drinks and too little sleep. He knewit. The |eadies knewit. And now Colleen knew it. "But just
suppose, " he said, then

"Wite, in your owmn words, how you felt. By hand on paper--not dictated into a recorder
What finding a thriving, living squirrel would have nmeant to you." She gestured scathingly at his
fifteen thousand dollar rhetorizor. "Not what it thinks. And--"

"And Brose hinself," he said, "would strike it. Maybe |I could get it through the 'vac, to

the simand then on tape; | think it'd go that far. But never past Geneva. Because | wouldn't be
saying, in effect, 'Cone on, fellas; carry on.' I'd be saying--" He considered feeling peacefu
for a noment now. "I'Ill try," he decided, and rose to his feet, pushing his old-California w cker
chair back. "Ckay, I'll even do it in longhand; I'Il find a--what do you call thenP"

"Bal | poi nt pen. Think of your cousin who was killed in the war: Ken. Then renenber you're
both nen. Then you have it: pen."
He nodded. "And programthe 'vac direct fromthat. You might be right; it'd be depressing

but at least it wouldn't nake ne sick stomachw se; | wouldn't get those pyloric spasns." He began
searching around the library for--what had she called it?
Still on rerun, the rhetorizor squeaked to itself, ". . . and that little fellow inside

that head was packed a powerful |ot of savvy. Maybe even nore than you or | can ever guess. And
think we can learn fromhim" It droned on. Inside it thousands of m croconponents spun the
problem from a dozen druns of info-data; it could go on forever, but Joe Adans was busy; now he
had found a pen and all he needed was bl ank white paper. Hell, he surely had _that_; he beckoned
to the leady waiting to escort Colleen to her flapple.

"Cet the staff,” he instructed it, "to search up paper for me to wite on. Go through
every roomof the villa, including all the bedroons, even those not currently in use. | distinctly
renenber seeing a folio or packet of it, however it used to cone. It was dug up."

By direct radio contact the | eady passed on his command and he felt the building stir,
through the villa's fifty-odd rooms, his staff noving into activity fromthe spot where each had
halted after its last task. He, the dominus, sensed, with the soles of his feet, the burgeoning
life of this his building and sone of the inside fog went away, even though they were only what
the Czechs had called _robots , their crazy word for _workers_.

But, outside, the fog scratched at the w ndow.

And when Col Il een left, he knew, it would pluck and scrape, try to get in, nore
det ermi nedl y.
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He wished it were Monday and he were at the Agency, in New York at his office, with other
Yance-men around him And the life there would not be the npbvenent of dead--or rather, to be fair,
unliving--things. But the reality itself.

"I can tell you," he said suddenly. "I love ny work. In fact |I've got to have it; there's
nothing else. Not this--" He gestured at the roomin which they stood, then at the murky, clouded-
over w ndow.

"Li ke a drug," Colleen said, perceptively.

"Ckay." He nodded. "To use the archaic expression, 'I'll purchase that.""

"Sone linguist," she said gently. "It's _buy . Maybe you ought to use that nachine after
all."

“"No," he said, at once. "You were right; I'mgoing all the way back to trying it direct,
on ny own." Any nonment now one of his staff of |eadies would cone clanking in with blank white

paper; he was sure he possessed it, sonewhere. And if he didn't he could swap sonme itemw th a
nei ghbor, nake a trip, surrounded and protected, of course, by his entourage of |eadies, to the
dermesne and villa to the south, that of Ferris Ganville. Ferris would have paper; he had told
them on the open-channel vidline | ast week, conposing his--god forbid--nmenoirs.

What ever in, on or over Earth nemoirs were.

Time for bed. The clock said so, but--suppose the power had been off again, as it had for
al rost a whol e day | ast week; the clock might be hours wong. It nmight in fact, N cholas St. Janes
thought norbidly, really be tine to get up. And the netabolismof his body, even after all these
years under ground, told hi mnothing.

In the shared bathroom of their cubby, 67-B of the TomMXx, water ran; his wife was taking
a shower. So Nichol as searched about her vanity table until he found her wistwatch, read it; both
ti mepi eces agreed, therefore that was that. And yet he felt w de-awake. The Maury Souza affair, he
realized; it preyed vulturely on him nade a trough of his brain. This is how it nust feel, he
thought, to contract the Bag Pl ague, where those virtues get in and cause your head to expand

until it pops like a bl own-up paper bag. Maybe |I'msick, he thought. Actually. Even nore so than

Souza. And Maury Souza, the chief nechanic of their ant tank, now in his seventies, was dying.
"I"'mout," Rita called fromthe bathroom However, the shower still ran; she was not out.

"I mean, you can come in and brush your teeth or put themin a glass or whatever it is you do."
VWhat | do, he thought, is get the Bag Plague . . . probably that |ast danaged | eady they

sent down hadn't been 'cided properly. O |'ve picked up the Stink of Shrink, and fromthat he
physically cringed; inmagine, he thought, having your head dinmnish in size, features included, to
the circunference of a narble. "Okay," he said, reflexively, and began to unlace his work boots.
He felt the need to be clean; he would shower, too, despite the severe water ration currently in
force at the Tom M x, and by his own edict. Wien you do not feel clean, he realized, you are
dooned. Considering exactly what we could be made uncl ean by, the mcroscopic _things_ downfalling
to us that sone carel ess anbul atory netal hunk of handnmade parts had failed to 'cide out of

exi stence before yanking the drop switch, shooting three hundred pounds of contam nated nmatter to
us, something both hot and dirty at the sane tine . . . hot with radioactivity and dirty with
gerns. Great conbination, he thought.

And, in the back part of his mind, again he recalled: _Souza is dying_. Wat else matters?
Because--how |l ong can we |l ast wi thout that one grunpy old nan?

Approxi mately two weeks. Because their quota came up for auditing in two weeks. And this
time, if he knew his luck and his tank's, it would be one of the Mnister of the Interior Stanton
Brose's agents, not General Holt's. They rotated. It prevented, the inage of Yancy on the big
screen had once said, corruption

Pi cki ng up the audphone he dialed the tank's clinic.

"How i s he?"

On the other end Dr. Carol Tigh, their GP. in charge of their small clinic, said, "No
change. He's conscious. Cone on down; he tells ne he'd like to talk to you."
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"Ckay." Nicholas rang off, shouted--through the noise of running water--to Rita that he
was going, and left their cubby; outside in the comon corridor he bunped past other tankers on
their ways fromthe shops and recreation roons to their cubbies for bed: the clocks had been
right, because he saw nunerous bat hrobes and standard i ssue synthetic wubfur-fuzz slippers. This
really is bedtine, he decided. But he knew he still could not sleep

Three floors down, at the clinic, he passed through enpty waiting roons--the clinic was
cl osed, except for its bed patients--and then passed the nurses' station; the nurse stood up
respectfully to greet himbecause after all Nicholas was their elected president, and then he
found hinmself at the closed door of Maury Souza's roomwith its _Quiet--Do Not Disturb!_sign on
the door. He entered.

In the wide white bed |ay sonething flat, sonething so squashed that it could only gaze
up, as if it were a reflection, sonmething dimy seen in a pool that absorbed Iight rather than
reflected it. The pool in which the old man | ay was a consuner of energy of all kinds, Nicholas
realized as he walked to the bed. This is only a husk left here; it has been drained as if a
spider got to it; a world-spider or for us, rather, a subworld, underspider. But still a drinker
of human exi stence. Even below this far.

From his supine immbility the old man nmoved his lips. "H ."

"H, you old knurl headed frab,"” N cholas said, and drew a chair up beside the bed. "How do
you feel ?"

After atinme, as if it had taken that long for N cholas' words to reach him-that great
j ourney across space--the old nmechanic said, "Not so good, Nick."

You don't know, Nicholas thought, what you've got. Unless Carol has told you since | |ast
di scussed you with her. He eyed the old nechanic, wondering if there was an instinct. Pancreatitis
was fatal in alnost one hundred percent of its cases, he knew, Carol had told him But of course
no one had or would tell Souza, because the nmiracle m ght happen

"You'll pick up," N cholas said clunsily.

"Listen, Nick. How many | eadi es we nade this nmonth?"

He considered whether to lie or tell the truth. Souza had been here in this bed eight
days; surely he had | ost contact, could not check and trip himup. So he lied. "Fifteen."

"Then--" A | abored pause; Souza stared upward, never turned his eyes toward N chol as, as
if he were | ooking away in shanme. "W could still neke our quota."

"What do | care," N cholas said, "if we nmake our quota?" He had known Souza, been shut up
with himhere at the TomMx, for the total war-period: fifteen years. "I care whether--" CGod, a

m sspoken word; inpossible to amend, too.

"'\Whet her | get out of here,'" Souza whi spered.

"Naturally I nean _when_." He felt furious with hinmself. And, now, he saw Carol at the
door, | ooking professional in her white snock, her |ow heel ed shoes, carrying her clipboard on
whi ch, no doubt, she had Souza's chart. Wthout a word Nicholas rose, wal ked away fromthe bed and
past Carol and out into the corridor

She foll owed. They stood together in the enpty corridor and then Carol said, "He'll live
one nore week and then he'll die. Whether your tongue wags and says 'whether' or if you--"

"I told himour shops had turned out fifteen | eadies so far this nonth; make sure nobody
else tells himdifferent."

"l hear," she said, "it's nmore like five."

"Seven." He told her not because she was their doctor and soneone they depended on, but
because of The Rel ationship. Always he told Carol everything; that was one of the enotional hooks
that gaffed him held himto her: she, and this was so rare, could see through any sham even the
little daily innocences. So why try this now? Carol never wanted pretty words; she lived by the
truth. Here now she had once again gotten it.

"Then we can't neet the quota," she said. Matter-of-factly.

He nodded. "Partly it's because they've asked for three type VIls and that's hard; that
strains our shops. If it had all been the Ill or IV types--" But it hadn't; it never was, nor
woul d be. Ever.

So long as the surface | asted.

"You know," Carol said presently, "that on the surface artificial pancreases--artiforgs--
are avail able. You've considered this possibility, of course, in your official capacity."

Ni cholas said, "It's illegal. Mlitary hospitals only. Priority. Rating 2-A. W don't
qualify."

"There is said to be--"

"And get caught." It would no doubt be a quick kangaroo-court mlitary tribunal session
and then execution, if one were caught trading on the blacknmarket. In fact if one were caught up
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there at all.

"Are you afeared to go up?" Carol asked, with her brisk, brilliant hard scrutiny.

"Yep." He nodded: it was so. Two weeks: death by destruction of the red bl oodcell-making
capacity of the bone marrow. One week: the Bag Pl ague or the Stink of Shrink or Raw C aw Paw and
he already felt gernphobic; already, a few nonments ago, he had quaked with the trauma of it--as
did virtually every tanker, although in actual fact not one case of any of the poxes had broken
out at the Tom M x.

"You can," Carol said, "call a neeting of those--you know - those you can trust. And ask
for a volunteer."

"Goddamit, I'lIl go if anyone does." But he didn't want to send anyone because he knew
what was up there. No one would return because a honotropi c weapon, if not the tribunal, would
flush himout of hiding and it would follow himuntil he died. And that in a matter of m nutes,
per haps.

And honot ropi ¢ weapons were vile things; they did it in a vile way.

Carol said, "I know how badly you want to save old Souza."

"I love him" he said. "Above and beyond the shops, the quota, all of that. Did he ever,
inall the tine we've been | ocked up down bel ow here, refuse anyone anything? Any tinme of the
ni ght, a | eaking water pipe, break in power, clogged protine chute--he always came and hamrered
and patched and stitched and rewapped it back into operation." And, since Souza was, officially,
Chi ef Mechanic, he could have di spatched any one of fifty assistants and snoozed on. Fromthe old
man Ni chol as had | earned; you did the job yourself--you did not drop it in the lap of a
subor di nat e.

As, he thought, the warwork's devol ved down here to us. Building the netal fighters in
ei ght basic types, and so on, with the Estes Park Governnment, the functionaries of WesDem and of
Brose personally, breathing at us at close, close range.

And, as if the words magically inpelled the unseen presence, a gray, faint shape noved
urgently down the hall toward himand Carol. Commi ssioner Dale Nunes, all right; eager, busy,
pressed on by his business.

"Ni ck!" Panting, Nunes read straight froma slip of paper. "A big speech in ten m nutes;
get on the all-cubby circuit and get everyone into Wweeling Hall; we'll watch in uni son because
there' |l be questions. This is serious." His fast bird eyes flewin their spasmof alarm "Honest
to god, Nick, the way | got it over the coax it's all of Detroit; they penetrated the final ring."

"Jesus," N cholas said. And noved, reflexively, toward a nearby aud-tap of the circuit
whi ch ran, speakerwi se, throughout each floor and chanber of the TomMx. "But it's bedtine," he
said to Conmi ssioner Nunes. "A lot of themare undressing or in bed; couldn't they watch on their
own i ndivi dual cub-sets?"

"The questions,” Nunes said, agitatedly. "They're going to up the quotas because of this
Detroit fiasco--that's what I'mafraid of. And | want to be sure everyone knows why, if that's the
case." He did not | ook happy.

Ni chol as said, "But Dale; you know our situation. W can't even--"

"Just get theminto Wheeling Hall. Ckay? We can talk later."

Lifting the mcrophone N chol as said, addressing every cubby in the tank, "People, this is

President St. Janes and |'msorry but we've all got to be at Weeling Hall in ten mnutes. Cone as
you are; don't worry about that--a bathrobe is fine. It's grave news."
Nunes murmured, "Yancy'll speak. For sure; they told ne."

"The Protector,” Nicholas said into the nike, and heard his voi ce boomfrom each end of
the deserted clinic corridor, as it was everywhere else in the great subsurface ant tank of
fifteen hundred human souls, "is going to address us, | understand. And he'll accept questions."

He rang off, feeling defeated. It was not a reasonable tinme to give them bad news. And
with Souza and the quota and the audit to come--

"I can't leave ny patient," Carol said.

Upset, Nunes said, "But | was told to assenbl e everyone, Doctor."

"Then," Carol said, with that superlative intelligence that nade N cholas both fear and
adore her, "M . Souza nmust get up and cone, too. If the edict is to be fully obeyed."

It got through; Nunes, for all his bureaucratic rigidity, his alnbst neurotic
determ nation to fulfill to the letter each order coaxed down to them-via him-nodded. "Okay, you
stay here." To Nicholas he said, "Let's go." He started off, burdened by their mass consciences;
his main task was to supervise their loyalty: Nunes was the tank's pol-com its politica
commi ssi oner.

Five mnutes later Nicholas St. James sat stiffly, formally, in his President's chair,
slightly elevated, in row one of Weeling Hall; behind himthey had all assenbled, shifted and
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rustled, murrmured and stirred, everyone, including hinself, gazing at the floor-to-ceiling
vidscreen. This was their window-their sole wi ndow -on the above world, and they took rather
seriously what was received on its giant surface.

He wondered if Rita had heard the announcenment or if she still blissfully loitered in the
shower, calling a few remarks to hi mnow and then
"Any inprovenment? Nunes whispered to Nicholas. "In old Souza?"

"In pancreatitis--are you kidding?" The Comm ssi oner was an idiot.

"“I've passed on fifteen nenos,"” Nunes said, "to themup top."

"And not one of the fifteen," Nicholas said, "was a formal request for an artiforg
pancreas that Carol could surgically graft in."

"I just begged for a suspension on the audit." Pleadingly, Nunes said, "N ck, politics is
the art of the possible; we mght get a suspension, but we won't get on artiforg pancreas; they're
just not available. Instead we've got to wite off Souza and escal ate one of the | esser nechanics
i ke Wnton or Bobbs or--"

Al'l at once the great comunal screen turned fromlusterless gray to beaming white. And
t he speaker system said, "Good evening."

In Wheeling Hall the audience of fifteen hundred rmunbl ed, "Good evening." It was a | egal
formality, in that no aud-receptor carried anything up; the lines carried data only one way: down.
From above to bel ow

"News bulletin," the announcer's voice continued. On the screen a stopped-tape: buildings
caught and suspended in hal f-disintegration. And then the tape traveled on. And the buil di ngs,
with a roar like the odious tap-tap-tapping of distant, alien drunms, pitched into dust and rained
down, dissolved; snpke took their place, and, |ike ants, countless |eadi es who had inhabited
Detroit spilled out and ran, as if froma tipped-over quart jar. They were squashed systematically
by invisible forces.

The aud-track grew, the druns drifted foward and the canera, no doubt from an eye-spy Wes-
Dem satellite, panned up on one great public building, library, church, school or bank; perhaps
all of these conbined. It showed, somewhat slowed down, the solidity of the structure as it
denol ecul ari zed. Cbj ects have been carried back to their dust-origin again. And it could have been
us up there, not | eadies, because he hinself had lived a year in Detroit as a child.

Thank god for all of them Conmmies and U S. citizens alike, that the war had broken out on
a colony world, in a hassle as to which bl oc, Ws-Dem or Pac-Peop, held the bigger-dog' s share.
Because in that first year of war on Mars the popul ations of Earth had been hurried underground.

And, he thought, we're still here and it isn't good but it beats _that_; he watched the screen
fixedly, saw a flock of |eadies nmelt--hence the nane--and, to his horror, still try to run while
mel ting. He | ooked away.

"AwM ul ," Conmi ssi oner Nunes, beside him nuttered, gray-faced. Al at once in the enpty

seat to Nicholas' right Rita appeared, in bathrobe and slippers; with her cane Nicholas' kid
brother, Stu. Both, staring at the screen, said nothing to him as if he weren't there. In fact
each person in \Weeling Hall was isolated, now, by the catastrophe on the giant TV screen, and the
announcer, then, said it for them

"This--was--Detroit. My 19th. Year of God 2025. Amen."

It only took a few seconds, once the defensive shield around a city had been broken, to
get in and do this.

For fifteen years Detroit had existed intact. Well, Mrshal Harenzany, neeting in the
thoroughly protected Kremin with the Supreme Soviet, could pay a painter to paint, as synbol of a
direct hit, a tiny spire on the door of their chanber. Chalk up one nore U S. city for their side.

And, in Nicholas' mnd, through the horror of seeing this decapitation of one of the few
remai ni ng heads of Western Civilization--which he really did believe in and | ove--there cane the
ni ggling, selfish, personal thought once nore. It neans a higher quota_ . Mre nust be achieved
underground as | ess, every day, remai ned above.

Nunes rmurnured, "Yancy will explain, now How it happened to happen. So get ready." And
Nunes of course was right, because the Protector never gave up; he had that grand turtlelike
unwi | I i ngness, which Nicholas admred in the man, to admt that this blow was nortal. And yet--

They did get to us, Nicholas realized . . . . and even you, Tal bot Yancy, our spir-pol-ml
| eader, brave enough to live in your surface fortress in the Rockies: even you, good friend, can't
undo what's just been done.

"My fellow Americans," Yancy' s voice cane, and it was not even weary. Ni chol as blinked
startled by the vigor. Yancy seenmed al nost unaffected, to have remained true to the _stoa_, to his
West Point heritage; he viewed it all, accepted and understood, but no enotion unhinged his calm
reason.
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"You have seen," Yancy continued in his low, |ate mddle-age voice, that of a seasoned old
warrior, ranrod in body, clear in nmind; good for a few nore years . . . not like the husk, the
dying thing in the clinic bed over which Carol watched. "--a terrible thing. Nothing is left of
Detroit and as you know a good deal of war material has energed by her fair autofacs, all these
years, and now that is lost. But we have sacrificed no human life, the one comodity which we
cannot, will not, relinquish."

"Good point," Nunes nmuttered, jotting notes.

Besi de Nicholas, all at once, Carol Tigh appeared, in her white snock, |ow shoes; he rose,
instinctively, stood to face her

"He passed away," Carol said. "Souza. Just now | at once froze him | was right there at
the bed, so there was no tinme loss. Braintissue won't have suffered. He just--went." She tried to
snmle, and then tears filled her eyes. It shocked him he had never seen Carol cry, and sonething
in himwas horrified, as if it was wicked, this that he saw.

"We shall endure this," the aud-track of the coax transmi ssion fromthe Estes Park
fortress continued, and now, on the screen, Yancy's face appeared and the war, the rolling clouds
of matter in suspension or turned to hot gas, faded. And it was a stiff, firmman at a | arge oak
desk in sone hidden spot where Soviet, even the awful deadly new Sino-twenty red-dot missiles, had
never found him

Ni chol as got Carol seated, got her attention turned to the screen

"Wth each passing day," Yancy said, and he spoke with pride, a good and reasonabl e pride,
"we grow stronger. Not weaker. _You_are stronger." And by god he | ooked, then, directly at
Ni chol as and Carol and Dale Nunes and Stu and Rita and all the rest of themat the Tom M x, at
every one of them except Souza, who was dead; and when you are dead, N cholas realized, no one,
not even the Protector, can tell you that you are grow ng stronger. And when you died just now, we
al so died. Unless that pancreas, at whatever cost, from whatever ugly bl acknarket source which
robs a mlitary hospital, can be obtained.

Sooner or later, N cholas realized, despite the |law against it, | will have to go up to
the surface

When the I-amlarger-than-you i nage of Tal bot Yancy's |eather and iron face had left the
screen and the | ackluster gray had returned, Comm ssioner Dal e Nunes hopped to his feet and said
to the assenbly, "And now, folks. Questions.”

The audi ence remained inert. As inert as it could manage--and get away with it.

Required to by his elected status, N cholas rose and stood by Dale. "It nust be a coll oquy
bet ween us and the Estes Park Government," he said.

From the back of Weeling Hall a sharp voice--it could have been nale or fenal e--said,
"President St. James, did Maury Souza die? | see Dr. Tigh here.”

Ni chol as said, "Yes. But he's in quick-freeze so there's still hope. Now, people, you've
listened to the Protector. Before that you saw the infiltration and denolition of Detroit. You
know we're al ready behind in our quota; we nust supply twenty-five leadies this nonth, and next--"

"What next nmonth?" a voice fromthe nmultitude, bitter and dispirited, said. "W won't be
here next nonth."

"Ch yes," N cholas answered. "W can survive an audit. Let ne renmind you. The initial
penalty is only a cut in food supply of five percent. Only after that can draft notices be served
on any of us, and even then it would halt at a decinmation--one man from each group of ten. Only if
we fail three nonths running do we face possible--1 say possible --closure. But we always have
| egal renmedy; we can send our attorney before the High Court at Estes Park, and | assure you we
will, before we surrender to a closure.”

A voi ce called, "Have you again asked for a replacenment chief mechanic?"

"Yes," Nicholas said. But there are no nore Maury Souzas in the world, he thought. Except
in other tanks. And out of--what is the nunber |ast given?--out of one hundred and sixty thousand
ant tanks in the Western Hem sphere none is going to negotiate a release of a really adequate
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chi ef nechanic, even if we could sonmehow nake contact with a few of those other tanks. Any nore
than five years ago when that tank to the north, the Judy Garl and, bored that horizontal shaft
through to us and pleaded--literally pleaded--just for a | oan of Souza. For one nonth. And we said
no.

"Al'l right," Comn ssioner Nunes said briskly, since no voluntary questions had arisen
"I'"ll make a spotcheck to see if the Protector's nmessage got across." He pointed to a young
married couple. "Wat was the cause of the failure of our defensive screen around Detroit? Rise
and gi ve your names, please."

The young couple reluctantly rose; the husband said, "Jack and Myra Frankis. Qur failure
was due to the introduction of the new Pac-Peop Type Three Gal atea spatter-m ssile that
infiltrated in subnol ecular particles. | guess. Sonething like that." He hopefully reseated
hinsel f, drawing his wife down beside him

"Al'l right," Nunes said; that was acceptable. "And why has Pac- Peop technol ogy forged
ahead of ours tenmporarily?" He glanced around, spied a victimto be interrogated. "Is it a failure
of our | eadership?"

The mi ddl e-aged, spinsterish lady rose. "M ss Gertrude Prout. No, it is not due to a
failure of our |eadership." She instantly sat down again.

"What then," Nunes said, still addressing her, "is it due to? Wuld you pl ease ri se,
madam in giving your response? Thank you." Mss Prout had again risen, "Did _we_ fail?" Nunes
prompted her. "Not this tank but we tankers, producers of war material, in general."

"Yes," Mss Prout said in her frail, obedient voice. "W failed to provide--" She

faltered; she could not recall what they had failed to provide. There was a strained, unhappy
si | ence.

Ni chol as took charge. "People, we produce the basic instrunent by which the war is
conducted; it's because | eadies can live on a radioactive surface among a multiform cul ture of
bacteria and chlinesterasedestroyi ng nerve gas--"

"Chol i nesterase,” Nunes corrected.

"--that we're alive. W owe our lives to these constructs built down in our shops. That's
al | Commi ssioner Nunes neans. It's vital to understand why we nust--"

“I'l'l handle this," Nunes said quietly.

Ni chol as said, "No, Dale. | wll."

"You al ready nade one unpatriotic statement. The chol i nesterase-destroyi ng nerve gas was a
U S invention. Now, | can _order_ you to take your seat."

"However," Nicholas said, "I won't. These people are tired; this is not the tinme to badger
them Souza's death--"

"This is _exactly the tinme to badger them" Nunes said, "because, and | amtrained, N ck
fromthe Berlin Psychiatric Waffen-Institute, by Ms. Mrgen's own clinicians, to know." He raised
his voi ce, addressing the audience. "As you all realize, our chief mechanic was--"

A hostile, jeering voice sounded fromthe rows. "Tell you what: we'll give you a bag of
turni ps, Comm ssioner. Pol-Com Nunes, _sir_. And let's see the bottle of blood you can squeeze
out. Okay?" People, here and there, nurnmured in agreenment, in approval.

"I told you," N cholas said to the comr ssioner, who had flushed and was strangling his
notes with his spasnodically clenching fingers. "Now will you let them go back to bed?"

Al oud, Nunes said, "There is a disagreenent between your elected president and |I. As a
conmpromise, | will ask only one nore question." He paused, surveyed themall; in weary fear they
wai ted. The sole hostile, articulated vocal entity was silent, now, Nunes had t hem because Nunes,
alone in the tank, was not a citizen but an official of Wes-Demitself and could, if he ordered,
have |iving, human police slide down the chute fromabove or, if Brose's agents weren't
imedi ately in the vicinity, then a commando team of General Holt's veteran arned | eadies.

"The Conmi ssioner," Nicholas announced, "will ask one question. And then, thank god, let's
go to bed." He seated hinself.

Nunes, reflecting, said in a slow, cold voice, "How can we make up to M. Yancy for our
failure?"

To hinsel f Nicholas npaned. But no one, not even N cholas, had the | egal power or any kind
of power to halt the man whomthe hostile, earlier voice fromthe audi ence had correctly called
their pol-com And yet under the Law this was not altogether bad. Because through Conmi ssioner
Nunes a direct human |ink existed between their tank and the Estes Park Governnent; theoretically
by way of Nunes they coul d answer back and the coll oquy, even now, within the heart of the
wor | dwi de war, coul d exist between the tanks and the governnent.

But it was hard on the tankers to be subjected to Dal e Nunes' rah-rah tactics whenever
Dal e--or rather his superiors above ground--saw fit, such as now, at bedtine. But | ook at the

file:/l/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (9 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:50 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

alternative.
It had been suggested to him (and he had pronptly, at great and deliberate effort,
forgotten forever the nanes of those who had come to him that their pol-combe quietly dispatched

sonme night. No, Nicholas had said. It won't work. Because they'll send another. And--Dale Nunes is
a man. Not a force. And would you prefer to deal with Estes Park as a _force_, on your TV screen
whi ch you could see and hear . . . but not talk back to?

So as sore as Conmissioner Nunes nade him Nicholas accepted the necessity of his presence
in the TomM x. The radicals who had come slipping up, late one night, with their idea of instant,
easy solution to the pol-com problem had been thoroughly, firmy dissuaded. O at |east so
Ni chol as hoped.

Anyhow Nunes was still alive. So apparently his argunent to the radicals had been
convincing . . . and this was three years ago, when Nunes had first put in his eager-beaver
appear ance.

He wondered if Dal e Nunes had ever guessed. |magi ned how cl ose he had come to
assassi nation, and that it had been N cholas who had tal ked them out of it.

How interesting it would be to know what Nunes' reaction would be. Gratitude?

O --contenpt.

At this nmonment, Carol was nmotioning to him beckoning in sight of the assenbled comunity
here at Weeling Hall. Wile Dale Nunes | ooked up and down the rows for someone to answer his
question, Carol--incredibly--was indicating to N cholas that she and he | eave together, now

Beside himhis wife Rita saw the gesture, the sumons; woodenfaced, she stared straight
ahead, then, as if she had seen nothing. And, as he found his target, Dale Nunes saw, too, and
frowned.

However, N chol as obediently acconpani ed Carol up the aisle and out of Wweeling Hall, into
the deserted corridor and secl usion

"What in god's nane," he said to her as he and she stood together, "do you want?" The way
Nunes had | ooked at them as they departed . . . he would be hearing in due tine fromthe
commi Ssi oner.

"I want you to certify the death papers," Carol said, wal king toward the el evator. "For
poor old Maury--"

"But why now?" There was nore; he knew it.

She said nothing; both of themwere silent on the trip down to the clinic, to the freeze
| ocker in which the rigid body |ay--he glanced under the wapper briefly, then emerged fromthe
| ocker to sign the fornms which Carol had laid out, five copies in all, neatly typed and ready to
be sent up by vidline to the bureaucrats on the surface.

Then, fromthe buttoned front of her white snock, Carol brought forth a tiny electronic
i nstrument which he recogni zed as a you-don'tknow1|-have-it aud-recorder. She extracted the spoo
of tape, unlocked the steel drawer of a cabinet of what appeared to be nedical supplies-- and
exposed to his sight, briefly, other spools of tape and other electronic instrunents, none of them
related as far as he could see to her nedical work.

"What's going on?" he said, this tine nore controlledly. Cbviously she wanted himto
witness this, the aud-recorder, the reservoir of tape which she kept | ocked away from anyone

el se's sight. He knew her as well, as intimately, as did anyone in the Tom M Xx, and yet this was
news to him
Carol said, "I made an aud tape of Yancy's speech. The part | was there for, anyhow "

"Those other spools of aud tape in that cabinet?"

"Al'l of Yancy. Forner speeches. Dating back over the past year."

"I's that legal to do?"

Carol said, as she gathered the five copies of Maury Souza's death-forms together and
inserted theminto the slot of the Xeroxtransmitter which would put themon the wire to the Estes
Park archives, "As a matter of fact it _is_legal. | looked it up."

Rel i eved, he said, "Sonmetinmes | think you' re nuts." Her mind was always off in sone odd
direction, flashing and echoing in its fullness, and baffling himeternally; he could never keep
up with her, and so his awe of her continually grew. "Explain," he said.

"Have you noticed," Carol said, "that Yancy, in his speeches in |ate February, when he
used the phrase _coup de grace_, he pronounced it _gras_. And in March he pronounced it--" From
the steel -doored cabinet she brought forth a chart with entries, which she now consulted. "March
twel fth. Pronounced _coo de grah_. Then, in April, on the fifteenth, it was _gras_ again." She
gl anced up alertly, eyed N chol as.

He shrugged wearily, irritably. "Let ne get to bed; let's talk about this sone other--"

"Then," Carol said, inflexibly, "on May third in a speech, he once nore used the term

file:///F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (10 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

That nenorabl e speech in which he informed us that our destruct of Leningrad conpletely--" She
gl anced up fromher chart. "It could well be the _coo de grah_. No _s_. Back to his earlier
pronunci ation."” She restored the chart to the cabinet, then, and rel ocked the cabinet. He noted
that it took not only a netal insert key but the pressure of her fingerprints; even with a
duplicate key--or her key-- the cabinet would remain closed. It would open only for her

n So?ll
Carol said, "I don't know But it neans sonething. Wo fights the surface war?"
"Leadies."

"And where are the hunans?”

"What is this, Conm ssioner Nunes all over again, interrogating people at bedtine when
t hey ought to be--"

"They're in ant tanks," Carol said. "Below surface. Like us. Now, when you apply for an
artiforg you are told they're available only to mlitary hospitals, presunmably on the surface."

"I don't know," he said, "or care, where the military hospitals are. Al | know is that
they have the priority and we don't."
Carol said, "If leadies are fighting the war, what are in the mlitary hospital s? Leadi es?

No. Because they send damaged | eadi es down to shops, our shop for instance. And a leady is a netal
construct and it has no pancreas. There are a few_ hunans on the surface, of course; the Estes
Park Government. And in Pac-Peop, the Soviet. Are the pancreases for then"

He was silent; she had himconpletely.

"Somet hing," she said, "is wong. There can't be nmilitary hospitals because there aren't
civilians or soldiers who' ve been mained in the fighting and who need artiforgs. Yet--they won't
rel ease the artiforgs to us. To ne, for instance, for Souza; even though they know we can't
survive w thout Souza. Think about it, Nck."

"Hm " he said.

Carol said quietly. "You' re going to have to come up with sonething better than 'Hmm'

Ni ck. And soon."

The next norning as soon as she awoke, Rita said, "I saw you go off with that woman, | ast
ni ght, that Carol Tigh. Wy?"

Ni chol as, grubby and confused, not yet shaved, wi thout having had the chance to spl ash
cold water on his face or brush his teeth, murnured, "It had to do with signing the death
certificate forns of Souza. Strictly business."”

He padded off to the bathroom which he and Rita shared with the cubby to their right--and
found the door | ocked.

"Ckay, Stu," he said. "Finish shaving and unl ock the door."

The door opened; there was his younger brother, sure enough, at the mirror, shaving away
for all he was worth, guiltily. "Don't mind ne," Stu said. "Go ahead and--"

His brother's wife, Edie, said shrilly fromtheir cubby, "W got into the bathroomfirst
this norning, Nick; your wife had it for a whole hour l[ast night, showering. So would you pl ease
wait."

G ving up he shut the bathroom door, padded to their kitchen-- which they did _not_ share
with anyone, either to right or left--and started the coffee heating on the stove. Last night's to
be reheated; he did not have the energy to brew a fresh pot, and anyhow their allocation of
synt hetic beans was |ow. They would be entirely out before nonth's end anyhow, woul d be beggi ng,
borrowing or bartering with fellow tankers, offering their supply of sugar--neither he nor Rita
used nuch sugar--in exchange for the odd little brown ersatz beans.

And of coffee beans, he thought, | could use an endless anmount. If there was such a thing.
But, |like everything else, the (as marked on invoices) syn-cof-bnz were severely rationed. And
after all these years he accepted it--intellectually. But his body craved nore.

He could still renenmber how real coffee, in the pretank days, had tasted. N neteen, he
renenmbered; | was in ny first year of college, just started drinking coffee instead of malted
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mlks, kid stuff. | had just begun to put on maturity . . . and then this.

But, as Tal bot Yancy, beaning or frowning, whatever was appropriate, would say, 'At |east
we weren't incinerated, as we had antici pated. Because we did have that whole year to get under,
and we nust never forget.' So N cholas was not forgetting; as he stood reheating last night's
synthetic coffee he thought of hinself incinerated fifteen years ago, or the cholinesterase of his
body destroyed by the hideous U S. nerve gas weapon, the worst so far conjured up by insane idiots
in high places in what had been Washington, D.C., thenselves blessed with the antidote, atropine,
and hence safe . . . safe fromthe nerve gas made at the Newport Chenical Plant in Wstern |ndiana
as contracted for by the still-notorious FMC Corporation, but not safe fromthe mssiles of the
USSR, And he appreciated this and was gl ad, appreciated the fact that he was here and alive to
drink this syn-cof brew, bitter as it was.

The bat hroom door opened and Stu said, "I'mfinished."

Ni chol as started for the bathroom And then--there was a knock at the cubby's hall door

Going to it, bowing to the necessity created by his elected office, N cholas opened the
hal | door and found hinself facing what he recogni zed at once to be a commttee. Jorgenson
Hal | er, Flanders-- again at his door, the activists of the tank and behi nd t hem Peterson and
Grandi and Martino and Gller and Christenson; their supporters. He sighed. And let themin.

Soundl essl y- -t hey knew enough to be that--the committee entered his cubby, filled it up
As soon as the hall door was shut, Jorgenson said, "Here's how we're going to work it, President.
We stayed up to four this norning thrashing it out."” H's voice was |ow, hard, determ ned.

"Thrashed out what?" N chol as said, but he knew.

"We'll handl e that pol-com that Nunes. W'll stage a fracas on floor twenty; access to
twenty is hard because of the way those crates of |eady conponents are piled. It'Il take himhalf
an hour to break up the fight. And that'll give you tine. The time you need."

"Cof fee?" Nicholas said, returning to the kitchen

"Today, " Jorgenson said.

Not answering, N cholas drank his coffee. And wi shed he were in the bathroom Locked in
where his wife, his brother, his brother's wife and this comm ttee--none of themcould get to him
Even Carol, he thought. He wi shed he could--at least for a mnute--lock themall out. And just
sit, in the loneliness and silence of the bathroom just be.

And then if he could just be, maybe he could think. Find hinmself. Not N cholas St. James,
the president of ant tank the Tom M x, but hinself the man; and then he would know, really know,

i f Conmi ssioner Nunes were right and the law was the law. O if Carol Tigh were right, and there
was sonet hing strange or w ong--whatever she had happened onto with her reservoir of aud-tapes of
Yancy's speeches over the |ast year. _Coup de grace_, he thought. That's this, right here, for
me, the dispatching conk over the head_.

He turned to confront the committee of activists, his coffee cup in hand. "Today," he
sai d, nmocki ng Jorgenson, whom he didn't particularly care for; Jorgenson was a red-necked, heavy-
set type, the beer and pretzel sort.

"W know it has to be done in a hurry,” Hailer spoke up, his voice |ow, he was consci ous
of Rita, who stood at the mirror fixing her hair, and it nmade hi mnervous--in fact the whole
committee was nervous. Afraid, of course, of the cop, the pol-com And yet they had cone here
anyhow.

"Let me tell you the situation as regards artiforgs,
br oke in.

"W know all there is to know. All we _want_ to know. Listen, President; _we know the pl ot
they've hatched up_." The six or seven nenbers of the conmttee glared at himw th nervous anger
and frustration; the small cubby--or rather, standard-sized--in which N cholas |lived and now stood
withed with their disconfort.

"Who?" he asked.

Jorgenson said, "The bigshot at Estes Park. Wio run everything. Tell their m ckey nouse
size little thugs like Nunes who to put the finger on."

"What's the plot?"

"The plot," Flanders said, alnpst stamering in his ticlike tenseness, "is they're short
on food and they want a pretext to abolish an ant tank here and there; we don't know how nany they
want to shut down, and force the tankers up to the surface to die--nmany tanks, maybe, or just a
few. . . it depends on how nuch trouble they're having with rations."

"So see,"” Haller said beseechingly to Nicholas, his voice rising (the man next to him
punched himand he instantly dropped his voice to a whisper), "they need a pretext. They get it as
soon as we fail to supply our nonthly quota of |eadies. And | ast night after the TV fil ns of
Detroit getting it, when Yancy announced that quotas woul d be upped--that's how we figured it out;

Ni chol as began, but at once Fl anders
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they're going to up the quotas and all the tanks that can't neet the new quotas will be abolished.
Li ke us. And up there--" He gestured ceilingward. "We'Ill die."

Rita, at the mirror, said harshly, "Like you want Ni cholas to die when he goes up after
that artiforg."

Spi nning, Haller said, "Ms. St. Janes, he's our president; we elected him-that's _why_
we elected him so he' d--you know. Help us."

"Nick is not your father," Rita said. "Not a magician. Not a wheel in the Estes Park
Government. He can't manufacture an artificial pancreas. He can't--"

"Here's the noney," Jorgenson said. And handed Nicholas a fat white envel ope. "All Ws-Dem
fifty notes. Forty in all. Twenty thousand Wes-Dem dollars. Late |ast night while Nunes was
snoozi ng we went all over the tank, collecting." This sumrepresented the wages of half the tank
for--he could not compute, under the stress of the nonent. But for a long, long time. The
conmi ttee had worked very hard.

Rita said to the conmittee, her voice harsh, "Then you do it; you collected the noney.
Draw lots. Don't stick my husband with this." Her voice becane gentle. "Nunes is less apt to
noti ce one of you mssing than Nick. It mght even be several days before he checks up, but once
Ni ck goes Nunes will know, and--"

"And what, Ms. St. Janmes?" Hailer said, deternminedly but politely. "There's nothing Nunes
can do, once President St. Janes is out of here up the chute and onto the surface."

Rita said, "Wen he returns, Jack. Then Nunes will execute him" To hinself N chol as
thought, And the hell of it is, | probably won't even get back

Jorgenson, with clear, sincere reluctance, reached into the jacket of his work overalls,
brought out a small object, flat |ike a cigarette case.

"M. President," he said huskily, in a fornmal, dignified tone, that of an official bearer
of tidings, "Do you know what this is?"

_Sure_, Nicholas thought. _It's a shop-made bomb. And, if | don't go, and go today, you'l
wire it somewhere here in ny cubby or ny office, set it timew se or booby-trap it wrew se and
it'"ll go off and blow nme to bits and al so probably ny w fe and perhaps even ny kid brother and his
wi fe or whoever is in ny office with me at the tine, if it's in ny office. And you nen--enough of
you, anyhow -are el ectricians; professional wirers and conponent-assenblers, as we all are to a
certain extent. . . you'll know howto do it so it'll have a one hundred percent chance of
success. Therefore, he realized, if | don't go to the surface your commttee absolutely and for
sure will destroy ne--plus perhaps innocent others around nme--and if | do go, Nunes will be tipped

of f by sone stooge anpong the fifteen hundred citizens of the tank and he'll shoot me when |'m
approxi nately half-way up the chute on ny illegal-and this is wartine and nmilitary |aw obtains--
journey to the surface._.

Fl anders said, "President, listen; |I know you think you're going to have to try to nake it
up the chute, with those | eadies always or nearly always hangi ng around up there with a danaged
leady to drop down . . . but _listen_."

"A tunnel,"” Nichol as said.

"Yes. W bored it this norning early, as soon as the autofac power-supply cane on to drown
out the noise of the scoop and the other junk we had to use. It's absolutely vertical. A
mast er pi ece. "

Jorgenson said, "It takes off fromthe roof of room BAA on floor one; a storeroom for
reduction gears for type Il leadies. A chain goes up it and is staked--securely, | guarantee; |
swear--at the surface, hidden anbng somne--"

"Lies," Nicholas said.

Bl i nki ng, Jorgenson said, "No, honest--"

"You couldn't bore a vertical tube to the surface in two hours,” Nicholas said. "Wat's
the truth?"

After a long, disheartened pause, Flanders nmunbled, "W got the tunnel started. W got up
about forty feet. The portable scoop is secured there. W figured we'd get you in the tunnel, with
oxygen equi pnent, and then seal it off at the bottom to deaden the vibrations and noise."

"And," Nicholas said, "I'd | odge nmyself there in the tunnel and scoop away until |
emerged. How |l ong had you calculated it'd take me, working alone and with only that small portable
scoop, none of the big gear?"

After an interval soneone anong the comittee murrmured. "Two days. We've got food and
wat er already, in fact one of those selfcontai ned spaceman suits they used to use when there were
flights to Mars. Conpensation for noisture, waste-material----everything. It still beats trying to
make it up the chute, with those |eadies up there."

"And Nunes," Nicholas said, "at the bottom"
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"Nunes will be breaking up the fight on floor--"

"Ckay," Nicholas said. "I'lIl doit."

They gaped at him

Rita, half to herself, let out a sob, a cry of despair.

To her, N cholas said, "It beats being blown to bits. They nean it." He indicated the
smal | flat packet which Jorgenson held. _Ipse dixit_, he said to himself; | know _that_ nuch
foreign | anguage. An assertion nade but not proved. And in this case | don't want to see it
proved; even our pol-com Conm ssioner Nunes, would be appalled by what that device can do when
triggered off.

He went into the bathroom then, and shut--and | ocked--the door after him For this
monent, brief as it was, of quiet. OF being a nere biochem cal organism not President St. Janes
of the TomMx Wrld War |1l antiseptic subsurface comunal |iving tank, established in June of
2010. A.D. _Long_ A D., he thought; a hell of a long time After Christ.

VWhat | ought to do, he decided, is come back, not with the artiforg, but with the Bag
Pl ague for you all. Every single |last one of you

His bitterness surprised him But of course it was superficial. Because, and he realized
it as he began running hot water by which to shave, the actuality is that I'ma frightened man. |
don't want to | odge nyself for forty-eight hours in that vertical tunnel, waiting to hear Nunes
cut through below ne or a team of Brose's |eady police pick up the sound of ny scoop from above,
and then, if not that, emerge into the radioactivity, the rubble, the war. Into the pox of death
fromwhich we've fled, hidden ourselves: _|I don't want to energe on the surface, even for a
necessary cause_.

He despised hinself for his attitude; it was hard, as he began to lather his jows, to
| ook at hinself in the mrror. In fact it was inpossible. So he opened the bathroom door on Stu
and Edie's side and called, "Hey, can | borrow your electhc razor?"

"Sure," his kid brother said, and produced it.

"What's the matter, Nick?" Edie said, with unusual--for her-- conpassion. "Good |lord, you
| ook just awful."

"I amawful," N cholas said, and seated hinself on their runpled, unnade bed to shave. "It
takes force," he said. "to nake nme do the right thing." He didn't feel like talking about it; he
shaved in introverted silence.

Over green countryside, the fields, the neadows, the open world of North American forests
with occasional clusters of buildings, demesnes at odd, unexpected |ocations, Joseph Adans flew by
flapple fromhis own denesne on the Pacific where he was doninus to the Agency in New York City,
where he was one Yance-nan anong many. Hi s work day, the |onged-for and at |ast achi eved Monday,
had cone.

Besi de himon the seat lay a |leather briefcase, initialed JWA in gold, which contained his
handwritten speech. Behind him crowlded together in the rear seat, four |eadies fromhis persona
ent our age.

Meanwhi | e, by vi dphone, he discussed biz with his associate fromthe Agency, Verne
Li ndbl om Verne, not an idea man, not a user of words but an artist in the visual sense, was in a
better position than Joseph Adanms to know exactly what their superior Ernest Eisenbludt in Mdscow
had in m nd scenewi se, was up to at the studio.

"It's San Francisco next," Lindbiomsaid. "I"mbuilding it now "

"What scal e?" Adans asked.

"No scale,"

" _Life-size?_" Adanms was incredul ous. "Brose has okayed it? This isn't another of
Ei senbl udt's hare-brained storns of creative--"

"Just a segment. Nob Hi Il and overl ooking the bay. Should take about a nobnth to construct;
there's no rush. Hell, they just ran that Detroit sequence last night."” Lindblom sounded rel axed.
And, as a nmaster craftsman, he could afford to be. Idea nen were one-fourth poscred a dozen, but
the actual fabricators--they were a closed guild which even Brose, with all his agents, couldn't
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crack. They were like the red-stained-glass nmakers of France in the Thirteenth century; if they
peri shed their skills perished with them

"Want to hear mnmy new speech?"

"God no," Lindblomsaid genially.

"I't's hand-done." Adans spoke with humility. "I kicked out that gadget; it was getting ne
into arut.”

"Listen," Lindblomsaid, all of a sudden serious. "I heard a runor. You're going to be
pul l ed off speeches and put onto a special project. Don't ask nme what; ny source didn't know " He
added, "A Footenan told ne."

"Hm" He tried to | ook calm to show poise. But inside he felt queasy. Undoubtedly--since
it took priority over his regular job--this emanated from Brose's bureau. And there was sonething
about Brose and his special projects that he did not |ike. Although just what

"It's sonething you might enjoy," Lindblomsaid. "Has to do with archeol ogy."

Adans grinned. "l get it. Soviet missiles are going to destruct Carthage."

"And you're going to program Hector and Priamand all those fellas. Get out your
Sophocl es. Your pony or cribsheet or whatever."

"My friends,'" Adans intoned in solem parody, "'l have grave news for you, but we shal
overcone. The new Soviet |ICBM Hatcheck Grl A-3 nmissile, with a G warhead, has strewn radioactive
comon table salt over an area surrounding Carthage fifty square niles wide, but this only goes to
show-' " He paused. "Wat did Carthage produce, autofac-w se? Vases?" Anyhow that was Lindbloms
job. The display of postcards, scanned by the nultifax | ens-systemof the TV caneras at
Ei senbludt' s nmanmoth, intricate--in fact endlessly prop-filled--studios in Moscow. " 'This, ny
good people and friends, is all that remains, but | aminformed by General Holt that our own
strike, utilizing our newy devel oped of fensive terror weapon, the Pol yphenmus X-B peashooter, has
deci mated the entire war fleet of Athens, and with god's help we shall--""

"“You know, " Lindblomsaid neditatively, fromthe tiny speaker of the flapple's vidset.
"You'd feel damm funny if one of Brose's people were nmonitoring this."

Below, a wide river like wet silver wiggled fromnorth to south, and Joseph Adans | eaned
out to view the M ssissippi and acknow edge its beauty. No reconcrews had acconplished this; what
glistened in the norning sun was an elenment of the old creation. The original world which did not
need to be recreated, reconned, because it had never departed. This sight, like that of the
Pacific, always sobered him because it nmeant that sonething had proved stronger; sonething had
escaped.

"Let himnonitor," Adans said, filled with vigor; he drew strength fromthe wavering
silver line below-strength enough to ring off, cut the switch of the vidset. Just in case Brose
was nonitoring.

And then, beyond the M ssissippi, he saw a manmade focus of upright, hard structures, and
t hese, too, gave hima funny feeling. Because these were the Ozymandi as- who-he? great conapt
dwel I i ngs erected by that busy builder, Louis Runcible. That one-man ant arny that, inits
mar ches, did not gnaw down with its mandi bl es but set up, with its nmany nmetal arms, one gigantic
dorm i ke structure, including kids' play-grounds, swi ming pools, ping-pong tables and dart
boar ds.

Ye shall know the truth, Adans thought, and by this thou shalt enslave. O, as Yancy woul d
put it, "My fellow Anericans. | have before me a docunment so sacred and nomentous that | am going
to ask you to--" And so on. Now he felt tired, and he had not even reached 580 Fifth Avenue, New
York and the Agency, had not begun his day. Alone, at his denesne on the Pacific, he felt the
weedy, twi sted fog of |loneliness grow by day and by night and clog the passages of his throat;
here, in transit across the reconned and not-yet-oh-lord but soon-to-be-reconned areas--and of
course the still hot-spots, which lay like ringwormcircles every so often--he felt this uneasy
shame. He glowed with guilt, not because recon was bad, but--it was bad, and he knew who and what

it_ was.

I wish there was one missile left, he said to hinself. In orbit. And we could touch one of
those quaint old-time buttons the brass once had at their disposal, and that missile would go
_pfoooooom _ At Geneva. And Stanton Brose.

By god, Adans thought, maybe | will programthe 'vac one day not with a speech, even a
good speech like the one here beside ne that | got off last night finally, but the very sinple,

cal m statenent of what gives. |I'Il get through the 'vac to the simitself, then onto aud and vid
tape, because since that's autonomc there's no editing, unless of course Eisenbludt happens to
stroll in . . . and even he, technically, can't touch the speech part of the reading nmatter

And then the sky will fail in.
But that ought to be interesting to watch, Adans nused. |If you could get far enough off to
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wat ch.

"Listen," he would programto Megavac 6-V. And all those funny little dingbats that the
‘vac had in it would spin, and out of the sims nmouth would conme the utterance but transforned,
the sinple word woul d be given that fine, corroborative detail to supply verisimlitude to what
was--let us face it, he thought caustically---an otherwise _incredibly_ bald and unconvincing
narrative. What entered Megavac 6-V as a nere _|ogos_ would enmerge for the TV Il enses and mikes to
capture in the guise of a pronouncenent, one which nobody in his right mind--especially if

encapsul ated subsurface for fifteen years-- would doubt. But--it would be a paradox, because Yancy

hi msel f woul d be pontificating it; like the old saw, "Everything | say is a lie," this would
confound itself, tie its skinny, slippery self into a good hard sailor's knot.

And what woul d be achi eved? Since, after all, Geneva would pounce onit . . . and we are
not amused, Joseph Adams articulated within his own nind, the voice which he, Iike every other

Yance-man, had | ong ago introjected. The super ego, as the prewar intellectuals had called it, or
before that the ayenbite of inwyt, or sonme such rustic Medieval old phrase

Consci ence.

Stanton Brose, holed up in his castlelike Festung in Geneva |like sone pointed-hat

al chem st, like a corrupted, decayed but, as they say, shining and stinking, glow ng pale white
fish of the sea, a dead nmackerel with clouded-over glauconmalike eyes . . . or did Brose |ook |ike
this?

Only twice in his life had he, Joseph Adams, actually seen Brose in the flesh. Brose was
old. What was it, eighty-two? And not lean. Not a stick, ribboned with the streaners of snoked,
dried flesh; Brose at eighty-two weighed a ton, waddl ed and rolled, pitched, with his nouth
drizzling and his nose as well . . . and yet the heart still beat, because of course it was an
artiforg heart, and an artiforg spleen and an artiforg and so on.

But yet the authentic Brose renmined. Because the brain was not artiforg; there was no
such thing; to manufacture an artiforg brain--to have done so, when that firm Arti-Gan
Cor poration of Phoenix, existed, back before the war--wuld have been to go into what Adans |iked
to think of as the "genuine sinulated silver” business . . . his termfor what he considered with
its multiform spawned of fspring: the universe of authentic fakes.

And that universe, he reflected, which you would think you could enter the IN door of,
pass through and then exit by the OUT door of in say roughly two mnutes . . . that universe, like
Ei senbl udt's propheaps in the Miscow fil m studi os, was endl ess, was room beyond roony the OUT door
of one roomwas only the IN door for the next.

And now, if Verne Lindblomwere correct, if the man fromthe private intelligence
corporation, Webster Foote, Limted of London, were correct sone new | N door had swung open, given
nmoment um by the hand that reached in all its trenmbling senility fromGeneva . . . in Adans' mnd
t he met aphor, grow ng, becane visual and frightening; he actually experienced the doorway ahead,
felt the darkness breathed by it--roomlacking light, into which he would soon tread, faced by god
knew what task that was not a nightnmare, not, |ike the black, listless fogs fromwthin and
wi t hout, fornless, but--

Too distinct. Spelled out, in graphically unanbi guous words, in a neno originating from
that damm nonster pit, Geneva. Ceneral Holt, even Marshal Harenzany who after all was a Red Arny
of ficer and not in any sense a Bunthorne sniffing at a sunflower, even Harenzany sonetines
_listened_. But the waddling, drizzling, eye-rolling old hulk chuck-full of artiforgs--Brose had
greedily ingested artiforg after artiforg of the world' s small and dw ndling supply--was earl ess.

Literally. Years ago the organs of that sense had w thered away. And Brose had declined
artiforg replacenents; he _|liked_ not to hear.

When Brose revi ewed each and every TV tape of Yancy's speeches, he did not listen
horribly, or so it seemed to Adans, the fat, sem dead organi smreceived the aud-portion by direct
wire: through electrodes grafted, skillfully inmplanted years ago, in the proper section of his
elderly brain . . . in the one original organ, which _was_ Brose, the rest now being, tin-
woodmanwi se, a nere procession of Arti-Gan Corporation's plastic, conplex, never-failing (they
had, before the war, proudly carried lifetine guarantees, and in the artiforg business the neaning

of the word "lifetine," that is, whether it applied to the life of the object or of the owner was
delightfully clear) replacenments which | esser nen, the Yance-nen as a whol e had a kind of nom nal
formal claimon--in that, while still warehoused in the subsurface storage vaults under Estes

Park, the artiforg supplies belonged to the Yancenen as a class and not nerely to Brose.

But it didn't quite work out that way. Because when a kidney failed, as had occurred to
Shel by Lane, whose denesne up in Oegon Adans had frequently visited--there was no artiforg kidney
for M. Lane, although in the warehouse three were known to exist. It seenmed, and for sone reason
as he lay in his bed in the naster bedroom of his demesne, surrounded by his entourage of worrying
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| eadi es, Lane had not seened convinced by the argunent, Brose had put on these three artiforg

ki dneys what legally was called an _attachnment_. He had attached the goddam organs, tied them up
stopped their use, by a conplex quasi-legal "prior" claim. . . Lane, pathetically, had taken it
to the Recon Dis-In Council which sat perpetually in session at Mexico City, passing judgnent on
the | and- boundary quarrels between denesne owners, a council on which one | eady of each type sat;
Lane had not exactly lost, but he had quite certainly not won, in that he was dead. He had died
while waiting for the issue of attachnment to be settled. And--Brose lived on, with the know edge
that he could suffer three nore total kidney-failures and survive. And anyone who chose to go
before the Recon Dis-In Council would undoubtedly be dead, |ike Lane, and the litigation would,
with the plaintiff, expire.

_The fat old |ouse , Adans thought, and he saw ahead New York City, the spires, the
postwar high-rise buildings, the ramps and tunnels, the hovering fruit fly flapples, which, like
his own, carried Yance-nmen to their offices to begin Monday.

And, a nmonent |ater, he hovered fruit-fly-like hinmself, over the especially tall cardina
bui l ding 580 Fifth Avenue and the Agency.

The entire city was the Agency, of course; the buildings on each side were as nuch a part
of the nachinery as this one onphal os. But here his particular office lay; here he entrenched
hi nsel f agai nst the conpeting nenbers of his own class. It was a top job that he held . . . and in
his briefcase, which he now picked up expectantly, lay as he well knew top-drawer naterial

Maybe Li ndbl omwas right. Maybe the Russians were about to bonmb Carthage.

He reached the down ranp of the roof field, touched the hi-speed button, and dropped |ike
a plunb line for his floor and office.

When he entered his office, briefcase in hand, he utterly without a shade or glinpse of
war ni ng faced a nmound of rubber, winking and blinking, flapping seal-like its pseudopodi a and
peeping at himwhile with its slitlike mouth it gaped and grinned, pleased at his dismay; pleased
to horrify both by how it physically | ooked and who it was.

"M. Adams. A word with you, sir."

The thing, which had sonmehow managed to wedge itself into the chair at his desk, was
St ant on Brose.

"Why certainly, M. Brose," Joseph Adans said, and under his tongue his salivary gl ands
strained with sickness; he turned his back, then, and set his briefcase down and was amazed at his
somati ¢ nausea, his response to finding Brose here in his own office. He was not frightened; not
i ntimdated, not even angered that Brose had managed to walk in despite the el aborate | ocks,

wal ked in and taken over--none of that counted, because the ill convul sion of his body startled
every other reaction out of existence.
"Wuld you |like a noment to conpose yourself, M. Adanms?" The voice, wheedling, thin, like

a guy wire plucked by an evil pneumatic spirit.

"Y-yes," Adans said

"Pardon? | can't hear, you know, | mnust see your lips."

My lips_, Adanms thought. He turned. "I need,"” he said, "a noment. | had flapple trouble.”
Then he renenbered that he had | eft the four |oyal conpanions, the veteran | eadies of his retinue,
in the parked flapple. "Wuld you--" he began, but Brose cut himoff, not inpolitely but sinply as
if he were not tal king.

"A new project of some inportance has arisen," Brose said in his plucked-wire, strumm ng
voice. "You're to do the reading matter on it. It consists of this . " Brose paused, then
found a vast ugly handkerchi ef which he dabbled at his mouth with, as if nmolding the flesh of his
face like soft, toothpastelike plastic into proper shape. "No witten docunents or line
transm ssions are to exist as to this project; no records_. Al, only, oral face-to-face
exchanges between the principals; nyself, you, Lindblomwho will build the artifacts."

Ha, Adanms thought, and exulted. Webster Foote, Limited, the London-based pl anetw de
private police investigation agency had al ready snooped, nosed the news into being; Brose, despite
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hi s obvi ously psychopat hic security precautions, had | ost even as he began. Nothing could have

pl eased Adanms nore; he felt the nausea drain away and he |it a cigar, paced about, noddi ng
soberly, showing his willingness to participate in this nost vital, secret enterprise. "Yes sir,"”
he sai d.

"You know Loui s Runcible."

"The conapt building nan," Adans said.

"Look toward me, Adans."

Looking toward him Joseph Adans said, "l passed over one of his conapt centers. Hi s
dungeons. "

"Well," Brose strummed, "they chose to come up. And they didn't have the ability to join
us; we couldn't use them so what else but those rowon-row little apts? At | east they' ve got
Chi nese checkers. And conponents are nore restful to build than assenbling conplete |eadies."

“I't is just," Adans said, "that there is a three thousand nile stretch of grass between ny
denmesne and here that | have to pass over every day. Twice. And | wonder sonetinmes. And | renenber
how it |looked in the old days before the war and before they were i nduced to go down into those
tanks. "

"Had t hey not, Adans, they would be dead."

"Ch," Adanms said slowy, "I know they'd be dead; they'd be ash and the |eadi es would be
using that ash to make nortar out of. It's just that sometinmes | think of Route 66."

"Whazzat, Adans?"

"A highway. That connected cities."

"A freeway!"

"No, sir, Just a highway; let it pass." And he felt a weariness so strong that he actually
thought for a split second that he'd suffered a cardiac arrest or some other fundamental physical
col l apse; he very carefully stopped inhaling his cigar and seated hinself in a guest-type chair
facing the desk, and blinked, breathed, wondered what had occurred.

"Ckay," Adams continued, "I know Runci ble; he's basking in Capetown and he really does try-
-1 know he does--to adequately provide for the tankers who surface; they ve got built-in electric
ranges, sw bbles, wubfur carpeting wall-to-wall, 3-D TV, each group of ten living units has a

| eady to do chores such as cleaning . what's up, M. Brose?" He waited, panting with fright.

Brose said, "Recently a hot-spot cooled off in southern Uah, near St. CGeorge, where it
was . . . the maps still give it. Near the Arizona border. Red rock hills in that area. Runcible's
geigers picked up the drop in r.a. before anybody else's, and he got it, staked his claim the
rest.” Brose gestured deprecatingly, but with resignation. "In a few days he intends to send in
his autonom ¢ 'dozers and start breaking ground for a new constellation of conapts . . . you know,
he has all that big primtive heavy-duty construction equiprment that he carts all over the world."

"You need that," Adans said, "to build the kind of structures he erects. Those conapts go
up fast."

"Well," Brose said, "we want that area."

_You liar_, Adans thought to hinself. He got up, turned his back to Brose and said al oud,
“You liar!"

"I can't hear."

Turni ng back, Adans said, "It's just rock, there. W wants to put a denmesne there? MWy
god, sone of us have denesnes that contain a mllion and a half acres!" He stared at Brose. It
can't be true, he said to hinmself. Runcible got in there first because no one cared enough about
that region to want to know the readi ngs; no one paid Whbster Foote to have Foote field reps and
techs keep tabs on that hot-spot and Runcible got it by default. So don't try to jolly me al ong,
he said to hinself, and felt hatred for Brose, now, the nausea was gone and an authentic enotion
had replaced it inside him

Evi dently Brose perceived sone of this on Adanms' face. "l guess that is pretty no-good
I and, there," Brose adnmitted. "War or no war."

"If you want ne to nanage the aud-portion of the project,” Adans said, and was al npst
unhi nged to hear hinself actually say this to Brose, to the nan's face, "you had better tell ne

the truth. Because | don't feel very good. | was up all night witing a speech--by hand. And the
fog bothered nme. Fog gets to me; | should never have set up ny denesne on the Pacific south of San
Franci sco. | should have tried down by San Diego."

Brose said, "I'Il tell you. Correct; we don't care--no Yance-man with all his marbles

could possibly care--about that arid land at the old Uah-Arizona border. Look at these." He
managed to flap his pseudopodialike flippers until they connected with a packet which he carried;
like a roll of wallpaper sanples the docunent was spread out.

Peering, he saw careful, really lovely drawings. It was |ike | ooking over an Oriental silk
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screen scroll fromthe--future? Now he saw that the objects depicted were--unnatural. Freak guns
with spurious knobs and warts. Electronic hardware that--he intuited from experience-- served no
purpose. "l don't get it," he said.

"These are artifacts," Brose said, "which M. Lindblomw Il make; superb craftsnan that he
is he will have no difficulty."

"But what do they do?" Al at once Adans understood. These were fake crypto-weapons. And
not just that; he saw, as the scroll-like docunent unrolled in Brose's flippers, additiona
artifacts.

Skul I s.

Sone were Honmpo sapi ens.

Sone were not.

"Al'l these," Brose said, "Lindblomw ||l nmanufacture. But you nust be consulted first.
Because before they are found--"

"' Found!""

"These conpl et ed objects, made up by Lindblom using Eisenbludt's studios in Mdscow, will
be planted on the land Runcible is about to break for his new conapts. However, it nust be
established in advance that they are of incal cul able archeol ogical worth. A series of articles in
the prewar scientific journal _Natural Wrld_ , which as you know was fornerly avail able to every
educated man in the world, must analyze these as--"

The office door opened. Looking wary, Verne Lindblomentered. "I was told to conme here,"
he said to Brose; he glanced, then, at Adans. But said nothing nore. However, they both
under st ood; the vid-conversation which had taken place a half hour ago was not to be referred to.

"These," Brose said to Lindblom "are the scale drawings of the artifacts which you will
make to be planted in Southern Utah. At the proper geological stratum" He swi veled the scroll for
Li ndblomto see; Verne glanced briefly, professionally. "There is a time factor, but |'msure you
can have them ready when needed. The first 'dozer needn't dig themup. Just so they appear before
the di gging ends and the construction begins."

Li ndbl om sai d, "You have soneone on Runcible's work crew who' Il spot them if necessary?
If they otherwi se go unnoticed?" He seened, to Adans, to understand fundanentally what was goi ng
on; soneone had already briefed him He hinself, however; he was baffled. But he played al ong; he
continued to study the painstakingly, professionally executed draw ngs.

"Of course," Brose said. "An engineer naned Robert--" He tried to recall; the eighty-two-
year-old brain flagged. "Hig," Brose said at last. "Bob Hg. He'll spot themif no one el se does,
so will you start, then, Lindblonf Ei senbludt knows you're to be given use of every tool and
studio facility you need. But he doesn't know what for, and we will keep it limted to as few
peopl e as we can, throughout."

"Hig finds them" Lindblomsaid, "notifies Runcible. Meanwhile--" He glanced at Adans.
"You'll have your series in the prewar _Natural Wrld_ by some worl d-fanmous archeol ogi st regarding
artifacts of this sort.”

"I see,"” Adanms said, and genuinely did see, now. The articles which he would wite would
be printed in the journal, backdated, the issues artificially aged so as to appear authentically
prewar; on the basis of them as universally accepted valid scientific opinion, _the Estes Park
Government would claimthe artifacts to be priceless finds_. They would then go before the Recon
Dis-In Council at Mexico City, the high court of the world that stood above both Ws-Dem and Pac-
Peop and each Yance-man anywhere in the world--and above the weal thy, powerful builder Louis
Runci bl e. And on the basis of these backdated spurious articles the council would rule the Estes
Park Governnent to be legally correct. For artifacts of such worth automatically nade the |and
gover nnent property.

But--Brose did not want the land. So sonething was still wong.

"You do not see," Brose said, reading his expression. "Tell him Lindblom"

Verne Lindbl om said, "The sequence is this. Hig, or someone el se on Runcible's work crew
supervising the |l eadies and the big autonom c rigs, discovers the artifacts and tells Runcible.
And regardl ess of their worth, U S. |aw notw thstandi ng--"

"Ch ny god," Adans said. Runcible would know that, if brought to the Estes Park
Government's attention, these artifacts would cost himhis land. "He'd conceal the find," Adans
sai d.

"OfF course." Brose nodded in delight. "W've had Ms. Mrgen, at the Institute of Applied
Psychiatric Research in Berlin, independently analyze the fully docunented psych-profile of the
man; and she agrees with our own psychiatrists. Wiy, hell; he's a businessnan-- he's after wealth
and power. What do priceless ancient artifacts made by a nonterran raiding party that |anded in
Sout hern Utah six hundred years ago nmean to hin? These skulls; the ones not Honp sapiens. Your
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articles will show a photo of this drawing. You will conjecture that these nonterrans | anded,

conj ecture by nmeager bones and artifacts di scovered what they were |like, that they were engaged in
a skirm sh by an Indian war party, and the nonterrans lost, did not colonize Earth--all this is
conjecture, and the evidence at the tinme of your articles, thirty years ago, was inconplete. But
further finds were hoped for. These are those."

"So now," Adans said, "we have fully representative weapons and bones. At |ast. The
conjectures of thirty years ago have been verified and this is a nonent of vast scientific
import." He wal ked to the wi ndow, pretended to | ook out. The conapt buil der Louis Runcible, when
notified of the finds, would guess wong--woul d suspect that they had been planted on his land so
that he would | ose that |and; and, guessing wong, would conceal the finds and continue with his
di ggi ng and construction work.

Wer eupon- -

Motivated by loyalty to science rather than to his "enployer" and that industria
magnate's greed, Robert H g would "reluctantly" |leak the discovery of the artifacts to the Estes
Par k Gover nnent.

Wi ch woul d make Runcible a felon. Because there was that |aw, obtaining again and again
as the | eadi es enpl oyed by each Yance-man at his private denesne dug and dug for prewar relics of
artistic and technol ogi cal worth. Watever he found--whatever his |eadies found-- belonged to him
if there was no overriding--i.e., major--archeol ogi cal worth.

And a nonterran race which had | anded on Earth six hundred years ago, fought a pitched
battle with local Indians and then retreated, once nore departed--it would be a _nolo contendere_
pl ea by Runci bl e before the Recon Dis-In Council in Mexico City; despite the finest |egal help on
Earth he woul dn't have the ghost of a chance.

But Runci bl e would not merely lose his |and.

It would be a prison sentence for forty to fifty years, depending on the skill of the
Estes Park Governnent's attorneys before the Council. And the Precious Relics Ordinance, as the
| aw was cal |l ed, had been tested by a nunber of Yance-nen various tinmes; discoveries of nmagnitude
whi ch had deli berately gone unreported and then been found out--the council would throw the book
at Runci ble and he woul d be wi ped out; the econom c enpire which he had built up, his conapts all
over the world, would revert to public donmain: this was the punitive clause of the Precious Relics
Ordi nance, the clause that gave it such fierce gnhashing teeth. The person convicted under the
ordi nance not only went to prison--he forfeited his holdings _in toto_.

It all nmade sense to Adans; he saw now what his articles for _Natural Wrld , for issues
of thirty years ago, were to consist of.

But, and this made himfreeze into stupidity; this blotted his mnd of its canni ness and
made hi m hang vapidly on the col |l oquy between Brose and Lindbl om both of whom obviously
under st ood the purpose of this--which he did not.

Wiy did the Estes Park Governnment want to destroy Runcible? O what was he guilty--at the
very | east, what nenace did he pose to then?

Loui s Runci bl e who builds housing for tankers who cone up to the surface expecting to find
the war in progress, only to discover that the war ended years ago and the world's surface is one
great park of villas and denmesnes for the elite few. . . why, Adans asked hinself, nmust this nman
be sl aughtered, when he is so patently performing a vital service? Not just for the tankers who
surface and who nust |ive sonewhere, but to us, the Yance-nen. Because--and we all knowit; we all
face it--the tankers living in Runcible's conapts are prisoners and the conapts constitute
reservations--or, as the nore nodern word has it, concentration canps. Preferable to the ant tanks
under ground, but still canps fromwhich they cannot, even briefly, leave--legally. And, when a
couple or a gang of them nmanage to sneak away illegally, it is General Holt's army here in Ws-Dem
or Marshal Harenzany's arny in Pac-Peop; anyhow it is an arny of very skilled, veteran |eadi es who
track them down and return themto their swinmng pools and 3-D TV and wal | -to-wall wubf ur
carpeted conapts.

Al oud he said, "Lindblom |I'mstanding with ny back to B rose. Therefore he can't hear ne.
You can. | want you to casually turn your back to him don't nove toward ne--just turn so your
face is toward me and not toward him And then for god's sake tell ne why."

After a nmonent he heard Lindblomstir. Then say, "Wy what, Joe?"

"Why are they after Runci bl e?"

Li ndbl om said, "Didn't you know?"

At the desk Brose said, "Nobody's facing nme; please turn so we can continue the napping of
this project.”

"Say," Adans grated, staring out the wi ndow of the office at the other buildings of the
Agency.
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"They think Runcible is systematically tipping off one ant tank after another," Lindbl om
said. "To the fact that the war is over. _Someone_ is. They know that. Webster Foote and his field
peopl e found that out during routine interviews of a group of tankers who surfaced a nonth or so
ago. "

Brose conpl ai ned with grow ng peevi sh suspicion, "Wat's going on? You two are
conversing. "

At that, Adans turned fromthe wi ndow to face Brose; Lindblom too, turned toward the
nmonst er concocti on wedged sonmehow into the chair at the desk. "Not conversing," Adanms said to
Brose. "Just neditating."

On Lindblonis face there was no expression. Only enpty, stonelike detachnent. He had been
given a task; he intended to do it. He reconmended to Adans by his nmanner that Joseph Adans do the
sane.

But suppose it were not Runcible. Suppose it were soneone else. Then this entire project,
the faked artifacts, the articles in _Natural Wrld_, the "leak" of the find, the litigation
before the Recon Dis-In Council, the destruction of Runcible' s economic enpire and his
i mpri sonnent:

It was all for nothing.

Joseph Adans trenbl ed. Because, unlike Brose, unlike Verne Lindbl omand probably Robert
Hi g and anyone and everyone el se connected with this project--he had a dreadful intuition that it
was all a m stake.

And his intuition was not going to halt the project.

Not one bit.

Again turning his back to Brose, Adam said, "Lindblom they may be wong. It nmay not be
Runci bl e. "

There was no answer. Lindblomcould not respond because he was, at the noment, facing
Brose, who now, on his feet, was waddling and groping his way, supported by a magnesi um crutch
toward the office door, munbling as he departed.

"Honest to god,"” Adans said, staring fixedly out the window, "I'Il wite the articles, but
if it isn'"t him I'mgoing to tip himoff." He turned, then, toward Lindblom tried to read his
reaction.

It was not there to read. But Lindbl om had heard.

The reaction woul d conme, sooner or |ater; Joseph Adans knew this man, this persona
friend, had worked with himenough to be sure of it.

It would be a strong reaction. After a great deal of soul-searching Verne Li ndbl om woul d
probably agree, probably help himfind a way of tipping off Runcible without Ieaving a trail back
to the source that Brose's agents could trace; Brose's agents and the private hired talents of the
Foot enen operating in conjunction. On the other hand--

He had to face it; _was_ facing it

Verne Lindbl omwas a Yance-man, fundanmentally. Before and beyond any ot her consideration.

H s reaction mght be to report Adanms' statenment to Brose

The agents of Brose would, then, within mnutes, show up at Joseph Adans' denmesne and Kkill
hi m

It was that sinple.

And at the nmonment there was no way he could tell which direction his long-time friend
Li ndbl om woul d junp; Adams did not possess the services of an international psychiatric profile-
anal ysi s organi zation, as Brose did.

He could only wait. And pray.

And prayer, he thought caustically, went out twenty years ago, even _before_ the war.

The field technician of the private police corporation Wbster Foote, Limted, crouched in
his cranped bunker and said into his aud receiver which transmitted to headquarters in London
"Sir, | have on tape a two-way conversation."

"On that same matter we di scussed?" Webster Foote's voice cane, distantly.

"Evidently."

"Al'l right. You know who's the acting contact with Louis Runcible; see that he gets it."

“"I"'msorry to say that this--"

"Convey it anyhow. We do what we can with what we have." The far-off voice of Wbster
Foote was authoritative; this, comng fromhim was a pronouncenent of judgnment as well as an
order.

"Yes, M. Foote, S.AP."
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"I ndeed, " Webster Foote agreed. "Soon as possible." And, in London, at his end, he broke
the aud-transmni ssion.

The Webster Foote, Limted field technician turned at once back to his banks of detection
and recordi ng apparatuses, econonically operating at |ow gain but satisfactory output |level; he
exam ned the visual, graphic tapes appearing ceaselessly to be certain that during the audcontact
with his superior he had nissed nothing. Now was _not_ the tinme to niss anything.

He had not.

And nmeanwhi |l e, the superb handw ought speech, untouched, renained in Joseph Adans'
bri ef case.

Li ndbl om renai ned, shakily lighting a cigarette and trying not to involve hinself--for the
monent --in further conversation. He had had enough; he renai ned because he was too exhausted to
go.

"You have it in your power," Adans said as he seated hinself at his desk, opened his
briefcase and got out his speech, "to get ne picked off."

"1 know, " Lindbl om muttered.

Wal ki ng toward the door Adams said, "lI'mgoing to 'vac this. Get it to the simand on tape
and then the hell with it. Then--what do we call the new project, this forging of nonterran
artifacts to put a man in prison whose whole life is devoted to seeing that decent housing is--"

"The Nazis," Lindblominterrupted, "had no witten orders regarding the Final Solution
the genocide of the Jews. It was done orally. Told by superior to subordinate, handed down by word
of mouth, if you don't object to an abs-urd m xed netaphor. You probably do."

"Let's go have a cup of coffee," Adans said.

Li ndbl om shrugged. "What the hell. _They've_decided it's Runcible; who are we to say it
isn't? Show me--conjure up--soneone el se who woul d benefit by tipping off tanks."

"I"d be glad to," Adans said, and saw Li ndbl om | ook di sconcerted. "Any one of the
thousands of tankers living in Runcible's conapts. Al it wuld take woul d be one who got away,
wasn't picked up by Brose's agents or Footenen, nmade his way back to his own ant tank. Then, from
it, contacted a nei ghboring tank, then fromthat tank to--"

“Yeah," Lindbl omagreed, stolidly. "Sure. Wiy not? Except would his fellow tankers let him
back into his tank? Whuldn't they think he was hot or had--what nane did we nake up to call it?--
the Bag Pl ague. They'd massacre himon sight. Because they believe the reading matter we give them
on TV every damm day of the week and twice on Saturday night, just in case; they'd think he was a
living mssile. And anyhow, there's nore you don't know. You ought to hand over a few bucks to the
Foot e organi zati on now and then; pick up a little inside news. These tankers that had been tipped
of f about conditions up here--they weren't tipped off by anybody they knew, it wasn't one of their
own nenbers comni ng back."

"Ckay, the tanker couldn't reach his own tank; so instead--"

"They got it," Lindblomsaid, "over the coax."

For a nonent Adans failed to understand; he stared at Lindbl om

"That's right," Lindblomsaid. "On their TV set. For about one minute, and very feeble.

But enough."

"CGood god," Adans said, and he thought, There are millions of them down there. Wat would
it be like if sonmeone cut into the main_ coax, the chief, sole and central trunk from Estes Park
that reaches _all_ the tanks. Wat would it be like to have the earth open and nmillions of humans,
i mprisoned subsurface for fifteen years, believing in a radi oactive waste above, with nmissiles and
bacteria and rubble and warring arm es--the denesne systemwould sustain a death bl ow and t he
great park over which he flappled twice daily would becone a densely popul ated civilization once
nmore, not quite as before the war, but close enough. Roads woul d reappear. Cities.

And--ultimately there woul d be anot her war.

That was the rationale. The masses had egged their | eaders on to war in both Ws-Dem and
Pac- Peop. But once the nmasses were out of the way, stuffed down below into antiseptic tanks, the
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ruling elite of both East and West were free to conclude a deal . . . although, strangely, in a
sense it had not been themat all, not Brose, not General Holt who had been C. in C. of \Ws-Dem or
even Marshal Harenzany, the top officer in the hierarchy of Soviet brass. But the fact that both
Holt and Harenzany knew when it was tinme to use the missiles (and had done so) and when tinme had
come to quit--this was all true, and without it, without their joint reasonability, peace would
not have been possible, but underneath this collaboration of the two top mlitary nen |ay
sonet hi ng el se, sonething which to Adans was real and strange and in a sense deeply noving.

The Recon Dis-In Council of leadies in Mexico City/ Amecaneca. It had assisted in the job
of forcing peace on the planet. And as a governing body, a final arbiter, it had not gone away.
Man has built a weapon that could think for itself, and after it had thought a while, two years in
which vile destruction had occurred, with the | eadies |ocked hip and thigh each with the other
two huge artificial armes fromtw |and masses . . . advanced varieties of |eadies, who had been
constructed with an eye toward utilizing their analytical brains for planning tactics and finally
overal | strategy--these advanced types, the X, XI and Xl | varieties, had figured out that the best
strategy was sonething which the Phoenicians had | earned five thousand years ago. It was sumred
up, Adans reflected, in _The Mkado_. If nerely _saying_that a man had been executed was enough
to satisfy everyone, why not nmerely say it instead of doing it? The problemwas really--to the
advanced | eadi es--that sinple. They were not Glbert and Sullivan buffs, and Glbert's words were
not in their artificial brains; the text of _The Mkado_ had not been programmed into them as
operational data. But they had arrived at the sane conclusion--and had in addition acted onit, in
conjunction with Marshal Harenzany and C. in C. General Holt.

Al oud, Adans said, "But they didn't see the advantage."

"Pardon?" Lindbl om nmurmured, still shaky, still unwilling to engage in any nore talk; he
| ooked tired.

"What the Recon Dis-In Council didn't see," Adans said, "and can't see now, because
there's no |ibido-conponent to their perceptnentation systens, is that the naxim Wy execute
someone-"

"Aw, shut up," Lindblom said, and, turning, stal ked out of Joseph Adams' office. Leaving
hi m st andi ng there al one, speech in hand, idea in mnd; doubly frustrated.

But he could hardly blanme Lindblomfor being upset. Because all the Yance-nen had this
streak. They were selfish; they had nade the world into their deer park at the expense of the
mllions of tankers below, it was wong and they knew it and they felt guilt--not quite enough
guilt to cause themto knock off Brose and | et the tankers up, but enough guilt to make their late
eveni ngs a thrashi ng agony of |oneliness, enptiness, and their nights inpossible. And they knew
that if anyone could be said to be anending the crinme conmitted, the theft of an entire planet
fromits rightful owners, it was Louis Runcible. _They_ gained by keeping the tankers down, and he
gai ned by luring themup; the Yance-man elite confronted Runci ble as an antagoni st, but one whom
t hey knew, deep down inside, was norally in the right. It was not a sanguine feeling, at |east not
to Joe Adans as he stood alone in his office, gripping his superb speech which was to be 'vacked,
run through the sim taped, then castrated fromBrose's office. This speech: it did not tell the

truth, but it was not a pastiche of cliches, lies, brom des, euphemni sms--
And, nore sinister ingredients, which Adans had noticed in speeches dreaned up by his
fellow Yance-nen; after all, he was only one speech witer from anpong a pack

Carrying his highly prized new speech--so regarded by him anyhow, in the absence of a
contrary consensual validation--he left his office and, by express elevator, dropped to the floor
where Megavac 6-V chugged away; floors, rather, in that the total works of the organi sm had
under gone accretive changes over the years, refinenments that had added to it whole new parts
occupying entire new | ayers. Megavac 6-V was huge, but in contrast, the simitself renmined the
sanme as al ways.

Two uni formed toughs, Brose's hand-picked but oddly effete, physiognonically dainty
roughnecks, eyed himas he emerged fromthe el evator. They knew him they understood that his
presence on Megavac 6-V's progranm ng floor was mandatory in view of his job.

He approached the keyboard of Megavac 6-V, saw that it was in use; another Yance-nman
unfamliar to him was whacki ng away at the keys like a virtuoso pianist at the end of a Franz
Li szt opus, with double octaves and all, everything but hamrering with the fist.

Above the Yance-man his witten copy was suspended, and Adans gave in to the inpul se; he
moved cl ose to inspect it.

At once the Yance-nan ceased typing.

"Sorry," Adams said.

"Let's see your authorization.” The Yance-man, quite dark, youthful and small, w th al nost
Mexi can-1ike hair, held out his hand perenptorily.
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Si ghi ng, Adanms got out of his briefcase the meno from Geneva, from Brose's bureau
entitling himto 'vac this particul ar speech; the docunent had a stanped code nunber, entered on
the meno as well--the dark, small Yance-man conpared the docunent with the neno, seemed satisfied
returned both to Adans.

"I"1l be through in forty mnutes." The youth resuned typing.

"So bounce off and | eave ne alone.” H's tone was neutral but forbidding.

Adans said, "I rather like your style." He had quickly, briefly, scanned the page of
script on top. It was good stuff; unusually so.

Agai n the Yance-man ceased typing. "You' re Adans." Once nore he extended his hand, this
time for shaking purposes; they shook, then, and the strai ned atnosphere reduced to a tolerable
| evel . But there was always the |I'mbigger-than-you conpetitiveness in the air when two Yance-nen
met, either away fromthe Agency at their demesnes or here right on the job. It always nade the
day just that nmuch tougher to get through, and yet Adans thrived on it--if not, he realized, he
woul d | ong since have gone under. "You' ve done sone good pieces; |'ve watched the final tapes."
Studying himwi th his sharp, bright, black, deeply-set Mexican-type eyes, the young Yance-man
said, "But a lot of your work has been axed at Geneva, or so | hear."

"Well," Adanms said stoically, "it's either axed or it's coaxed in this business; there's
no such thing as half-transmtting."”

"You want to bet?" The youth's tone was brittle, penetrating; it disconcerted Adans.

Guardedl y, because after all both of themin essence were conpeting for the same prize,
Adans said, "l suppose a jejune, watereddown speech could be considered--"

"Let me show you sonething." The dark young Yance-man rose, yanked shut the naster circuit
breaker so that the 'vac began processing what he had fed it up to now.

Toget her, Adans and the dark young Yance-nman wal ked over to view the sim

There it sat. Solely, at its large oak desk, with the American flag behind it. In Mdscow
anot her and identical simsat, with a duplicate of Megavac 6-V, the flag of the USSR behind it;
otherwi se everything, the clothes, the gray hair, the conpetent, fatherly, mature but soldierly
features, the strong chin--it was the sane simall over again, both having been built
simul taneously in Germany, wired by the finest Yance-man technicians alive. And here maintenance
men perpetual ly skul ked, watching with trai ned, narrow eyes for any sign of failure, even a
fraction-of-a-second hesitation. Anything which mght mtigate the quality striven for, that of
free and easy authenticity; this sinmulacrum out of all which they, the Yance-nen, were involved
in, required the greatest senblance of the actuality which it m m cked.

A breakdown here, Adans realized soberly, however minute, would be catastrophic. Like the
time its left hand, in reaching out--

A huge red warning light on the wall lit, a buzzer buzzed; a dozen main-nen for the
sinmulacrum materialized to scrutinize.

Catastrophic--as the tinme the reaching left hand went into a spasm of pseudo-Par ki nsoni sm
a neutral -notor trenor . . . indicating, had the tapes been put on the cable, the insidious start
of senility; yes, that would have been the tankers' interpretation, nobst probably. He's getting
old, they would have nuttered to each other as they sat in their communal halls, overseen by their
pol -coms. Look; he's shaky. The strain. Remenber Roosevelt; the strain of the war got him
finally; it'll get the Protector, and then what'll we do?

But it hadn't been put on the coaxial cable, of course; the tankers had never seen that
sequence. The sim had been opened up, thoroughly gone over, tested and checked and certified; a
nmi ni aturized conponent had been spat on, denounced as the mal efactor--and, at a work bench in one
of the shops of Runcible's conapts, a workman had been quietly relieved of his duties and possibly
his life . . . without ever know ng why or what--because in the first place he hadn't known what
the tiny output coil or diode or just plain _thing_ had been used for.

The simbegan to nove. And Joseph Adans shut his eyes, standing as he was, out of range of

the caneras, hidden with this snmall, dark, very young but expert Yance-man, the author of the
words about to be uttered. Maybe it'll go out of its mind, Adans thought w ldly, and began to
recite pornographic ballads. O, |ike one of those antique disc records of the previous century:

repeat a word repeat a word repeat a word .

"My fellow Anmericans,” the simsaid inits firm fanmliar, nearhoarse but utterly
control |l ed voice

To hinmsel f Joseph Adanms said, _Yes, M. Yancy. Yes sir_.
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Joseph Adans |listened to the partial text of the speech, up to the point where the dark
young Yance-nan had ceased feeding the script to the 'vac, and then, when the simbecane rigid and
the caneras--at the precise second--shut down, he turned to the nman beside him the author, and
sai d:

"I take off my hat to you. You' re good." He had al nost been captured hinself, as he had
stood wat ching the sinmulacrumof the Protector Tal bot Yancy deliver with absolutely the proper
intonation, in the exact and correct manner, the text nodified and augmented-- neddl ed with--by
Megavac 6-V fromwhat it had received--even though he could see Megavac 6-V and al t hough this was
not visible could sense the emanation of the reading matter directed by the 'vac toward the
simulacrum Could in fact witness the true source which animated the purely artificial construct
seated at the oak desk with the American flag behind it. Eerie, he thought.

But a good speech is a good speech. Woever delivers it. A kid in high school, reciting
TomPaine . . . the material is still great, and this reciter doesn't falter or stunmble or get the
words wong. The 'vac and all these main-nmen standing around see to that. _And_, he thought, _so
do we. W know what we're doing_.

"Who are you?" he asked this strangely capabl e young Yance- man

"Dave sonmething. | forget," the nan said, alnpbst nystically absorbed, even now that the
si m had becone inoperative once nore.

"You forget your _nanme?_ " Puzzled, he waited, and then he realized that this was nerely an
elliptical way by which the dark young man was telling himsonething: that he was a relatively new
Yance-man, not yet fully established in the hierarchy. "Lantano," Adanms said. "You're David
Lantano, living in the hotspot near Cheyenne."

"That's right."

"No wonder you're black." Radiation-burned, Adans realized. The youth, eager to acquire
land for a denesne, had gone in too soon; all the runors, passed back and forth in the idle hours
of evening by the worldwi de elite, appeared true: it had been far too soon, and physically young
Davi d Lantano was suffering.

Phi | osophi cally, Lantano said, "I'malive."

"But | ook at you. What about your bone marrow?"

"Tests show there's not too ruch inmpairnment of red-cell production. | expect to
recuperate. And it's cooling daily. |I've gotten over the worst part.” Wyly, Lantano said, "You
shoul d cone and visit ne, Adans; |'ve had ny | eadi es working night and day; the villa itself is
al nost conplete.”

Adans said, "I wouldn't go into the Cheyenne hot-spot for a pile of poscreds ten niles
hi gh. That speech of yours shows how very rmuch you can contribute; why risk your health, your
_life?_ You could stay here in New York City, live in a conapt of the Agency, until--"

"Until," Lantano said, "the Cheyenne hot-spot cool ed down enough in ten years, fifteen
years . . . and then soneone grabbed it ahead of nme." My only chance, he was saying in other

words, was deliberately to go in prematurely. As has been attenpted in the past by Yance-nen in
the exact sane position, before nme. And--so often those premature investnents, those hasty,

anxi ous entries into still-hot areas, neant-- death. And not a mercifully quick death but a
gruesome slow deterioration over a period of years.

Viewi ng the dark--in truth severely scorched--youth, Adans realized how fortunate he
hinself was. To be fully established; his villa was long-built, his grounds were fully planted,
green throughout. And he had entered the Wst Coast hot-spot south of San Francisco at a safe
tinme; he had relied on Footenen reports, brought at great cost, and | ook how it had all worked
out. In contrast to this.

Lant ano woul d have his fine villa, his vast stone building made out of the rubble, the
concrete that had been the city of Cheyenne. But Lantano woul d be dead.

And that, according to the Recon Dis-l1n Council's ruling, put the area up for grabs once
again; it would be a rush by eager Yance-nen to get in and acquire what Lantano had | eft behind.
An ultimate end to Adans pathetic irony: the youth's villa, built at such cost--at the expense of
his life-would go to soneone el se who did not have to build, supervise a gang of |eadies day after
day .
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"I presume,"” Adans said, "that you get the hell out of Cheyenne as often as is legal."
Twel ve out of every twenty-four hours, according to Recon Dis-In Council law, had to be spent
wi thin the new denesne area.

"I come here. | work. As you see ne now." Lantano returned to the keyboard of Megavac 6-V;
Adans trailed after him "As you say, Adams, | have a job to do. | expect to live to performit."
Once nore Lantano seated hinmself at the keyboard, facing his copy.

"Well, at least it hasn't inpaired your nind," Adans said.

Smi ling, Lantano said, "Thanks."

For one hour Joseph Adanms stood by while Lantano fed his speech to Megavac 6-V, and when
he had read it all and then, as it enmerged fromthe 'vac to the sim had heard it actually
delivered by the dignified, gray-haired father-figure Tal bot Yancy hinself, he felt,
overwhel mingly, the futility of his own speech. The dreadful contrast.

What he hinself gripped in his briefcase was beginner's prattle. He felt l|ike slinking
away. Into oblivion.

Where does a barely grown radi ati on-burned unestablished new Yance-man get such ideas?
Adans asked hinself. And the ability to express them And--the knowhow as to exactly what the
‘"vac's treatnment of the copy would result in. . . howit would ultinmately energe as spoken by the
simbefore the cameras. Didn't it take years to learn this? It had taken _him years to | earn what
_he_ knew. To wite a sentence and, after exam ning it, know approximately--that is, sufficiently
accurately--how it would in its term nal stage sound, be. What, in other words, would appear on
the TV screens of the mllions of tankers subsurface, who viewed and believed, were taken in day
after day by what was fatuously called _reading matter_.

A polite term Adans reflected, for a substance |acking substance. But this wasn't
strictly true; as for instance young Dave Lantano's speech here and now. It preserved the

essential illusion--in fact, Adans had grudgingly to admit--the illusion of Yancy's reality was
hei ght ened. But - -
"Your speech," he said to Lantano, "isn't just clever. It has real wi sdom Like one of

Cicero's orations.” Proudly, he traced his owmn work to such em nent ancient sources as G cero and
Seneca, to speeches in Shakespeare's history plays, and to Tom Pai ne.

As he stuffed the pages of his copy back into his own briefcase, David Lantano said
soberly, "I appreciate your comment, Adans; especially comng fromyou it nmeans sonething."

"Why nme?"

"Because," Lantano said, thoughtfully, "I know that, despite your linitations--" He shot
Adans a keen, quick glance, then. "--you have sincerely tried. | think you know what | nean. There
are things, easyway things and bad things, that you've scrupul ously avoided. |I've watched you for
several years and |'ve seen the difference between you and nost of the others. Brose knows the
di fference, too, and despite the fact that he axes rather than coaxes nmuch of your stuff, he
respects you. _He has to_."

"Well," Adanms said.

"Has it frightened you, Adans, to see your best work axed at the Geneva | evel ? After
getting that far? Do you find it nerely frustrating or--" David Lantano scrutinized him "Yes, it
does frighten you."

After a pause Adans said, "l get scared. But at night, when |'mnot here at the Agency but
alone with ny leadies in ny villa. Not when |'mactually witing or feeding it to the 'vac or
wat ching the simitself . . . not here where--" He gestured. "It's busy. But--always whenever |I'm

alone."” He was silent, then, wondering how he had managed to confide his deepest proclivities to
this young stranger. Nornally, one took care as to what one reveal ed about oneself to a fell ow
Yance- man; any personal info could be used against one, in the incessant conpetition to be the
speech witer for Yancy; in effect, _the Yancy itself_.

"Here at the Agency," Dave Lantano said sonberly, "in New York, we may conpete agai nst
each other, but underneath we're a group. A corporate body. Wat the Christians used to call a
congregation . . . a very neaningful special term But then each of us, at six p.m, goes off in

his flapple. Crosses an enpty countryside to a castle inhabited by nental constructs that nove and
talk but are--" He gestured. "Cold, Adans; the |eadies, even the advanced types who doninate the
Council; _they are cold_. Get a couple of your retinue, all the |eadies of your household staff
that you can craminto your flapple with you, and go visit. Every night."

"I know that the smart Yance-nen do that," Adans said. "Are never at hone. |'ve tried,
I'"ve arrived at ny denmesne, eaten dinner and then gone right out again." He thought of Colleen
and then, when he had lived, his neighbor Lane. "I have a girl," he said deftly. "A Yance-nan or |

suppose one would have to say a Yance-wonan; we visit and talk. But the big front w ndow of the
library of ny denesne--"
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"Don't | ook out over that fog and coastline of rocks," David Lantano said. "That stretches
south of San Francisco a hundred miles; one of the nost bleak on Earth."

Bl i nki ng, Adanms wondered how Lantano had known so exactly what he neant, his fear of the
fog; it was as if Lantano had read his deepest m nd.

“"I"'d like to see your speech, now," Lantano said. "Since you' ve given mne about as
t horough a study as possible--and, for you, Adans, that's rather thorough." He gl anced toward
Adans' briefcase, especially alert, now

Adans said, "No." He couldn't show his speech, not after the strong, fresh declaration he
had just now seen and heard.

The readi ng matter concocted by David Lantano which had energed fromthe Yancy-sinul acrum
so effectively, dealt with deprivation. Ht at the heart of the tankers' nain problemarea
at least as he understood it fromthe reports of the pol-cons in the tanks which the Estes Park
Government, the apparatus there, received--received and nade accessible as a feedback to all Yance-
men, in particular the speech witers. Their sole source of knowl edge as to how well they were
getting their reading matter through

Reports fromthe pol-cons on this speech of Lantano's, when it had been coaxed, would be
interesting. It would take at | east a nonth, but Adans nade a note of it, noted the official code-
designati on of the speech, and promi sed hinmself to be alert for the feedback responses as they
energed fromthe ant tanks all over the world . . . Ws-Dem anyhow, and possibly, if the response
was good enough, the Soviet authorities would take the top-copy of the spooi from Megavac 6-V
whi ch contai ned the speech, give it to their own 'vac in Mdscow to programtheir own sim.
and, in addition, Brose in Geneva, if he w shed, could sequester the spool, the original, not the
top-copy, and decree it officially and fornally to be primary source-material from which Yance-nen
the world over were nandatorily to draw on for later reading matter. Lantano's speech, if it were
as good as Adanms thought it to be, night becone one of those few rare "eternal" declarations,

i ncorporated in permanent policy. What an honor. And the guy was so dam young.

"How can you face it," Adans asked the dark young new Yanceman, who did not even have a
denesne, yet, who lived in a lethal hot-spot by night, dying, being scorched, suffering, but stil
doing this superb job, "how can you openly discuss the fact that those tankers down there are
_systematically deprived of what they're entitled to?_ You actually said it in your speech." He
remenbered Lantano's exact words as they had issued fromthe firmjawed nmouth of the Yancy. Wat
you have, Tal bot Yancy, the synthetic and in a sense actually nonexistent Protector, told the
tankers--would be telling themin a couple of weeks, when the tape had passed Geneva's scrutiny as
of course it would--is not enough. Your lives are inconplete, in the sense that Rousseau had neant
when he tal ked of man having been born in one condition, born brought into the Iight free, and
everywhere was now in chains. Only here, in this day and age, as the speech had just pointed out,
t hey had been born onto the surface of a world and now that surface with its air and sunlight and
hills, its oceans, its streans, its colors and textures, its very smells, had been swi ped from
them and they were left with tin-can submarine--figuratively--dwelling boxes in which they were
squeezed, under a false light, to breathe repurified stale air, to listen to wired obligatory
nmusi ¢ and sit dayl ong at wor k-benches naking | eadies for a purpose which--but even Lantano coul d
not go on here. Could not say, for a purpose you don't know. For each of us here above to augnent
our retinues with, our entourages which wait on us, follow us, dig for us, build, scrape and bow .

you' ve made us barons in baronial castles, and you are the Ni belungen, the dwarves, in the
m nes; you | abor for us. And we give back--reading matter. No, the speech hadn't said that--how
could it? But it had adnmitted the truth, that the tankers were entitled to sonething they did not
have; they were the victins of robbers. Theft had been commtted against all the mllions of them
and there had been no noral or legal renedy all these years.

"My fellow Anmericans," the Tal bot Yancy sinmulacrumhad said gravely in its stern, stoic
nmlitary, |eadership, fatherly voice (Adams would never forget this noment of the speech) "there
is a certain ancient Christian idea, which you may know, that life on Earth, or in your instance,
beneath Earth, is a transition. An episode between a |life that cane before and an eternal, other-
kind-of-life to follow. Once a pagan king in the British Isles was converted to Christianity by
the image of this life being the short flight of a nocturnal bird which has flown in through one
wi ndow of a warm and lighted dining hall of a castle, for a nonent passed above a scene of notion
and talk, of tangible fellowlife; the confort of being within a place inhabited by others. And
then the bird in its flight has gone on out of the lighted dining hall, out of the castle once
nmore, through a second wi ndow. Into the enpty, black, unending night on the far side. And it wll
never see that lit-up, warmhail of murnur and notion and fellowlife again. And--" And here the
Yancy, in all its ponp and dignity, the authority of its words that reached so many, nany hunan
beings in so many anywhere in the world tanks, had said, "--you, ny fellow Americans in subsurface
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shelters, you have not got even this nonment to cling to. To renenber or anticipate or enjoy, this
short flight through the lighted hall. Brief as it is, you are entitled to it, and yet, because of
a terrible nmadness fifteen years ago, a hell-night, you are dooned; you are paying every day for
the insanity that drove you fromthe surface exactly as the whips of the furies drove our two
grandparents fromthe original garden eons ago. And this is not right. Sonehow, one day, | assure
you, the alienation will end. The abridgnent of your reality, the deprivation of your rightfu
life--with the swiftness said to acconpany the last trunp's first sound, this terrible calanity,
this inequity will be abolished. Wen it comes it will not be gradual . It will hurl you all
expel you, even if you resist it, back to your own land that is waiting for you above, awaiting
your claim My fellow Anericans, your claimis staked and we guard it; we are the securing agents
only for the present. But everything up here will disappear and you will cone back. And even the
menory, even the _idea_ of us who are up here now, will forever vanish." And the Yancy sinmul acrum
had finished, "And you will not be able to curse us because you will not even recall that we
existed."

God, Adams thought. And this nan wants to see _ny_ speech

Seeing his reluctance, David Lantano said quietly, "But |'ve watched you, Adans. You can
take some credit."

"Damm little," Adans said. "You know, all |'ve ever tried to do, and it was right, but
just not enough--1 tried to assuage their doubts. As to the necessity of their situation. But you--
my good god, you've actually called it not nerely a necessity that they have to |live down there
but an unjust, tenporary, evil curse. There's a big difference between ny using the Yancy simto
persuade themthat they have to go on because it's even worse up here on the surface, it's germns
and radioactivity and death, and what you've done; you've given thema sol em prom se--you nade a
conpact with them gave them your word--_Yancy's_ word--that someday it would all be justified."

"Well," Lantano said mldly, "the Bible does say, 'It is God Wio shall justify.' O sone
such utterance; | forget exactly." He | ooked tired, nmore so even than Lindbl om had; they were all
tired, all of their class. Wiat a great burden, Adanms thought, the luxury of this way we |ive.
Since no one nakes us suffer we have elected to volunteer. He saw this on Lantano's face, as he
had seen it, or sonething like it, on Verne Lindbloms. But not on Brose's, he thought suddenly.
The man with the nost power and responsibility feels the least--if he feels any--weight.

No wonder they all trenbled; no wonder their nights were bad. They served--and knew it--a
bad master.

9

Hi s speech still--it seened eternally--in his briefcase, undisclosed to David Lantano and
never fed to Megavac 6-V, Joseph Adans nade his way by horizontal express belt fromthe buil ding
at 580 Fifth Avenue to the Agency's titanic repository of reference material, its official

archives of every known datum of know edge from before the war retained and fixed for perpetuity
and of course instantly available to the elite, such as hinself, whenever needed.

He needed it--sonme fragment of it--now.

At the great central station he lined up, and when he found hinself facing the conbination
type XXXV | eady and Megavac 2-B which acted as ruling nonad of the |abyrinthine organi smof spoo
upon spool of mnicrotape--whole twenty-six volune reference books reduced to the size of a yo-yo,
and nerely a yo-yo's shape and wi dth and wei ght--he said, rather plaintively, it seened to him as

he heard hinmself speak, "Um I'msort of confused. I'mnot |ooking for any one particul ar source,
as for instance Lucretius' _De Rerum Natura_ or Pascal's _Provincial Letters_ or Kafka's _The
Castle_." Those had been instances of his past: sources which had nolded himalong with the

eternal John Donne and Cicero and Seneca and Shakespeare et al

"Your ident-key, please," the ruling nonad of the archives buzzed.

He slid his key into the slot; it registered, and now the ruling nonad, after consulting
its menory bank, knew and remenbered every source item he had ever utilized, and in what sequence;
it conprehended the entire pattern of his formal know edge. Fromthe archives' standpoint, it now
knew himwi thout limt, and so it could declare--or so he hoped--the next point on the graph of
his growing, organic, mentationlife. The historic devel opment of himas a knowi ng entity.
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God knew he didn't have any notion of what the next point on the graph would be; David
Lantano's reading matter had conpl etely knocked the slats fromunder himand he wobbled in a
horrid daze--crisis, for the last and critical tine, perhaps, in his professional career. He
faced, at |least potentially, what all speech witers for the Tal bot Yancy sim feared: the
cessation of their powers. The drying-up of their ability to programthe 'vac, in fact to program
anything at all.

The ruling nmonad of the Agency's official archives clicked a fewtines, as if gnashing its
el ectronic gearteeth, and then it said, "M . Adans, do not be alarnmed at this."

"Ckay," he said, thoroughly alarmed al ready. Behind himthose in line, his fellow Yance-
men, waited inpatiently. "Let's have it," he said.

The ruling nmonad said, "You are respectfully referred back to Source One. The two
docunentaries of 1982, both versions, A and B; with no criticismintended you will, if you step to
the counter directly to your right, be handed the spools of CGottlieb Fischer's original work."

The bottom the support and structure, the formitself, of Joseph Adans' world, fell out.
And, as he made his way to the counter to his right, to receive the spools, he died inside, and
died in great pain, deprived of the fundanental netabolic rhythm of existence.

Because if he didn't yet understand Gottlieb Fischer's two docunentaries of 1982, he
didn't understand anyt hi ng.

For the fabric of Yancy, what he was and how he had cone into being--and hence their
exi stence, the hive of Yancy-nen such as hinself and Verne Lindbl om and Lantano, even horri bl e,
powerful old Brose hinself--all this rested on docunentaries A and B. A which had been for Ws-
Dem B, produced for Pac-Peop. Beyond these, one could not go.

He had been thrown back years. To the inception of his professional career as a Yance-nan.
And if it could happen to himthe entire edifice could totter; he felt the world he knew nelt
under his feet.

10

Accepting the spools he sightlessly nade his way to a vacant table and scanner, seated
hinsel f--and then realized that somewhere along the Iine he had set down his briefcase and not
pi cked it up--had gone on without it; in other words, deliberately, and for good reason
t horoughly | ost and parted conmpany forever wth his agoni zed-over, handw ought speech of [ ast
ni ght .

This proved his thesis. He was in real trouble.

VWi ch, of the two docunentaries, he asked hinself, must | endure first?

He honestly did not know. At last, nore or |less aimessly, he picked Docunmentary A Since
after all he hinself was a Wes-Dem Yance-nman. Docunentary A, which had been the first of Gottlieb
Fischer's two efforts, had al ways appealed to himnore. Because if it could be said that there
were any truth to either of them it lay perhaps here in the A version. Buried, however, under a
refuse heap of manufactured fraud so vast as to constitute--and this was the factor which made
both docunentaries the primal, venerated source for all Yancy-nen--an anonaly.

For sheer "the big lie" crust, Gottlieb Fischer had | ong ago out-classed themall. No one
living or who woul d ever be born, could possibly, with a straight face, tell the yarns of those
i nnocent, hal cyon days. The West German film maker Gottlieb Fischer, inheritor of UFA the ol der
Reichs filmtrust which had in the 1930s been so deeply interwoven with Dr. CGoebbels' office--that
really superb, unique fabricator of the convincingly visual had gotten things rolling not with a
whi nper but with a goddamterrible, awesonme bang. But of course Fischer had possessed great
resources. Both mlitary establishments, those of Wes-Dem and Pac- Peop, had provided himw th
financial and spiritual assistance--as well as the fabulous filmclips of World War Two whi ch each
establishment held in its "classified" filmlibraries.

The twi n docunentaries, contrived so as to be rel eased sinultaneously, had dealt with
Wrld War Two, which, for many people in 1982, lay clearly within menory, it having ended only
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thirty-seven years before the rel ease of the docunentaries. A GI. of that war who had been twenty
in 1945 woul d, when he sat before his TV set in his living roomin Boise, |Idaho and saw Epi sode
One (of twenty-five parts) of Docunmentary A, would have been only fifty-seven years ol d.

As Joseph Adans fitted his eyes to the spool-scanner he thought to hinself that they
shoul d have been able to _renmenber_ enough to recogni ze what they saw on their TV screens to be
pure lie.

Bef ore his eyes appeared the tiny, illum nated and clear inage of Adolf Hitler, addressing
the hired flunkies who constituted the Reichstag of the |ate 1930s. Der Fuhrer was in a sardonic,
jovial, nocking, excited nobod. This fanmous scene--and every Yance-man knew it by heart--was the
monent in which Hitler answered the plea from President Roosevelt of the United States that he,
Hitler, guarantee the frontiers of a dozen or so snall nations of Europe. One by one Adolf Hitler
read off the nations conprising this list, his voice rising with each, and with each the hired
flunkies jeered in synchronization with their |eader's nmounting frenzy of glee. The enotionality

of it all--der Fuhrer, overcone with titanic anusenent at this absurd list (later he was to
i nvade, systematically, virtually every nation naned), the roars of the flunkies . . . Joseph
Adans watched, listened, felt inside hima resonance with the roars, a sardonic glee in conpany

with Hitler's-- and at the same tine he felt sinple, quite childlike wonder that this scene could
ever have truly taken place. And it had. This clip, from Epi sode One of Docunentary A, was--
crazily enough, considering its fantastic nature--authentic.

Ah, but now cane the artistry of the Berlin filmmaker of 1982. The scene of the Reichstag
speech di mmed, and there segued in, clearer and clearer, another scene. That of hungry, enpty-eyed
Germans during the Depression of the Wi mar days, the pre-Hitler days. Unenpl oyed. Bankrupt. Lost.
A defeated nation without a future

The aud-track commentary, the purring but firmvoice of the trained actor whom Gottlieb
Fi scher had hired--Al ex Sourberry or sonme such nane--began to lift into being, to superinpose its
aural presence as interpretation of the visual. And the visual, now, consisted of an ocean scene
The Royal Navy of Great Britain, as it maintained the bl ockade into the year follow ng Wrld War
One; as it deliberately and successfully starved into pernanent stuntedness a nation which had
| ong ago surrendered--and was now utterly hel pl ess.

Adans halted the scanner, sat back, |it a cigarette.

Did he really need to listen to the firm purring voice of Al exander Sourberry to know the
message of Documentary A? Did he have to sit through all twenty-five hour-long episodes and then
when the ordeal was over, turn to the equally long and intricate version B? He knew t he nessage.

Al ex Sourberry for version A, sone East German professional equal of Sourberry for version B. He
knew both_ nmessages . . . because, just as there existed two distinct versions, there existed two
di stinct nessages.

Sourberry, at the nonent the scanner had been shut off, giving Adans a respite which he
t hanked god for, had been about to denonstrate a remarkable fact: a connection between two scenes
set apart in history by twenty-odd years. The British bl ockade of 1919 and the concentration canps
of the starving, dying skeletons in striped clothes in the year 1943.

It was the British who had brought about Buchenwaid, was CGottlieb Fischer's revised
history. Not the Germans. The Germans were the _victins_, in 1943 as much as in 1919. A later
scene in Documentary A would show Berliners, in 1944, hunting in the woods surrounding Berlin,
searching for nettles to make into soup. The Germans were starving; all continental Europe, al
peopl e i nside and outside the concentration canps, were starving. Because of the British

How clear it was, as this thene energed throughout twenty-five expertly put-together
epi sodes. This was the "definitive" history of World War Two--for the people of Wes-Dem anyhow.

~Way run the thing?_Adans asked hinself as he sat snoking his cigarette, trenbling with
muscul ar and nental weariness. | know what it shows. That Hitler was enotional, flanboyant, noody,
and unstable, but of course; it was natural, the filmlied. Because he was pure and sinply a
geni us. Li ke Beethoven. And we all adm re Beethoven; you have to forgive a great world figure
genius type its eccentricities. And, admttedly, Htler was at |ast pushed over the edge, driven
into psychotic paranocia . . . due to the unwillingness of England to understand, to grasp, the
| oomi ng, _real_ nenace--that of Stalinist Russia. The peculiarities of Htler's personal character
(after all, he had been subjected to great and prol onged stress during Wrld War One and the
Wei mar Depression period, as had all Germans) had misled the rather phlegmatic Angl o- Saxon peopl es
into imagining that Hitler was "dangerous." Actually--and in episode after episode, Al ex Sourberry
woul d purr out this nessage--the Wes-Dem TV vi ewer woul d di scover that England, France, Germany
and the United States should all have been allies. Against the authentic evil-doer, Josef Stalin
with his negal omani acal plans for world conquest . . . proved by the actions of the USSR in the
postwar period--a period in which even Churchill had to adnit that Soviet Russia was _the_ eneny.
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--And had been all along. Communi st propagandists, fifth columists in the Western
Denocr aci es, however, had deceived the people, even the governnments . . . even Roosevelt and
Churchill, and right up into the postwar world. Take, for instance, Alger Hiss . . . take the
Rosenbergs, who had stol en the secret of The Bonb and given it to Soviet Russia.

Take, for instance, the scene which opened episode four of version A Advancing the spool
Joseph Adans halted it at this episode and put his eyes to the scanner, this nodern technol ogica
crystal ball into which one gazed to know -not the future--but the past. And

Not even the past. Instead, this fake which he now w t nessed.

Before his eyes a filmsequence, narrated by the maddeni ngly ubi quitous Al ex Sourberry and
his oily, skillful murmur. A scene vital to the overall noral of version A which Gottlieb Fischer
backed angel wise by the Wes-Dem nmilitary establishnment, had wi shed to drive hone--in other words
this was the raison d' étre_ of the whole twenty-five hour-long epi sodes of version A

The scene enacted in miniature before himshowed the neeting of the heads-of-state,
Roosevel t, Churchill and Stalin. The location: Yalta. Om nous, fateful Yalta.

There they sat, the three world |l eaders,s in adjoining chairs, to be photographed; this
was an historic occasion the magnitude of which was intolerable. And no one alive could afford to
forget it, because here--Sourberry's voice purred--the nonentous deci sion was nade. You are now
seeing it with your own eyes.

_What _ deci sion?

In Joseph Adans' ears the professional smooth voice whispered, "At this spot, at this
monment, the deal was hatched which was to decide the future fate of manki nd down unto generations
yet unborn.”

"Ckay," Adans said aloud, startling the harnml ess Yance-nman using the scanner across from
him "Sorry," Adans apol ogi zed, and then nerely thought, did not speak it aloud, _Cone on,

Fi scher. Let's see the deal. Like they say; don't just tell us; show us. Put up or shut up. Prove
the basic contention of this great prolonged "docunentary" or get out_.

And he knew, because he had seen it so many tinmes before, that the film producer was goi ng
to show it.

"Joe," a woman's voice said, close to him shattering his taut attention; he sat back
gl anced up, found hinmself confronted by Coll een

"WAit," he said to her. "Don't say anything. For just one second." Again he put his eyes
to the scanner, fervid and frightened, |ike some poor tanker, he thought, who in his phobic terror
has caught--inagines, rather--the Stink of Shrink, the olfactory harbinger of death. But | am not
imagining this; Joseph Adans knew. And the horror inside himgrew until he could stand not a bit
nore; and yet he continued to watch, and all the tinme, Al exander Sourberry nurnured and whi spered
away, and Joseph Adans thought, Is this howit feels down below, to then? If they get the
intimation, the scent, of what it truly is they're seeing? That what is given themis our
adaptation of this_--and this petrified him

Sourberry purred, "A loyal American Secret Serviceman took these remarkabl e sequences with
a telescopic-lens canmera disguised as a collar button; that is why these particular nonents are a
trifle blurred."”

And, a trifle blurred, as Sourberry had said, two figures noved together along a ranpart.
Roosevelt and--Josef Stalin, the |atter standing, Roosevelt in a wheelchair with a robe over his
| ap, pushed by a uniformed servant.

"Speci al | ong-range mnicrophonic equiprent,’
Servi ceman's possession, permtted himto pick up--"

kay, Joseph Adans thought. It seens fine. Canera the size of a collar button; who in 1982
renenbered that no such mniaturized spy gadget existed in 1944? So that gets by unchal | enged- - got
by, when this horrible thing was put on the coax to all Ws-Dem No one wote in to the
Washi ngton, D.C. governnent and said, "Dear Sirs: Regarding the 'collar button' canmera of the

Sourberry purred, "in the |oyal Secret

"l oyal Secret Serviceman' at Yalta; this is to informyou that--" No, this hadn't happened; or if
it had the letter had quietly been buried . . . if not the person who had witten it.

"What epi sode are you | ooking at, Joe?" Coll een asked.

Agai n he sat back, stopped the spool. "The great scene. Were FDR and Stalin agree to sel

out the Western Denocracies."

"Ch yes." She nodded, seated herself beside him "The blurred, |ong-distance shot. Wo
could forget that? It's been drunmed into us--"

"You realize," he said, "of course, what the flawin it is.”

"W were _taught what the flaw was. Brose hinmself, and since he was alive and Fischer's
pupil--"

"Nobody now, " Adanms said, "makes errors like that. In preparing reading matter. W' ve
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| earned; we're nore expert. Want to watch? Listen?"

"No thanks. | frankly don't care for it."

Adans said, "I don't care for it either. But it fascinates ne; it fascinates nme in that it
got by--and was accepted." Again putting his eyes to the scanner he started the spool up

On the aud-track the voices of the two blurred figures could be nade out. A high
background hi ss--proof of the Iong-range aspect of the hidden m ke enployed by the "loyal Secret
Servi ceman" --made it a little hard to understand, but not inpossible.

Roosevelt and Stalin were, in this version A scene, talking in English; Roosevelt with his
Harvard intonations, Stalin in heavy, Slavic-accented, guttural near-grunts.

You t herefore could understand Roosevelt better. And what he had to say was quite
i mportant, inasmuch as he was saying, candidly, not know ng about the "hidden nike," that he,
Frankl i n Roosevelt, President of the United States, was--a Conmmuni st agent. Under Party
discipline. He was selling out the U S. to his boss Josef Stalin, and his boss was saying, "Yes,

conrade. You understand our needs; it is arranged that you will hold back the Allied arnies in the
West so that our Red Arny can penetrate deeply enough into Central Europe, in fact to Berlin to
establish Soviet mastery as far as--" And then the guttural, heavy accented voice dimed as the

two worl d | eaders passed out of aud range.

Shutting it off again, Joseph Adans said to Colleen, "Despite the one flawit was a top-
notch job that CGottlieb did, there. The guy who played Roosevelt really | ooked |ike Roosevelt. The
guy who played Stalin--"

"But the flaw," Colleen rem nded him

"Yes." It was a major one, the worst Fischer had nade; in fact the only serious one anbng
all the faked sequences of version A

Josef Stalin had not known English. And, since Stalin could not speak English, this scene
could not have taken place. The crucial scene, just now shown, revealed itself for what it was--
and by doing so, revealed the entire "docunentary” for what it was. A deliberate, carefully
manuf actured fraud, constructed for the purpose of getting Germany off the hook in regard to the
deeds done, the decision taken, in Wrld War Two. Because in 1982, Germany was once again a world
power, and nost inportant, a major shareholder in the community of nations titling itself "The
Western Denocracies,” or nore sinply, Wes-Dem the UN having disintegrated during the Latin
Anerican war of 1977, leaving in its place a power vacuuminto which the Germans had expertly,
eagerly rushed.

"I"'msick," Adans said to Colleen as he shakily picked up his cigarette. To think, he
thought, that _what we are now_ derives fromsuch crude sleight-of-hand as that scene--Stalin
conversing in a |l anguage he didn't know.

After a pause Colleen said, "Well, Fischer could have--"

"Easily fixed it up. One, sole, minor interpreter. That's all that was needed. But Fischer
was an artist--he liked the idea of themtalking téte-a-téte, no internediary; he felt it would
have nore dramatic inpact." And Fi scher had been correct, since the "docunentary" had been
universally accepted as historically correct, as docunenting the "sell-out” at Yalta, the
"m sunderstood" Adolf Hitler who had really only been trying to save the Wstern Denpcracies from
t he Conmi es

and even the death canps; even that was explained away. And all it took was a few
j uxtaposed shots of British warships and starving canp victins, a fewentirely faked scenes that
simply never had actually occurred, some genuine footage fromWs-Demmlitary archives . . . and
the soothing voice which tied it all in together. Soothing--but firm

Neat .

"I don't see," Colleen said presently, "why it upsets you so. Is it because the error is
so glaring? It wasn't glaring then, because who in 1982 knew that Stalin couldn't--"

"Do you know," Adans broke in, speaking slowy, carefully, "what the corresponding centra
hoax is in version B? Have you ever put your finger on it? Because even Brose, in ny opinion
never saw into version B as he did version A"

Pondering, she said, "Let's see. In version B, for the Communist world of 1982 . . ." She
continued to introspect, frowning, and then she said, "It's been a long tinme since | scanned any
part of B, but--"

Adans said, "Let's start with the operational hypothesis underlying B. That the USSR and
Japan are attenpting to save civilization. England and the U S. are secret allies of the Nazis, of
Hitler; they brought himto power for the sole purpose of attacking the Eastern countries, of
preserving the status quo against the new rising nations of the East. This we know. In Wrld War
Two England and the U.S. only seened_ to fight Germany; Russia did all the land fighting on the
Eastern Front; the Nornmandy | andi ngs--what did they call it? The Second Front?--only took place

file:/l/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (32 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

_after_ CGermany had been defeated by Russia; the U S. and Britain wanted to rush in and greedily
grab as much of the spoils--"

"Spoils,"” Colleen said, "which rightfully belonged to the USSR " She nodded. "But where
did Fischer coimit a technical error in B? The idea is credible, just as the idea in Ais; and the
genui ne footage in B of the Red Arny at Stalingrad--"

"Yes. Al real. Authentic and properly convincing. The war really was won at Stalingrad.

But--" He clenched his fist, injuring his cigarette; he then carefully dropped it into a nearhby
ashtray. "lI'mnot going," he said, "to scan B. Despite what the master nmonad told nme. So I'm
failing; 1've ceased to grow and that neans I'll be overtaken and that'll be it--1 knew that |ast
ni ght before you left. | knew it again today when | heard Dave Lantano's speech and realized how

much better it was than anything | can do--or will ever do. He's about nineteen. Twenty at the
nost . "

"David is twenty-three," Colleen said.

@ anci ng up, Adans said, "You've net hinP"

"Ch, he's in and out of the Agency; he likes to get back to the hot-spot of his so he can
supervise his leadies, see that his villa is going to cone out the way he wants it--in ny opinion
he's anxious to view it now because he knows he probably won't live to see it conpleted. | like
himbut he's so strange and enignmatic; a recluse, actually; cones here, feeds his speech to the
"vac, stands around, talks a little, very little, then is gone again. But what's the error in
version B, the Pac-Peop version, that you know about and no one el se, even Brose, ever noticed in
all these years?"

Adans said, "lIt's in the scene where Hitler nakes one of his secret flights to Washi ngton
D.C. during the war to confer with Roosevelt."

"Ch yes. Fischer got the idea fromHess' flight to--"

"The inportant secret neeting between Roosevelt and Hitler. In May of 1942. \Were
Roosevelt--with Lord Louis Muuntbatten, Prinz Batten von Battenberg, representing Britain--inforns
Htler that the Allies will hold back the Normandy | andings for at |east a year so that Gernany
can use all her armes on the Eastern Front to defeat Russia. And tells him too, that the plot-
points of all supply convoys carrying war nmaterial to Russian northern ports will be regularly
made known to the Gernman Intelligence under Admral Canaris, so that Nazi subs can sink them wol f-
packwi se. You renenber the blurred distance shots that a 'Party conrade enpl oyed at the Wite

House' made of that nmeeting . . . Hitler and Roosevelt seated together on the sofa, and Roosevelt
assuring Hitler that he had nothing to worry about; the Allied bonbing will be done at night so as
to miss their targets, all information fromRussia as to their mlitary plans, troop dispositions

and so forth will be available to Berlin within twenty-four hours of their entering U K and U S
hands, via Spain."
"They converse in Gernan,
"No," he said angrily.
"I'n _Russian?_ So the Pac-Peop audi ence can understand it? It's been so long since |--"

Col | een said. "Right?"

Adans said harshly. "It's the arrival of Hitler at the "secret U S. Air Force base near
Washi ngton, D.C.' that the technical error occurs, and it's incredible that no one's noticed it.
First of all, in Wrld War Two there was no U.S. Air Force."

She stared at him

"It was still called the Arny Air Corps," Adans said. "Not yet a separate branch of the

mlitary. But that's nothing; that could be a mnor error in the aud conmentary--a mere nothing.
Look." He swiftly renpoved the spool fromthe scanner, picked up the spool of version B; eyes to
the scanner he deftly ran the spool, on and on, until he arrived at the scene, in episode sixteen
that he wanted; he then sat back and notioned her to follow the scene.

For a tine Colleen was silent as she watched. "Here conmes his jet now," she murnured. "In
for the landing, late at night, at the--yes, you're right; the commentator is calling it a 'US.
Air Force base,' and | dimy recall--"

"Hs jet_," Adams grated.

Halting the spool, Colleen | ooked up at him

"Hitler lands secretly in the US. in May of 1942," Adans said, "in a Boeing 707 fan-jet.
Those didn't cone into use until the nid-i 960s. There was only one jet plane extant during Wrld
War Two, a Gernman-made fighter, and it never saw service."

"Ch ny god," Colleen said, open-nouthed.

"But it worked," Adans said. "People in Pac-Peop believed it--by 1982 they were so used to
seeing jets that they forgot that in '42 there were only what they called--" He couldn't renenber.

"Prop planes," Colleen said.

"I think | can see," Adans said, "why the master nonad of the archives referred ne back to
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these, to the original source. All the way back to the work of Gottlieb Fischer, the first Yance-
man; the man in fact who dreaned up the idea of Tal bot Yancy." But who, unfortunately, had not
lived to see the sinmulacrumactually built--and brought by the two power blocs into use. "The
nmonad wanted ne to see," he said, "that ny anxiety about the quality of nmy work i s undue.
Excessi ve, because our work, our collective, historic efforts fromthe very beginning, starting
with these two docunentaries, _has been narred_. Wen you and | go out to fake things you and
and all the rest of us are just plain bound, at sone place, sooner or later, to slip up."”

"Yes." She nodded. "We're just nortals. W're not perfect.”

"But the strange thing is," Adans said, "I didn't have that feeling about David Lantano.
had a fear reaction and now | see why. He's different. He is--or could be--perfect. Not |ike us.
So what does that make hinf Not a human?"

"God knows," Col | een said, nervously.

"Don't say that," he said. "For some reason | don't care to think about God in connection
with David Lantano." Maybe, he thought, because the man is so close to the forces of death, living
there as he does in that hot-spot, seared day after day by the radiation. As if, although it's
burning him killing him he's inbibing back sone nystical power.

He was again aware of his own nortality, the delicate stability of forces that, fromthe
bi o-chem cal |evel on up, permtted a human being to exist.

But David Lantano had learned to live at the heart of those forces, and even to draw on
them How had he done this? Lantano, he thought, has a right to draw on sonethi ng beyond our

range; |'d just like to know how he manages it; I'd like to do it, too.

To Colleen he said, "lI've learned the thing fromthese spoils of Fischer's two
docunentaries of 1982 that |'m supposed to learn, so | guess | can knock off." He rose, picked up
the spools. "Wiat | learned was this. Earlier today | saw and heard a speech by a twenty-two-year-
ol d young new Yance-nman and it scared nme, and then | scanned these two versions of Fischer's 1982
docunentary, and what | |earned was this."

She waited, expectantly, with fem nine, earth-nother patience.

"Even Fischer,"” he said, "the greatest of us all, couldn't have conpeted wi th David
Lantano." This was what he had | earned, certainly. But he was--at |east right now-not sure
exactly what it neant.

He had a feeling about it, however. One of these days he and the Yance-man class as a
whol e, including Brose hinself, were going to find out.

11

A sensitive rugged little device, operating on a sonarlike principle and attached to his
suit, a sort of geologic version of what a submarine mght enploy, told N cholas St. Janes as he
| abored away with the undersized portable scoop that he had toiled at last to within a yard of the
surface.

He ceased work, trying to becone at |east tenporarily calm Because, he realized, in
approximately fifteen minutes fromnow!| wll break through and then | will be stal ked.

It hardly appealed to him this instinctive know edge that very quickly now he woul d
become a quarry.

Something artificial and conplicated, with thousands of accurate mniaturized conmponents,
with feedback and backup systems, with percept-extensors, power sources that were self-contained
and virtually eternal, and, worst of all, tropisnms that involved the essential quality of life:
the factor called _warnmth_.

The unhappy fact was sinply this: that by being alive he attracted attention; this was the
reality of the surface of Earth, and he had to be prepared for it, because he was going to have to
enter into a dodge, a flight. He could not fight. There was no way to win. Either he evaded or he
di ed. And the evasion nust begin the instant he broke through, and, here in the stuffy darkness of
the narrow tunnel, as he breathed canned air and clung insectlike to the spikes driven into the
tunnel side itself, he thought that perhaps it's already too |ate.

Per haps al ready, even before he broke through, he had been detected. The vibrations of his
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little overworked heated-up, about-to-give-out portable scoop. O his breathing. Or--and always to
this, the grotesque basic malign msuse of the basis of life--his body-heat night have triggered
of f an autononic nmine (he had seen themon TV) and the nmine would al ready have detached itself
fromthe spot at which it had screwed itself in until it had becone invisible . . . detached
itself and was now crawl ing over the rubble that littered Earth's surface |ike the bad renmins of
some dirty, gigantic, psychopathic, everybody-stewedand-falling-down all-night party. Crawling so
that it would intersect, neet himat the |ocus, the exact point, at which he broke through. Utter
perfection, he thought, in the synchronization of tinme and space as coordi nates between hinsel f
and it. Between what he was doing and what _it_ was doing.

He knew it was there. Had known, really, fromthe nonent he entered the tunnel and was,
frombel ow, at once sealed in. "You activists," he said, "you conmttee people; you ought to be
here now. "

H s oxygen mask stifled his voice; it scarcely reached his own ears; he experienced it as
a vibration transmitted through his facial bones. _|I wi sh Dale Nunes had stopped ne, he thought.
How could | know, he thought, that | could be this afraid?_

This nust be the neurol ogical spring that sets psychotic paranoia going, he reflected. The
acute, unpleasant awareness of being watched. It was, he decided, the nost ugly feeling he had
ever had; even the fear conponent was mnor; the sense of conspicuousness itself was the
overwhel mi ng factor, the unbearable part.

He started up the scoop; it groaned, once nore began to dig; dirt and rock gave way above
him and pul verized, burned, converted into energy or whatever the scoop did--a waste product |ike
fine ash filtered fromthe posterior of the scoop, nothing nore. Its mechani cal netabolism had
used up the rest, and so the tunnel did not sinply fill behind him

Therefore--he could turn back

But he didn't. He went on.

VWi ning, the insignificantly sized speaker of his intercomto the conmttee in the Tom M x
ant tank bel ow said, "Hey, President St. Janes; are you okay? W' ve been waiting an hour and you
haven't said a word."

He said, "The only word | have to say," and then he shut up; why say it? They had heard
the word before and anyhow they al ready knew how he felt. And anyhow-I amtheir elected
President, he realized, and el ected Presidents, even of subsurface ant tanks, don't officially use
words |ike that. He scooped on. The intercomwas silent; they had gotten the nmessage

Ten minutes later light flashed down at him a mass of dirt, roots and stones tunbled into
his face, and al though his goggles and nask, in fact his entire helnet-structure protected him he
cringed. Sunlight. Horrible and gray and so sharp that he felt urgent hatred at it; he clawed
upward, trying to lacerate it as if it were an eye, an eye that would never close. Sunlight. The

diurnal, nocturnal cycle again, after fifteen years. If |I could pray, he thought, | would. Pray, |
suppose, that the sight of this, one of the oldest of gods, the solar deity, is not the forerunner
of death; that I will live |long enough to see this rhythm of day and night, not just one scal di ng,

paltry gl ance

“I"'mthrough,” he said into the intercom

There was no answer. Either the battery had at |ast run down--but his helmet light stil
shone, although minutely, now, in the presence of the overhead ni dday sky. He shook the intercom
savagely; all at once it seemed nore inportant to find his way back to contact with the tank bel ow
than to go on--ny god, he thought, my wife and ny brother, ny people; _|I'mcut off _.

The urge to scranmble back down; it was panic; it made himstruggl e beetlelike: he tossed
dirt and stones up onto the surface and sent others raining down--he tore hinself |oose fromthe
tunnel, scrabbled and clutched at the clamy, flat earth which was surface earth; horizontal, with
no end. And he lay on it, fully, all parts of himpressed down as if he neant to inprint his form
I will leave an inpression, he thought wildly. A dent the size of a human; it'll never go away,
even if Ido.

Opening his eyes he |l ooked north--it was easy to tell north; he found it indicated in the
rocks and grass, the dry, brown, desperately sick tufts of weedy grass under and around him the
polar field drew everything, rotated all life toward itself--and then he | ooked up and was amazed
that the sky appeared so gray, not blue at all. Dust, he decided. From of course, the war; the
particles have never conpletely settled. He felt disappointed.

But the ground. Sonething alive staggered over his hand; it was a chitinous life form
whi ch he admired anyhow, just in his nmenory and know edge of it. The ant held sonme small white
particle in its mandi bl es and he watched it go; they were not bright, as a race, but at |east they
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didn't give up. And--they had stayed up here; fifteen years ago they hadn't run: they had faced
the Dies Irae, the Day of Wath, and were still here. As witness this sanple, this representative;
he had, in it, seen not one ant but all ants, and eternally, as if it had staggered by hi moutside
of tinme.

His intercomsputtered on, then. "Hey, President St. Janes! Are you through?" Jabbering
excitenment, contained in the niniscule apparatus.

“1'"mthrough."”

"Start telling; talk to us about it."

"First of all,"” he said, "the sky is gray because of the suspension of particles. That's
sort of disappointing."”

"Yeah, that's a shame!" They scuffled, hovered, at the other end.

Ni chol as said, "I can't nmake out nuch. The ruins of Cheyenne are to ny right; | see a
couple of buildings still standing, but otherwise it's pretty bad. It's a long way off, the ruins;
on the horizon. Closer to ne are boulders. Actually--" It could be worse, and he was puzzl ed.
Because far off he saw what appeared to be trees. "According to TV," he said, "there should be
that big mlitary base just across the Nebraska border; as we had planned |I'I| start northeast and
hope--"

"Don't forget," the speaker rattled excitedly, "that according to all the runors the
bl ackmar ket guys are supposed to be living in city ruins, in cellars and old H bonb shelters. So
if it doesn't |ook prom sing northeast head up directly north toward the renmai ns of Cheyenne and
see if you can contact soneone there. | nean, there ought to be a lot of real deep cellars in a
big city like that; a |lot of |local protection you know, on an individual basis, for one or two
fellas here and there. And | nean, don't forget; they know how to keep away fromthe | eadies;
they'd have to. Right? Can you hear ne?"

Ni chol as said, "I hear you. Al right; I"Il--"

"And you have that box of hot-foil scatter particles to throw the thermotropic killing
machi nes off; right? And the pellets for the constructs that are iserntropic--start flinging them
around as you go. Ha-ha. Hansel and Getel; right? Only you want_ the breadcrunbs eaten up."”

He got warily, unsteadily to his feet.

And then they had him He heard them nove; rel eased by his change of position they cane
and he turned with the neager weapon provided himby the smart shop boys fromthe tank. The first
| eady soared up as if heliumfilled and utterly weightless, so that the beam of his handmade | aser
pi stol passed beneath it; the I eady was an old pro and it descended, spiraled so that it was
slightly behind himas the other, bent over centipedelike, traveling at enornous speed directly at
him extended sonething which he could not nake out: it was not firing at him it was trying to
nip him He backed away, fired the m serabl e handnmade | aser pistol once nore, uselessly, saw a
portion of the |leady's anatony go, and then the other one, behind him hooked him The hook, he
t hought, of termination; the hook dragged hi mand he bounced over the rocks and tufts of weeds, as
i f caught by a vehicle that would not stop. He tried to disengage the hook; it had his suit and
some of the flesh of his upper back and clearly the | eady knew that he was hel pl ess; he coul d not
even turn over.

And then he understood why. Wat they were doing.

They were dragging himaway fromthe tunnel as fast as possible; first, the | eady which
had gaffed himfrom behind, and the other, although no |onger intact, which was still nmanaging to
fill in the tunnel entrance, sealing it; the | eady turned sonme sort of beamon the ground, and the
soil and rocks and tufts of weeds bubbl ed, boiled; steamrose and the entrance was gone,

di sfigured and obliterated. And then the draggi ng ceased. The | eady halted, shoved hi mupright,
knocked the intercomfromhis hand and crunched it with its pedal extrenmity. Systenmatically, the
| eady tore everything fromhim gun, helnet, mask, oxygen tank, spaceman's suit--it ripped and
shredded until, satisfied, it came to a halt. Stopped.

"You're Soviet |eadies?" N cholas said, then, gasping. Qoviously they were. Ws-Dem
| eadi es woul d hardly--

And then he saw stanped on the frane of the |leady closest to him not Cyrillic script, not
Russi an words, but English. Clearly enanel ed words, done with a stencil and one sw pe of a wi de
brush--but not done in a tank subsurface; this had been added | ater, when the |l eady had risen to
the surface by chute. Perhaps it had even been nmade in the Tom M x, but that was over, changed,
because the weird enanel ed notice read:

PROPERTY OF DAVI D LANTANO
AGENCY | DENT 3-567-587-1
| F RETURNED NO QUESTI ONS ASKED
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BUT CONDI TI ON MUST VARY BETWEEN
GOOD AND EXCELLENT

12

As he stood staring at the inconprehensible sign at its chest area the leady said to him
"Excuse us, sir, for our unpardonable treatnent of you, but we were anxious to renove you from
your tunnel and at the same tinme, if possible, close it over. Perhaps you can tell us direct,
maki ng possi bl e the avoi dance of using further detection devices. Are there any nore individuals
fromyour tank preparing to or in the process of follow ng you up?”

Ni chol as munbl ed, "No."

"I see," the l|eady said, and nodded as if satisfied. "Qur next question is this. Wat
caused you to tunnel vertically, in defiance of the fanmiliar ordinance and the grave penalties
i nvol ved?"

Its conpanion, the partially danaged | eady, added, "In other words, sir, kindly tell us
why you are here."
After a tinme N cholas said haltingly, "l--cane to get sonething."

"Would you tell us the nature of this 'sonmething' ?" the intact |eady asked.

For the life of himhe could not make out if he should say or not; the whole environment,
the world around himand these inhabitants, nmetallic and yet polite, pressing at himand yet
respectful, bew | dered himand made hi m di sori ent ed.

"W will allowyou a noment,"” the intact |eady said, "to conpose yourself. However, we
must insist on your answering.” It noved toward him then, a device in its nmanual extremty. "I
woul d |i ke you to submt to a polygraphic reading of your statenents; in other words, sir, a
measuring by an independent percept systemof the veracity of your answers. No offense is neant,
sir; this is routine."

Bef ore he knew what was happening, the lie detector had been clanped around his wist.

"Now, sir," the intact |eady said. "Wat description of conditions as they obtain here on
the Earth's surface did you provide your fellow tankers bel ow by nmeans of the intercom system
whi ch we just now rendered inoperative; please give us anple and specific details."

He said haltingly, "lI--don't know. "

The danaged | eady spoke up, directly to its conpanion. "There is no need to ask himthat;
I was near enough to nmonitor the conversation.”

"Pl ease run the playback,"” the intact |eady said.

To Nichol as' aversion and consternation there all at once issued fromthe damaged | eady's
voi ce box the tape recording of his own conversation with those below. Qut of the | eady's nouth
cane the squeaky, distant but clear words, as if the | eady was now himsel f, mimcking him
horribly.

" _Hey, President St. Janmes! Are you through?_"

And then his own voice, but slightly speeded-up, it seemed to him answering.
through_."

"I'm
_Start telling; talk to us about it _."
_First of all, the sky is gray because--_

He had to stand there, by the pair of |eadies, and hear everything once over again in its
entirety; and all the tine he wondered to hinself, again and again, _Wat is going on?_

At last the total conversation had been run; the two | eadies conferred. "He did not tel
them anything of value,” the intact |eady deci ded.

"I agree." The danmged | eady nodded. "Ask himagain if they will be comng up." Both netal
heads swivel ed toward Nicholas; they regarded himintently. "M. St. Janes, will you be foll owed
either now or later?"

"No," he said hoarsely.

"The pol ygraph," the damaged | eady said, "bears out his statenment. Now, once nmore, M. St
Janes; the purpose of your tunneling to the surface. | insist respectfully, sir, that you tell us;
you _must_ say why you are here."
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"No, " he said.

The danmaged | eady said to its conpanion, "Contact M. Lantano and inquire whether we
should kill M. St. Janmes or turn himover to the Runci bl e organization or the Berlin
psychiatrists. Your transmitter is operative; mne was destroyed by M. St. Janes' weapon."

After a pause the intact leady said, "M. Lantano is not at the villa; the domestic staff
and yard workers say that he is at the Agency in New York City."

“Can they contact himthere?"

A long, long pause. Then, at last, the intact |eady said, "They have contacted the Agency
by vidline. M. Lantano was there, using the 'vac, but he has left since and no one at the Agency

seenms to know where or when he will turn up; he left no nessage with them" It added, "W wil|
have to decide on our own."
"I disagree," the damaged | eady said. "W nust contact the nearest Yance-man, in M.

Lantano's absence, and rely on his judgnent, not our own. By neans of the vidline at the villa we
can perhaps contact M. Arthur B. Tauber to the east, at his demesne. O if not him then anyone
at the New York Agency; the point is that M. St. James has told no one below in his tank anything
as to the conditions on the surface and hence his death would be regarded by them as a bona fide
war casualty. They woul d be satisfied.”

"Your last point is well nade,” the intact |leady said. "I think we should go, then, and
kill him and not bother the Yance-man M. Arthur B. Tauber who anyhow would be at the Agency and
by the tinme we--"

"Agreed." The danmaged | eady brought forth a tubelike apparatus, and N chol as knew t hat
this was the dealer out of death; this would be it, for him wth no further debate: the coll oquy
bet ween the two | eadi es--and he kept thinking over and over again, _we nade them ourselves, down
in our shops; these are the products of our own hands_--this conversati on was over and the
deci si on had been nade.

He said, "Wit."

The two leadies, as if out of formal, correct politeness, waited; did not kill himquite
yet.

"Tell me," he said, "why, if you' re Wes-Dem and not Pac-Peop, and | know you're Wes-Dem |
can see the witing on both of you--why would you kill ne?" Appealing to them to the

extraordi nary perceptive and rational neural equipnent, the highly organi zed cephalic capabilities
of the two of them-they were type VI--he said, "I cane up here to get an artiforg pancreas, so we
can fulfill our quota of war work. An artiforg; you understand? For our chief mechanic. For the
war effort." But, he thought, | don't see the signs of any war. | see the remains, indication of a
war that has passed . . . he saw ruins, but they were inactive; there was a quality of age about
the | andscape, and far off he did actually see trees. And the trees | ooked new and young and
healthy. Then that's it, he thought. _The war is over . One side won or anyhow the fighting has
ceased and now these | eadi es belong not to Ws-Dem are not part of a governnental arny, but are
the property of the individual whose nane is stanped on them this David Lantano. And it is from
himthat they take their orders-- when they can find him But he is not at the nmonent around to

appeal to. And because of that, | have to die.

"The pol ygraph," the danaged | eady said, "indicates great nmentation on M. St. Janes'
part. Perhaps it would be hunmane to informhim-" It broke off. Because it had been pul veri zed;
where it had stood a heap of disconnected fragnments teetered, an upright colum that toppled and
rapi dly cane apart. The intact |eady spun about, spun full-circle, like a tall nmetal top; it

sought in a veteran expert way the origin of the force that had obliterated its conpanion, and
while it was doing that the concentrated beam of nurder touched it, too, and it ceased to whirl.
It collapsed, broke apart and settled and N cholas found hinself alone, facing nothing that |ived
or spoke or thought, even artificial constructs; the silence, everywhere, had replaced the fera
activity of the two | eadi es who had been about to dispatch himand he was gl ad of that, intensely
and absolutely relieved that they had been destroyed, and yet he did not conprehend; he | ooked in
every direction, as the intact |eady had done, and he, like it, saw nothing, only the boul ders,
the tufts of weeds, and, far off, the ruins of Cheyenne.

"Hey," he said |oudly; he began to wal k up and down, searching, as if he might stunble
over it, the benign entity, any nonent, as if it mght be fly-sized, a bug at his feet, sonething
insignificant that he could only | ocate by al nost stepping on it. But--he found nothing. And the
silence went on.

A voice, nagnified by a power-driven horn, boonmed, "Go to Cheyenne."

He hopped, turned; behind one of the boulders the man |urked, speaking but concealing
hi msel f. Why?

"I n Cheyenne,

the boom ng voice said, "you'll find ex-tankers who cane up previously. Not
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fromyour tank, of course. But they'll accept you. They'll show you the deep cellars where there's
m ni mal radi oactivity, where you'll be safe for a while until you can deci de what you want to do."
"I want an artiforg," he said, doggedly, like some reflex machine; it was all he could
think of. "Qur chief mechanic--"
"I realize that," the boom ng, horn-anplified voice said. "But | still advise, _go to
Cheyenne_. It'Il take you hours of walking and this area is hot; you nust not stay up here too

| ong. Get down into the Cheyenne cellars!”

"And you can't tell nme who you are?"

"Do you have to know?"

Ni chol as said, "I don't 'have to know.' But I'd like to. It would nean a lot to ne." He
wai ted. "Please," he said.

After a pause of overt, genuine reluctance a figure stepped from behind a boul der--so
close to himthat he | eaped; the nechanical reinforcenment of the voice had been a technica
deception to distract efforts to locate the origin of the sound--it had successfully given a
totally false inpression of great vastness and distance to both himand the latter of the two
| eadi es. And all spurious.

The figure who stood there was--

Tal bot Yancy.

13

Standing at the far end of the table Verne Lindblomsaid, "I think these are enough." He
i ndi cated the several weapons objects and then the neatly plastic-w apped bones and skulls. Terran
and nonterran; two distinct varieties, separate now, but soon to be mingled in the soil of Utah.

Joseph Adans was inpressed. It had not taken Lindblom the artisan, |ong. Even Stanton
Brose, coasting up in his special wheeled chair, seened surprised. And of course i mensely
pl eased.

The ot her person present had no reaction; he was not pernitted to: he loitered in the
background. Adams wondered who he was and then he realized, with a jolt of aversion, that this was
the Brose today who had infiltrated Runcible's staff; this was Robert Hi g, who would find one or
nor e--begin the process of turning up-these artifacts.

"My articles," Adans said, "aren't even in rough, yet. And here you have all the conpl eted
artifacts thenselves." He had, in fact, nerely begun page one of article one; it would be days
before he finished the batch of three, turned themover to the Agency's shops to be printed up
into their magazine form conbined with other, probably authentic, scientific articles of thirty
years ago, in prewar issues of _Natural World_.

"Don't fret," the ancient sagging mass in the notor-driven chair which was Stanton Brose
muttered at him "W don't need to produce the issues of _Natural World_until our legal staff
haul s Runci ble up before the Recon Dis-1n Council, and that'll take tinme; do themas quickly as
you can, but we can go ahead and have these objects buried--we don't need to wait on you, Adans."
He added, gratuitously, "Thank god."

"Do you know," Lindblomsaid to Adans, "that we've established this: Footenen, enployed by
Runci bl e, have warned him-or will warn himshortly--that _sonething_is being planned. Sonething
roughly of this sort. But Foote's people won't really know what. Unless one of the four of us in
this roomis an agent for Webster Foote, and that's unlikely. After all, only we four know "

"One nore," Brose corrected. "The girl who did the original draw ngs, especially the very
aut hentic skull remains of the nonterrans. It required enornous anthropol ogi cal and anatoni ca
know edge to nake these specs; she had to know just what alterations from Hono sapiens to indicate

greater ridge bones over the eye sockets, undifferentiated nolars, no incisors, less of a
chin, but rmuch greater frontal area of the skull so as to indicate a highly organi zed brain of far
nmore than 1,500 c.c. capacity; in other words, a race nore advanced evol uti onwi se than ours. And
the sane goes for those." He pointed to the | eg bones. "No amateur could sit down and draw fibul a
and tibia like she did."
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"And what about her?" Adanms asked. "Wuld she | eak any of this to Runcible or to Wbster
Foote's peopl e?" As, he thought, | nyself may well still do . . . as you, Verne Lindblom know.

Brose said, "She's dead.”

There was sil ence.

“I"'mout of this," Lindblomsaid. He turned, started |like a somanbulist toward the door.

Suddenly two Brose agents in shiny jackboots with their dainty cold faces nmaterialized,
bl ocki ng the door; god in heaven, where had they cone fron? Adans was appal |l ed; they bad actually
been in the roomall this time, but, no doubt due to sonme technol ogical piece of witchcraft they
had been absol utely inconspi cuous. Canmed, he realized; an old-tine much-used espi onage assi st

chanel eoned into the fabric of the room s walls.

Brose said, "No one killed her; she had a coronary. The pressure of work; she overtaxed
hersel f, unfortunately, because of the deadline we gave her. Christ, she was valuable; ook at the
quality of her work." He jabbed a flabby, pudgy finger at the Xeroxed copy of the original scroll
of specs.

Hesitating, Lindblomsaid, "I--"

"It's the truth," Brose said. "You can see the nedical report. Arlene Davidson; her
denmesne is in New Jersey. You knew her."

"That's true," Lindblomsaid, finally, speaking to Adams. "It is a fact that Arlene had an
enl arged heart and had been warned not to overtax herself. But they--" He glowered futilely at
Brose. "They pushed her. They had to have their material by due date, on schedule.” To Adams he
said, "Like with us. | got mne done; | can work fast under pressure. How about you? Are you going
to live through those three articles?”

Adans said, "I'Il live through it." |I don't have an enlarged heart, he said to hinself; I
didn't have rheumatic fever as a child, like Arlene. But if | had, they'd push nme anyhow, as Verne
said, as they did with Arlene, even if it killed me; just so long as | died _after_ | delivered

the goods. He felt weak, powerless and sad. Qur fakeproducing factory, he thought, demands a | ot
fromus; _we nmay be the ruling elite, but we are not idle_. Even Brose hinself needs to be
tireless. And at his age.

"Way didn't Arlene get an artiforg heart?" Robert H g spoke up, astonishing themall. H's
tone was diffident, but it remained a good question

"No hearts left," Brose nurnured, displeased that H g had entered the conversation. And in
such a way.

"l understood that at |east two-'

"None _avail able_," Brose anended.

In other words, Adans realized, they exist there in that subsurface warehouse in Col orado.
But they're for you, you hul ki ng, wheezing, dribbling, rotting old sack of fat; you need every
artiforg heart there can be, to keep that carcass functioning. Too bad we can't duplicate the
processes that sole licensed prewar manufacturer had devel oped

too bad we can't produce heart after heart here at the Agency's shops, or send an order by
coax to one of the bigger ant tanks for themto put together a batch for us.

Ch hell, we could produce a heart, here, he thought. But--it'd be a simulated heart; it
woul d ook like the real thing, beat like it . . . but when you had it surgically installed it
woul d turn out |ike everything we nake turns out. And the patient wouldn't get much life out of

that _.

Qur products, he realized soberly, could not sustain life for even a second. Conmentary on
us, on our efficacy. Good lord. And his sense of sadness grew, that vast, awful internal fog
pl ucked at himas he stood here in this busy chanber of the Agency with his fell ow Yance-nan
Verne Li ndblom who was also his friend, and his enployer, Stanton Brose, and the nullity, Robert
H g who, surprisingly, had asked the one pointed question; good for Hi g, Adans thought. For having
the guts to ask it. One never knows; you can never wite off a person entirely, no matter how
colorl ess and enpty and bought he seens.

Lindblom with gravity and reluctance, at last returned to the table of newl ooking
artifacts. Hs tone was | ow and sl owed-down; he spoke nechanically, w thout effect. "Anyhow, Joe,
since Runcible will inmediately carbon-date these, they nust not only | ook six hundred years ol d--
they' |l have to be six hundred years old."

"You understand," Brose said to Adans, "that otherw se we'd hardly have had Verne here
produce shiny new artifacts? Li ke your magazine articles, they'd have had to be aged. And you can
see; these are not."

Because agi ng, Adans realized, as Brose said, can't be faked; Runcible would ferret it
out. So--it's true, then. To Brose he said, "The runors. About a tine scoop of sone sort. W
al ways heard, but we didn't--couldn't be sure."

H g went on, but Brose cut in harshly.
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“I't"ll carry themback," Brose said to him "It can nove objects into the past but not
return anything; it's one-way only. Do you know why that is, Verne?' He eyed Lindbl om

"No," Verne Lindblomsaid. To Joseph Adans he explained, "It was a warti me weapon,
devel oped by a relatively small firmin Chicago. A Soviet missile got the firm including all its
personnel; we have the tinme scoop, but we don't know how it works or how to duplicate it."

"But it does work," Brose said. "It'll carry very snmall itens back; we'll feed these
artifacts, skulls, bones, all this on the table, piece by piece, into the scoop; that'll be done
late at night on Runcible's land in Southern Utah--we'll have geol ogi sts present to show us how

deep to sink them and a leady teamto dig. This part has to be highly precise, because if they're
too deep Runcible's autononic 'dozers won't turn themup. You see?"

"Yep," Adans said. And thought, Wat a use to put an invention like that to. W could
shoot back scientific data, constructs of unfathomable value, to civilizations in the past--
fornmulae for nmedicines . . . we could be of infinite aid to former societies and peoples; just a
few reference books translated into Latin or Geek or Od English . . . we could head off wars, we
could provide renedies that mght halt the great plagues of the Mddle Ages. W coul d comruni cate
wi th Qppenhei ner and Teller, persuade themnot to devel op the A-bonb and the H bonb--a few film
sequences of the war that we just lived through would do that. But no. It's to be for this, to
concoct a fraud, one inplenment in a series of inplements by which Stanton Brose gains nore
personal power. And originally the invention was even worse than that; it was a weapon of war.

We are, Adans realized, a cursed race. CGenesis is right; there is a stigm on us, a mark.
Because only a cursed, marked, flawed species would use its discoveries as we are using them

"As a matter of fact,"” Verne Lindblomsaid, and bent to pick up another of the bizarre
"nonterran" weapons fromthe table, "based on what | know of the tinme scoop as a weapon--t hat
little Chicago firmcalled it a Reverse Metabolic Distributor or some such thing--1've based this
on its design." He held the tubelike device out to Adans. "The Reverse Metabolic Distributor never
saw action in the war," he said, "so we don't know how it woul d have functioned. But anyhow
needed a source for--"

"I can't see your lips," Brose conpl ained; he swung his powerdriven chair rapidly, so that
he now sat where he coul d watch Lindblom s face

Li ndbl om said, "As | was explaining to Adans, | needed a source for 'nonterran' weapons;
obviously | couldn't nerely put a grotesque outer-franme on our own famliar weapons from Wrld War
Three, because Runcible's experts night find enough conmponents intact to pinpoint the resenbl ance.
In other words--"

"Yes," Brose agreed. "It would be an odd coincidence indeed if the 'nonterrans' who
i nvaded Earth six centuries ago just happened to have enpl oyed weaponry precisely |ike our own of
the last war . . . the only difference being, as Verne says, the outer case; what Arlene drew "
"I had to fill themw th conponents unfaniliar to our tinme," Verne Lindblom said. "And

there wasn't the opportunity for me to invent them so | turned to the advanced weapons archives
here at the Agency that contains prototypes that never saw use." He glanced at Brose. "M . Brose,"
he said, "provided ne entree. herwise | couldn't have gotten in." The advanced weapons archives
of the Agency was one of the nany sections of New York which Brose had "attached," just as he had
attached the artiforgs in the Col orado subsurface warehouse. Everything spurious was available to
all Yance men. But the real thing--this was reserved for Brose alone. O, in this case, by
extension, to a small staff working under his imediate direction on a secret project. Unknown to
the class of Yance-men as a whol e.

"So these really are weapons,” Adans said, absorbed in an alnost frightened contenplation
of the bizarrely shaped artifacts. _The fakery had gone that deep_. "I could then pick up one of
t hese and--"

"Sure," Brose said genially. "Shoot nme. Take any one of them point it at me, or if you're
tired of Verne, get him"

Verne Li ndbl om said, "They don't work, Joe. But after six centuries of being buried in the
soil of Utah--" He grinned at Joseph Adans. "If | could make themreally work | could take over
the world."

"That's right," Brose chuckled. "And you'd be working for Verne, instead of ne. We had to
get the--what did they call it?--the Reverse Metabolic Distributor prototype out of the advanced
weapons archives in order to make use of it retrograde scoopw se, so Verne had a good | ong
opportunity to open it up and fuss--" He corrected hinmself. "No, that's right; you were forbidden
to fuss, weren't you, Verne? My nenory's slipping."

Wbodenly, Verne said, "I got to |ook. But not to touch."

“I't hurts a manual type |like Verne," Brose said to Adans. "To be linmted to just | ooking;
he likes to feel things with his fingers." He chuckled. "That nust have been painful, Verne, that
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gli npse you had of the prototype weapons fromthe war, the advanced hardware that never got into
producti on, never reached our autofacts or the Soviets'. Wll, soneday ny brain will give out

arteriosclerosis or some such thing, a clot or a tunor, and then you can beat out every ot her
Yance-man and replace ne. And then_ you can go into the advanced prototypes section of the weapon
archives and putter and fuss and fondle with your fingers all day |ong."

From his respectfully distant place, Robert Hig said, "I'd like to be sure of a couple of
points, M. Brose. Now, |I find one or two of these objects. Al corroded and decayed, of course.
Shoul d | recognize them as nonterran? | mean, when | take themto M. Runcible--"

"You tell him" Brose said harshly, "that you know, because you're an engi neer, that what
you have is _not_ terran-made. No Anerican |Indians of the year 1425 nmde objects |ike that--hell
anybody woul d know that: you won't have to back up your report to Runcible with any engi neering or
scientific jargon; you show himthe weapons and tell himthey cane from the six-hundred-year
stratum and | ook at them-are these flint-tipped arrows? Are these unbaked clay pitchers or
granite holl owed-out grinding stones? You say that and then you get the hell right back to the
"dozers and see that nore and nore, especially the non-Honp sapiens skulls, get turned up."

"Yes, M. Brose," Robert H g said, and nodded obediently.

Brose said, "I certainly would like to see Louis Runcible's face when you show hi mthose
finds." His rubbery old eyes were wet with anticipation

"You will," Lindblomrem nded him "Since Hig will have one of those shirt-button caneras
going, conplete with aud track. So when the litigation begins we can supply proof that Runcible
was not ignorant of either the discoveries or their scientific value." H's voice was faintly edged
with contenpt--contenpt for an aging brain which could not retain all the facts, which had al ready
forgotten this vital part of the pcoject. To Joseph Adams, Lindblom said, "You know those little
action caneras. CGottlieb Fischer always used themin his docunentaries; that's how all the
"blurred fuzzy secret espionage shots' were obtained."

"Ch yes," Adans said somberly. "I know. " How little chance there was that he woul d forget
the existence of the fampbus shirt-button camera. Circa 1943, he thought acidly, according to
Fi scher. "Are you sure,” he said, "you haven't made these finds _too_ valuable? O such
fantastically great scientific worth that even Runcible--"

"According to the Berlin psychiatrists," Brose said, "the nore the scientific worth the
nmore fear he'll have of losing his land. So the nore he'll be inclined to hide the find."

"You'd have gone to a lot of work for nothing," Adans said, "if your Berlin psychiatrists
have guessed wong." And he felt within himthe hope that they had. The hope that Runcible woul d
do the reputable thing, would at once proclaimthe finds to the world--instead of delivering
hinsel f over to his enem es via his weaknesses, his fears and lusts, his greed.

But he had a feeling that the Berlin psychiatrists were right.

Unl ess soneone--and god knew who that mght be--canme to Louis Runcible's aid, the man was
dooned.

14

In the sun that filtered through the vine-entangled latticework of the patio of his
Capetown villa, Louis Runcible lay prone, listening to the report by the Footeman, the abstract-
carrier representative fromthe international private police corporation originating in London
Webst er Foote, Limted.

"On Monday norning," the Footeman said, reading fromhis conpiled docunents, "our
nmoni tori ng devi ces picked up a vidcall between two Yance-nen, Joseph Adans who is in |Ideas and
Verne Lindblomwho is in Construct, that is, a builder for Eisenbludt, generally speaking,
al though of late Brose has had himat the Agency in New York."

"And this conversation," Louis Runcible said. "It nentioned ne?"

"No," the Footeman admtted.

"Then for chrissake--"

"W feel--that is, M. Foote hinself personally feels that you should be given this data.
Allow ne to sumarize it."
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Dul ly, Runcible said, "Ckay. Sunmmarize." Hell, he thought; | know they're out to get ne. |
better be receiving something fromyou for ny noney besides just knowing that . Because | don't
need Webster Foote to tell ne _that .

The Foot eman said, "Adans and Lindbl om di scussed the next visual project which E senbl udt
will filmat his Mdscow studios; it will be the destruct of San Franci sco. Adans nentioned a new
speech which he had witten to be 'vacked and then progranmed to the sim 'Hand done,' he
described it."

"And for this |'m paying you--"

"“A noment please, M. Runcible," the Footeman said frostily in his English manner. "I will
now quote the direct words of the Yance man Lindblom as our monitors picked themup. 'l heard a
runor.' He was speaking, you understand, to his friend. 'You're going to be pulled off speeches
and put onto a special project. Don't ask nme what; ny source didn't know. A Footenan told ne.'
The Footenman was silent, then

"What next ?"

"Then," the Footeman said, "archeol ogy was nentioned."

" Hm "

"They joked about the destruct of ancient Carthage and the war fleet of Athens. It was
anusi ng, but of no relevance. Allow nme, however, to make this point. Wat the Yance-man Li ndbl om
said was untrue. No one fromour corporation informed himof any 'special project.' He undoubtedly
told Adans that so that Adans woul d not press himfor details. Cbviously his source canme from
within the New York Agency. However--"

"However," Runcible said, "we know there's a special project being inaugurated and that an
i dea man and one of Eisenbludt's fake city builders are involved, and that it's top secret. Even
wi thin the Agency."

"Correct. This is indicated by Lindbloms unw Ilingness to--"

"What's Webster Foote's theory about it?" Runcible asked. "What's he think might be going

on?"

"Since this vidphone conversation on Mnday the builder Verne Lindbl om has been
perpetually at work; he has slept either at the Agency or at Eisenbludt's studios in Mscow -he
has not had tinme to return to his denmesne and take his |eisure. Second. No speech by Adans has
been 'vacked this week. In other words, before he could 'vac the speech which he--"

"And that," Runcible said, "is _all_ you guys have found out? That's it?"

"W know only one nore itemwhich mght pertain. Brose |l eft Geneva several tinmes and flew
by high-velocity flapple to the Agency. And at |east once--and possibly tw ce--conferred with
Adans, Lindblom and possibly one or two others; we're not sure, frankly. As | say, M. Foote
believes that this 'special project’' is connected with you in sonme manner, and, as you know, M.
Foote relies on his mld but quite hel pful parapsychol ogi cal hunches, his precog ability to
foresee coning events.

"He does not, however, in this instance, foresee anything clearly. But he wants to
enphasi ze this point; _please notify himof anything unusual that occurs in your business
operations_. No matter how trivial. And contact M. Foote inmmedi ately, before you do anything
else; M. Foote is quite frankly, on an extrasensory |level, concerned as to your welfare."

Runcible said tartly, "I wish Whbster's concern had brought nore actual data to light."

Wth a deprecatory, philosophic gesture the Footeman said, "No doubt so does M. Foote
hinself." He shuffled and reshuffled his docunents, in an effort to conjure up sonething nore.
"Ch. One item Not related that we know of, but interesting. A Yance-man, fenale, naned Arlene
Davi dson, who has a denesne in New Jersey; the Agency's top draftsman. Died of a massive coronary
during the past weekend. Late Saturday night."

"Any effort made to obtain an artiforg heart for her?"

"None. "

"The skunk," Runcible said, nmeaning Brose. Hating him-if it were possible to hate Brose
any nore than he did already.

"She was known," the Footeman said, "to have a weak heart. Enlarged, from chil dhood, due
to rheumatic fever."

“I'n other words--"

"She may have been given a deadline for sonething nmajor; overworked. But that's
conjecture. It is not usual, however, for Brose to go so often out of Geneva to New York; he is,

after all, in his eighties. This 'special project'--"

"Yeah," Runcible agreed. "It nust really be sonething." Again he pondered, and then he
said, "Brose has, of course, penetrated deep into ny enterprise.”

"Correct."
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"But | don't know and you don't know -"

"W have never been able to tag the Brose agent or agents in your operations. |'msorry."
He | ooked, too, genuinely unhappy; it would have been a mmjor coup of Webster Foote, Linmited, to
have unearthed the Brose-creatures on Runcible's payroll.

"What |' m wondering about,” Runcible murnured, "is Utah."

" Pardon?"

“"I"'mall ready to give the signal to ny auto-rigs and | eady teans near what used to be St
George to go ahead." This was pretty w dely known.

"M. Foote is aware of that, but he has no recommendation; at |east none he passed on to

me. "

Rai sing himsel f up, then turning over and getting to his feet, Louis Runcible said, "I
guess there's no use in waiting. I'll vid themto go ahead and start diggi ng. And hope."

"Yes sir." The Foot eman nodded.

"Fifty thousand people," Runcible said.

“Yes, it'll be large."

"Who will be living where they ought to be, under the sun. Not down in a septic tank. Like
a sal amander at the bottomof a dried-up well."

Still shuffling his docunments, trying to cone up with sonething of use, trying and
unhappily failing, the abstract-carrier Footeman said, "I w sh you good |luck. Maybe next tine .
." And he wondered if, for Runcible, there would be a further report. This inadequate--
admttedly so--one today might well be the last, if his enployer Whbster Foote's extrasensory
intimation were at all correct.

And generally they proved to be.

15

From the mangl ed, badly distributed chunks that once had been high buildings, streets, the
intricate, strong structures of a major city, four nen rose to intercept Nicholas St. James. "How
come," the first of themsaid, and all were bearded, ragged, but evidently healthy, "no |eadies
detected you?"

Uterly weary, Nicholas stood for a tinme and then he seated hinself on a broken stone,
fished futilely in his coat pocket for a cigarette-- the pack had been ripped away by the | eady--
and then said, "Two did. Wien | broke through. They nust have picked up the vibrations of the
scoop. "

"They're very sensitive to that," the | eader of the group agreed. "To any machinery. And
any radio signals, if you for instance--"

"I was. An intercomto below They recorded the whole thing."

"Way'd they let you go?"

"They were destroyed," Ni cholas said.

“"Your fellow tankers came up after you and got them That's what we did: there were five
of us originally, and they got the first one up. They weren't killing him they were going to drag
himoff to one of those--you wouldn't know Runcible's conapts. Those prisons."” He eyed Nichol as.
"But we got them from behind. Only, they killed that first nan, or actually what happened was he
got killed when we fired on the leadies. | guess it was our fault." The man paused. "My nane's
Jack Blair."

One of the other bearded nen said, "Wat tank are you fron®"

"The Tom M x," Ni chol as sai d.

"And that's near here?"

"Four hours' wal k." He was silent. They, too, seened not to know what to say; it was
awkward, and all of them stared at the ground and then at |ast Nicholas said, "The two | eadi es who
had me were destroyed by Tal bot Yancy."

The bearded men stared at himfixedly. Unw nkingly.

"It's god's truth,"” N cholas said. "I knowit's hard to believe, but I saw him He hadn't
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i ntended to conme out; he didn't want to, but | got himto. | got a good close |look at him There
was no doubt." Around himthe four bearded men continued to stare. "How could | not recognize
hi n?" N chol as said, then. "I've seen himon TV for fifteen years, three or four and even five

ni ghts a week."

After a tinme Jack Blair said, "But--the thing is, there is no Tal bot Yancy."

One of the other nmen spoke up, explaining. "See, what it is, is that it's a fake; you
know?"

"What is?" N cholas said, and yet he did know, he sensed the enormty of it in a flash: a
fake so vast that it could not even be described. It truly beggared description; it was hopel ess
for these nen to try and he was going to have to see, to experience it, for hinself.

Jack Blair said, "Wat you' re |ooking at on your TV screen every night, down there in--

what'd you say? The Tom M x?--down in your tank, what you call 'Yancy,' the Protector, that's a
robot . "

"Not even a robot," one of the other bearded men corrected. "Not even independent, or what
they call intrinsic or honmeo; it's just a dumry that sits there at that desk."

"But it talks," Nicholas said, reasonably. "It says heroic things. | nean, |'mnot arguing
with you. | just don't understand."

"It talks," Jack Blair said, "because a big conputer called Megavac 6-V or sonething |ike
that prograns it."

"Who prograns the conputer?" Nicholas asked presently. The whol e conversation had a sl ow,
dream i ke, heavy quality to it, as if they were trying to talk under water; as if a great weight
filled themall. "Soneone,"” he said, "would have to feed those speeches to it; the conputer didn't-

"They have a | ot of trained guys," Jack Blair said. "Yance-nen, they're called. The Yance-
men who are idea nmen, they wite the speeches and feed themto Megavac 6-V and it does sonething
to the words, adds the right intonations and gestures for the dunmy to do. So it | ooks authentic.
And it all goes on tape, and it's reviewed in Geneva by the top Yance-man who runs it all, a jerk
named Brose. And when he approves the tape then it's put over the coaxial cable and transnitted to
all the ant tanks in Wes-Dem"

One of the other nen added, "There's one in Russia, too.

Ni chol as said, "But the war."

"It's been over for years," Jack Blair said.

Noddi ng, Ni cholas said, "I see.”

"They share filmstudios in Mscow," Blair said. "Just |ike they share the New York
Agency. Sone tal ented Conmi e producer named Ei senbludt; he stages all the scenes of destruct you
see on your TV screen. Usually it's in mm-done in scale. Sonetines, though, it's life-size. Like
when they show | eadies fighting. He does a good job. I mean, its convincing; | remenber and
sonetimes, when the TV set we have up here is working, we manage to catch it. W were fool ed, too,
when we were below. He, that Eisenbludt, and all the Yancenen; they've fool ed everybody al nost,
except sonetines tankers do come up anyhow. Like you did."

Ni chol as said, "But | didn't cone up because | guessed." Carol began to, he said to
hinself; Carol was right. She's smarter than | am _she knew . "Is all the world like this?" He
gestured at the ruins of Cheyenne around them "Radioactive? Just rubble?"

"Ch hell no," Blair said agitatedly. "This is a hot-spot; there now aren't very many |eft.
The rest is a park. They've nade the world into a great park and it's split up into their
denesnes, their estates; they, the Yance-nen--they each have entourages of |eadies. Like Mdieval
kings. It's sort of interesting." Hs voice died away. "But | nmean, it's not fair. At |east |
don't think so."

The ot her bearded nen nodded vigorously; they agreed. It was not fair. No doubt of that.

Ni chol as said, "How do you people live?" He pointed at the four of them "Were do you get
food?" And then he thought of something else. "Are there nore of you?"

“I'n our bunch there's two hundred ex-tankers," Blair said. "Living here in the ruins of
Cheyenne. We're all supposed to be in prisons, in huge condom nium apartment buildings that this
guy | nmentioned naned Runcible builds; they're not bad, not |ike the tanks--1 nean, you don't fee
like a rat trapped in a tin box. But we want--" He gestured. "I can't explain it."

"W want to be able to cone and go," one of the other bearded nmen expl ained. "But actually
we can't, living this way. W can't risk |leaving the Cheyenne area, because then |eadies would
catch us."

"Why don't they cone here?" N cholas said.

"They do," Blair said, "but they sort of don't--try very hard; you know what | nean? They
just go through the notions. Because see, this is part of a new denmesne that's being formed; the
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villa, the building, isn't finished yet or anything, and it's still hot. But a Yance-man has noved
in here, taking a chance. Trying to live, and if he does, if the r.a. fails to kill him then this
is his; it becones his denmesne and he's the dom nus."

Ni chol as said, "David Lantano."

"Right." Blair stared at himoddly. "How d you know?"

"It was two of his leadies," N cholas said, "that hooked ne."

"And they were going to _kill_ you?"

He nodded.

The four bearded nmen exchanged apprehensive, disconcerted glances. "WAs Lantano at his
villa? Did he okay it?"

"No," N cholas said. "They tried to contact himbut they weren't able to. So they deci ded
on their own."

"The dunb saps,” Blair said, and cursed. "Lantano woul dn't have let them |'mpositive.

He' d have been sore. But they were built to kill; | nean, a lot of |eadies are veterans of the
war: they have the reflex to destroy life. Unless their domnus tells themotherw se. But you're
lucky to get away; that's dreadful--1 nean, that gets ne. It does.”

"But," one of the other nen said, "what he said about Yancy; how can that be?"

"I saw him" Nicholas repeated. "I know it was him"

Jack Blair said, quoting an obscure text, " 'I saw God. Do you doubt it? Do you dare to

doubt it?" What kind of weapon did he, this guy who saved you, use? A |aser pistol?"

"No. The | eadies were pulverized. Into dust.” He tried to make it clear, how violent and
sudden an abolition of the two | eadies it had been. "Just nounds,” he said. "O old dry fl akes,
|ike rust. Does that nake any sense?"

"That's a Yance-nman advanced type weapon, all right," Blair said, nodding slowmy. "So it
was a Yance-nan who saved you; no extankers have that weapon; | don't even know what it's called
but it's left over fromthe war | suppose--they've got a lot, and every now and then a coupl e of
Yance- men who' re nei ghbors get into a beef over the property line, you know, where one's |and ends
and the next guy's starts. And they make a dive for the open section of the weapons archives at
the Agency in New York--that's where all that reading matter is put together--and they cone flying
back to their denesnes as fast as hell aboard those little flapples. And they lead their retinues
of leadies into battle; it's really funny--they plug away at each other, potshot |ike mad, destroy
a dozen or so leadies or maimthem and even a Yance-man now and then gets it. And then they send
the mai med | eady down below to the nearest tank to fix it up in its shops. And they're always
sequestering the brand-new | eadi es nade down below, to add to their retinues.™

Anot her of the bearded nen chimed in, "Some Yance-nmen at their denesnes have like two
t housand | eadies. A whole arny."

"Brose for instance," Blair said, "he's supposed to have ten or el even thousand, but
technically _all_ the leadies in Ws-Dem are under the mlitary command of General Holt; he can
pre-enpt, you know. supersede the orders of any Yance-nman, any dom nus of a demesne, and call for
its |l eadies. Except of course Brose." His voice sank. "No one can supersede Brose. Brose is above
themall, like for instance he's the only one who has access to the weapons archi ves where the
advanced types, the ones that never saw action, the really terrible prototypes are, that if they
had used there'd be no planet. The war just barely stopped in tinme. Another nonth and--nothing."
He gestured.

"I wish,” N cholas said, "I had a cigarette."

The four bearded nmen consulted, and then, reluctantly, a pack of Lucky Strikes was held
out to Nicholas; he carefully took only one of the cigarettes, let themregain the renmainder of
t he precious pack

"We're short on everything," Blair said apologetically as he Ilit N cholas' cigarette for
him "See, this new dominus who's starting his demesne here, this David Lantano; he's not a bad
guy. He sort of, like |I said, holds his |eadies back, when he's around to do it, so they don't
W pe us out or get us into one of those conapts; he sort of |ooks out for us. He gives us food."
Blair was silent for a tine, then; his expression, to N cholas, was unreadable. "And cigarettes.
Yeah, he's really trying to help us. And pills; he personally drops by with anti-radiation pills;
they help restore the red blood cells or sonething. He takes themhinself. | nmean, he really has
to."

"He's sick," another bearded ex-tanker added. "He's badly burned; see, the |l aw requires
he's got to be here on the hot-spot twelve hours out of every twenty-four; he can't get down
subsurface into cellars |ike we can; we stay bel ow-we just cane up because we spotted you."

To Blair he said, nervously, "In fact we better get back to the hovel right now W've
been exposed | ong enough for one day." He gestured at N cholas. "And him especially; he's been
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wal ki ng on the surface for hours."

"You're going to take me in?" Nicholas said. "I can live with you fellas; is that what |I'm
to under st and?"

"Sure." Blair nodded. "That's how our colony forned, here; you think we're going to boot
you out ? Why woul d we?" He seenmed genuinely angry. "For sone leady to kill, or--" He broke off.
"Some charity that would be. You're welconme to stay here all you want. Later, after you know nore,
if you want to turn yourself in, you can go live in a conapt; mnust be hundreds of thousands of ex-
tankers in those conapts--that's up to you entirely. But _wait_. Get your bearings." He started
off along a nmeager trail anong the rubble, a sort of goat path; the others, including N cholas,
followed single file. "It takes weeks sonetinmes," Blair said, over his shoulder, "to really sober
up, to shake off what you've been fed over what they call the 'coax' for fifteen years." Pausing,
halting for a nonent and turning, he said earnestly, "Intellectually maybe you accept it, but |
know, enotionally you can't right away, it's just too nmuch. There's no Yancy and never was--
_never_ was, M. St. Nicholas--"

"No," Nicholas corrected. "Nicholas St. Janes."

"There never was a Yancy. There _was_ a war, though, anyhow, at first; as you can see." He
gestured at the miles of ruins ahead of them At Cheyenne. "But Yancy was nmade up by Stanton
Brose, based on an idea of a West German film producer of the last century; you probably have
heard of him only he died before your tine, but they still were showi ng his docunentary, _The
Wnning in the West_, that twenty-five part series on TV about World War Two. | remenber it when
was a kid."

"Cottleib Fischer,” N cholas said. "Sure.” He had seen that great classic docunentary, not
once but several tines; it was considered in the sane category with _The Blue Angel _and _Al
Quiet On the Western Front _ and _The Dizzy Man_. "And he nade up Yancy? Cottleib Fischer?" He
foll owed the four of them eager and anxious; perplexed. "But why?"

“"To rule," Blair said, without stopping; the four of themhurried, now, eager to get back
down into what they called their hovel, their deep-chanber which had not been contam nated by the
H bonbs that had made this region what it was.

""Rule,'" Nicholas echoed, understanding. "I see."

"Only as you naybe renenber, Fischer disappeared on that illfated flight to Venus; he was
eager to be one of the first travelers into space, he just had to go, and that was that, because--

"I remenber,” N cholas said. The event had nade huge headlines in the homeopapes at the
tinme. Gottlieb Fischer's untinely tragic death; his spaceship's fuel igniting during reentry .

Fi scher had died in his late thirties, and so there had been no nore docunentaries, no nore filnms
equal to _The Wnning in the West_. After that only nonentities had foll owed, except, slightly
before the war, the interesting experinental films of sone Russian, a Soviet film producer whose
wor k had been banned from Ws-Dem. . . what had been his nane?

As he struggled to keep up with the swiftly noving bearded nmen, Nicholas renenbered the
Russian fil m producer's nane. Eisenbludt. The nman Blair had just now said did the faking of the
war scenes for the tankers, in both Ws-Dem and Pac-Peop, the visual "confirnmation" of the lies
that conprised Yancy's speeches. So at |ast the people of Ws-Dem had gotten to see Eisenbludt's
filnmns.

Qoviously there was no nore hostility between East and West. Ei senbludt was no | onger an
"eneny" filmproducer as he had been at the time Nicholas St. Janmes and his wife Rita and his kid
brother Stu had been prodded virtually at gun-point into descending into the Tom M x for what they
had believed, at the tinme, to be for perhaps a year at the longest . . . or, as real pessimsts
had forecast, two years

Fifteen. And out of that fifteen--

"Tell me exactly," Nicholas said, "when the war ended. How many years ago?"

"It's going to make you hurt," Blair said.

"Say. Anyhow. "

Bl air nodded. "Thirteen years ago. The war l|lasted only two years on Earth, after the first
one year on Mars. So-thirteen years you' ve been snow jobbed, Ni cholas, or whatever you said;
sorry, | forgot again. Nick. How s that: N ck."

"Fine," Nicholas nmurnured, and thought of Carol and Rita and old Maury Souza and Stu and
all the others, Jorgenson and Fl anders and Haller, Gller and Christenson, Peterson and G andi and
Martino and on and on, even to Dale Nunes; even to the TomMx's pol-com Did Nunes know? Nichol as
thought. If Nunes knows, | swear; | affirm | will in god's name kill him-I will do it with ny
hands so as to feel it, and nothing will stop ne. But it was inpossible, because Comr ssioner
Nunes had been shut up there with them But--not for all that time. Only for--
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Nunes had known. He had only a few years ago descended the chute, fromthe "Estes Park
Government, " from Yancy.

"Listen, M. Janes," one of the bearded nmen said, "I was wondering; if you didn't guess,
then what'd you come up for? | nean, you'd expect to find nothing but the war, and they tell you
on TV--boy, how | renenber--they'd shoot you on sight--"

"And that's what practically happened to him" Blair said.

"--because of the Bag Plague and the Stink of Shrink, neither of which exists in reality;
that's another fink snowjob they nmade up, those two bacterial plagues, although there really was
that hi deous nerve gas we invented, that New Jersey Chemical Corporation or whatever its nanme was;
a Soviet mssile got it, I'mglad to say, right off, including everyone init. But it's
radi oactive in this spot, although the rest of the surface--"

"I came up,"” Nicholas said, "to buy an artificial pancreas. An artiforg. Fromthe
bl ackmar ket . "

"There aren't any," Blair said.

Ni chol as said, "I'mprepared to--"
"There aren't any! Nowhere! Even the Yance-nen can't get them Brose has them attached; he
owns themall, legally." Blair turned, his face wild with rage; distorted |ike a handpuppet

withing fromthe twisting fingers contained within. "All for Brose, who's eighty-two or -three
and's full of artiforgs, all but the brain. The conpany's gone and now nobody knows how to make

them we're degenerate, | nean, that's what war does. The Yance-nen tried, but they didn't work,
grafted in, for nore than a month or so. A lot of very specialized techni ques dependi ng on what
they call 'highly sophisticated equipnent, you know, delicate tools and all--1 nean, it was a

_real war_ while it lasted; don't forget that. The Yance-nmen have their denesnes, and you guys
down bel ow nake | eadies for them and they fly around in their goddamlittle flapples, the Agency

in New York cranks out speeches and Megavac 6-V is kept functioning but--sheoot." He gave up
wal ked on in silence.

Ni chol as said presently, "l've got to get the pancreas.”

"You'l |l never get it," Blair said

"Then," he said, "I've got to get back to the TomMx and tell them They can cone up
they can forget the quota and the threat of having the tank abolished."

"Sure they can conme up. And be prisoners above ground. It's better; | agree. Runcible is

starting a whol e new constellation of conapts in the Southern Utah region; see, we hear a | ot of
news because David Lantano gave us a wi de-band radi o receiver, just aud, not vid, but we pick up
the stuff that's transmtted not to the ant tanks but |ike between denmesnes; they're al ways

bl abbi ng away to each other in the evening because they're lonely. Just maybe one guy in his fifty-
t housand- acre denmesne with his | eadies.”

"No families?" Nicholas said. "No children?"

"They're nmost of themsterile,"” Blair said. "See, they were on the surface during the war,
renenmber. Mstly at the Air Arm Acadeny at Estes Park. And they lived; they were the elite of the
US., the young Air Armcadets. But--they can't reproduce. So in a way they paid. Real high. For
what they've got. For having been the elite cadets in that great bonb-proof structure in the
Rocki es. "

"W paid, too," Nicholas said. "And | ook what _we_ got."

"You wait a while," Blair said. "Think it over about trying to get back to your ant tank
to tell them Because the way the systemup here is run--"

"They'd be better off," one of his bearded conpatriots put in, defiantly. "You' ve
forgotten what it's |ike down there; you're getting senile like old Brose. Runcible's nade sure
they're better off; he's a darn good construction nan, they have ping-pong and swi mm ng pool s and
wal | -to-wall carpet of that funny plastic imtation--"

"Then how cone," Blair said, "you're squatting here in these ruins instead of |ounging at
a swi mmng pooi in one of those conapt constell ations?"

The man grunted, gestured. "I just--like to be free."

No one commented; it did not require it.

But another topic did seemto require additional coment, and Blair, nusingly, supplied
it. To Nicholas he said, "I just don't get it. N ck. How could Tal bot Yancy have rescued you if
Tal bot Yancy doesn't exist?"

Ni chol as said nothing. He was too weary to speak

And anyhow he did not know.
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The first giant autonomic 'dozer groaned like a stiff old nan. And, as it dipped stink-
bugl i ke head down, tail up, the first scoop of earth-- and a huge scoop, too-was gathered, pried
| oose, swung up and then off to one side; the scoop of dirt was dropped into a waiting converter
al so on autocircuit, operating honeostatically, w thout human attention. Wthin its field the dirt
was transforned into energy, and that energy, which did not deserve to be wasted, was carried by
cable to a nmajor storage neta-battery assenbly a quarter nile away. The neta-battery, a
devel opnent whi ch had come shortly before the war, could store up power which, when read off as
ergs, consisted of billions of units. And--it could store that power for decades.

The energy fromthe neta-battery would provide electricity to run the conpl eted dwelling
units of the conapt buildings; it would be the source for everything that lit up, heated, cool ed
or turned.

Over the years Runcible had nmade his nodus operandi a highly efficient one. Nothing was
di scar ded.

And the real profit, Robert Hig reflected as he stood near the automatic 'dozer-or rather
near the first one; twelve had gone into operation sinmultaneously-cane ultinmately fromthe people
who would live in the conapts. Because, as they had worked bel ow ground in their ant tanks,
assenbling |l eadies to augnent the entourages, the private arm es of the denesne owners, now they
woul d work for Runcible.

The | ower floors of each conapt buil ding consisted of shops, and in these shops the
components for the | eadies were nade. The conponents, turned out by hand--the intricate network of
the surface autofac system having been wi ped out by the war. Bel ow ground the tankers of course
did not know this, had no idea where their supply of conponents originated. Because to let them
know t his woul d have been to | et them know -god forbid--that humans could |ive on the surface.

And the whole point, Hig reflected, is to see that they don't know, because just as soon
as they cone up we will have anot her war

At | east so he had been told. And he did not question this; he was, after all, not a Yance-
man; he was nerely an enpl oyee of the Agency, of Brose. Someday, if he were lucky and did his job
properly, Brose woul d advance his name as candi date; he would be legally entitled to seek out a
hot -spot for his denesne . . . assuming any hot-spots still existed by then

Per haps, Hi g thought, as a result of this one job, this major special Agency project, I|'lI
be a Yance-man. And then | can start paying those private cops of Wbster Foote to keep readi ngs
going for me in the hot-spots that remain; | can start the long vigil like David Lantano did up
until just recently. If he could do it, so can |, because who ever heard of him before?

"How s it look, M. H g?" a human workman yelled at him as all the 'dozers dug, dropped
their dirt into the converters, dug again.

"Ckay," H g yelled back.

He wal ked cl oser to exam ne the exposed hard brown dirt; the 'dozers were to go down fifty
feet, create a flat depression five square nmiles wide. In no sense was this an unusual excavation
task, in ternms of what Runcible's rigs could acconplish; the problemhere at the start was nerely
to produce | evel ground, rather than excavate as such. Surveying teans, high-type |eadies, could
be observed here and there, utilizing their tripod-nounted theodolites to determ ne the true
hori zontal plane. The digging, then, would not take nuch tinme; this was not |ike the days before
the war when the ant tanks had been buried--this was nothing in conparison

Hence the buried artifacts had to appear soon. O they would not be found at all. In |ess
than two days in fact the digging would be done

_|I hope_, Hig thought, _there's been no foul-up, that the damm things aren't too deep
Because if they are, then so ends the special project; it's over as soon as the first |oad of
concrete is poured, the first vertical steel shafts go in; in fact when the first plastic forns
are laid to contain the concrete . And already the forns were arriving by air-lift. Fromthe site
of the last construction job.

To hinmself he said, _So | better be ready. Any minute. To halt the 'dozers, stop the
scoopi ng and di ggi ng and whirring and wheezing; bring it all to a grinding halt. and then--_

_Be ginto yell nmy head off. _
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He tensed hinsel f. Because, within the brown hard surface, below the |evel of dead tree
roots, he already saw sonething glint, sonething snmeared and dark, that woul d have passed
unnoti ced except for his vigil. The | eadies wouldn't notice; the rigs wouldn't notice; even the
ot her human engi neers wouldn't notice--they all had their jobs.

As he had his. He peered. Was it just a rock, or was it the first of the--

It was. A rusted dark weapon; hard to believe, but the sane that he had seen | ast night,
shiny and new, just out of Yance-nan Lindblom s expert hands. What a change six centuries had
brought: Hig felt a terrible forbidding distrust of his senses--it _couldn't_ be what Lindbl om had
made, what he and Adans and Brose and Li ndbl om had stood together viewing on the table. It was
barely recognizable . . . he walked toward it, squinting in the sun. Rock or artifact? H g waved
to the 'dozer nearby, which automatically backed, |eaving the area vacant for a nonment. Descending
into the depression, H g wal ked to the spot, stopped by the enbedded, dark, fornm ess object.

He knelt, "Hey," he yelled, |ooking around, trying to find another human--not just rigs
and | eadi es. There was Di ck Patterson, another human, an engi neer enployed by Runcible, like
himsel f. "Hey Patterson!" Hi g began to yell. And then he discovered that, goddamit, the thing was
not an artifact; he had made his nmove too soon. Ch christ! He had flubbed it!

Approachi ng, Patterson said, "Wazit?"

"Not hi ng." Furious, Hi g strode back, out of the depression; he signaled the 'dozer to
start up again and it did; it groaned back into operation and the black object--nothing but a rock-
-di sappeared under the tread of the rig.

Ten minutes |ater the 'dozer exposed somnething that shone white and netallic in the early-
nmorning sun, and this tinme there was no doubt; at the ten foot level the first artifact had cone

to light.

"Hey, Patterson!" Hi g yelled. But Patterson, this time, was not within sound of his voice.
Reachi ng, Hi g picked up a nearby wal kie-talkie, started to broadcast a general call. Then he
changed his mnd. | better not cry wolf again, he realized. So he waved the 'dozer back--it seened

reluctantly, grunpily, to retreat under protest--and this tine, when he strode over to the object
he saw with furious excitenment that yes; this was it--a gun of a peculiar sort, deeply stuck
thoroughly lodged in the soil. The nouth of the 'dozer's scoop had actually shaved off the top

| ayer of rust, of soft corrosion, exposing still hard netal beneath.

CGoodbye, M. Runcible, Hig said to hinmself in exultation. Now | will be a Yance-man--he
felt intuitively positive of it--and you are going to learn what prison is |like, you who' ve been
buil ding prisons for others. Again waving to the 'dozer, this time to shut down entirely, he
strode with vigor toward the wal kie-talkie; it was his intention now to broadcast the code which
woul d halt all operations-- and would bring every engineer on the site and half the | eadies on the
run, denmanding to know what was up

Secretly, he switched on his shirt-button canmera and, at the sane tine, started the aud
recorder. Runcible was not here, but Brose had at the |ast nonment decided he wanted the entire
sequence recorded, fromthe moment Hig first called attention to the find.

He bent, picked up the wal kie-talKkie.

A laser beamcut him severed the right |obe of his brain and the skull and passed on
through his scal p and he dropped to the ground, the walkie-talkie falling and shattering. There he
lay. There he died.

The autononic 'dozer, which he had halted, waited patiently for a signal to resune work
At |ast, from another human engi neer on the far side, the signal cane; the 'dozer, with a gratefu
roar, started up.

Under its treads the shining, snmall nmetal object enbedded in the earth at the ten foot
| evel , exposed briefly to the sun after six hundred years, disappeared.

And in the next scoop it disappeared along with the dirt, into the converter.

Wthout hesitation the converter transformed it, with all its intricate wiring and
m ni aturized conmponents, along with rocks and dirt, into pure energy.

And, noisily, the digging continued.

17

file:/l/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (50 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

In his London office Webster Foote studied with a jeweler's |oupe-- ol d-fashi oned gadgets
fascinated him-the gradually unreeling photographic record which eye-spy satellite 65, owned by
Webster Foote, Limted of London, had taken during its pass 456, 765, Nor-Hem W

"Here," his photo expert, Jereny Cencio, said, pointing. "Al right, ny boy." Reachi ng,
Webst er Foote stopped the unreeling of the continuous positive; he swng a 1200x nicroscope into
position at the locus, manually adjusted first a coarse and then the fine focus-he had a slight
astigmatismin his right eye, so he utilized the left--and saw, on the film what Cencio wanted
himto see.

Cencio said, "This is roughly the regi on where Col orado and Nebraska and Wom ng cone
together. South of what once was Cheyenne, before the war, a major city of the United States."

"Ch indeed. "

"Shall | animate this segnent?"

Webster Foote said, "Yes. Please. And project it waliwise." A nmonent |ater, as the room
Iights darkened, a square appeared on the wall, projection of the segnment of film Cencio started
the ani mati ng equi prrent, which altered the filmfroma still into a sequence of several minutes.

Enl arged by way of 1200x m croscope, which intervened between the filmand the ani nmating
construct, a scene, |ooked down at from above, of course, could be nade out. A man and two
| eadi es.

As he watched, Webster Foote saw one of the |eadies prepare to kill the nan; he saw the
unmi st akabl e nove of its right manual extremity toward what he, as a professional, knew it carried
at that spot of its mechanical anatony. The man was about to be extingui shed.

And then, like a puff, a sneeze of dust, one |eady whisked out, and its conpani on whirl ed
frantically in what technically was called a circus-notion pattern, all circuits at peak-velocity
as it strove to locate the source of the destruct beam-and then it, too, condensed into
di sconnected notes that floated and drifted.

"That's all," Cencio said, and turned on the roomlight.

"That woul d be the denesne area of--" Foot consulted one of the police corporation's
reference works. "A M. David Lantano. No, not a denesne; still in preparation. Not a full year
yet; so legally it remmins technically a hot-spot. But under Lantano's jurisdiction."

"Presunmably those are--were--Lantano's |eadies."

"Yes." Foote nodded absently. "I tell you, ny boy. Go over all the adjoining segnents with
the 400x lens until you find the source of the destruct beamthat took out those two | eadies. See
who- -"

The vidcomin his office pinged; it was his secretary, Mss Gey, and the signal, three
wi nks of light along with the ping, neant that the call was urgent.

"Excuse me," Foote said, and turned to the full size vidset on which the call would be, by
Mss Gey, relayed for his attention.

The face of Louis Runcibl e appeared, heavy, rather ruddy and fleshy, the ol d-fashioned
rimess glasses . . . the donme of his head a little nore bald since Foote had |ast seen him a
little less of the fine white hair conbed across, ear to ear. "Your field rep,"” Runcible said,
"told me to call you the instant anything unusual occurred in ny business operations."”

"Yes!" Foote | eaned eagerly toward the screen, grabbed at the key of the aud-vid recorder
to be sure this call was pernmanently registering. "Go ahead, Louis. Wat turned up?"

"Somebody nurdered one of ny engineers. Lasered himin the back of the head, while he was
at the new site in Southern Utah. So your extrasensory perception was right; they're out to get
me." Runcible, on the vidscreen, |ooked nore indignant than frightened, but that, for him would
be natural .

“You can continue your ground-breaking w thout this nan?" Foote asked.

"Ch sure. W're digging away. We didn't even find himuntil evidently an hour or so after
it happened; no one noticed, with all the work in progress. H g was his nane. Bob H g. Not one of
my best, but not too bad, either."

"Keep digging, then," Foote said. "We'Il of course send a field rep to the spot to exam ne
the body of Hi g; he should be there within half an hour, rel eased by one of our substations. And
meanwhi | e keep in touch. This nay be their first nove in a sequence." He did not need to specify
who "they" were; both he and Runci bl e understood perfectly.

The call term nated, Foote returned to the exam nation of the continuous filmstrip nade
by the satellite.

"Any luck on pinpointing the origin of that destruct beanP" he asked Cencio. He wondered
if there were any connection between the nurder of Runcible's engineer and the taking out of these
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two leadies. It always appealed to him tying separate events together; he enjoyed a pattern which
wove all strands into harnony. But as the connection between these two despiteous events, however,
even his extrasensory vision did not provide himw th any know edge. Perhaps in tinme

"No luck," Cencio said. "So far."

"Are they trying to scare Runcible into stopping work in Utah?" Foote asked rhetorically,
al oud. "Because that's hardly the way; Louis can | ose engi neer after engineer and survive. My god,
with the weapons they have at the Agency, especially the advanced prototypes that Brose has access
to--they could wipe out the entire site, all the nmen, |eadies and machinery that |oiter around

there. And not just an engineer . . . not a top one at that.” It nmade no sense.
"No hunch?" Cencio asked him "No Psionic foresight?"
"Yes," Wbster Foote said; he had an odd inkling. It grewin his mind until it anounted to

a true precog revelation. "Two | eadi es dissolved," he said. "Then one of Runcible's construction
crewin Uah lasered in the back of the head, the nonment they start breaking ground . . . |

foresee--" He broke off. Another death, he said to hinmself. And soon. He exanined his round,
anci ent pocket watch. "It was the _back_of the head. Assassination. Look for someone in the Yance-
man cl ass.”

"A Yance- man- - nur dered?" Cencio stared at him

“"Very soon now," Foote said. "If not already."

"And we'll be called."

"Ch yes," Foote said. "And this time not by Runcible but by Brose. Because--" And his
extrasensory talent told himthis; plainly. "It'|l be soneone Brose is depending on; this wll
upset Brose extravagantly--we'll get quite an agitated call."”

"Let's wait and see," Cencio said, skeptically, "if you're right."

"I know I'mright as to what's going to happen," Foote said. "The question is--_when? "
Because his talent was very bad on timing, and he recogni zed this; he could be days, even a week
of f. But not much nore than that. "Suppose," Foote said thoughtfully, "the nurder of this person
was not directed at Runcible. It just doesn't hurt Louis enough; he can't be the target." Suppose,
he thought, _although H g was an enpl oyee of Runcible's, this is directed at Stanton Brose_.

Was that so bad?

"Do you |like Brose?" he asked his photo expert assistant in charge of all visual satellite-
tracki ng data.

"I never thought about it one way or another," Cencio said.

Foote said, "I have. | don't like Brose. | wouldn't lift my left little finger to help
him If! could avoid it."” But how could he avoid it? Brose, acting through General Holt and
Mar shal Harenzany, had an arny of veteran |eadies at his disposal, plus the advanced weapons
archives at the Agency. Brose could get at him at Wbster Foote, Linted of London, any tine he
want ed.

But perhaps there was sonmeone el se, sonmeone not afraid of Brose.

"W will know whether such a person exists," Foote said, "when and only when a Yance-man
valuable to Brose is killed.” As, with his parapsychol ogical talent, he foresaw

"What sort of person?"

"A new sort," Foote said. "O the kind we have never seen." That, as far as he knew, did
not exi st.

I will sit here at my desk_, Foote said to hinself, _and wait and hope to get a vidcal
fromfat, horrid old spiderish Stanton B rose. Telling me in lugubrious terns that an essentia
Yance-man in his immediate circle has been di spatched, and in no crude, barbaric but on the
contrary highly--as they like to phrase it--sophisticated manner. And when that call cones, | wll
go out on a two week binge_.

He began the wait as of now. By his round, archaic pocket watch, nine a.m, London tine.
And, in just a minuscule way, he initiated the celebration: he took one small pinch, one for each
nostril, of Ms. Cuny's Superfine Preferred M xture high-grade snuff.

On the main floor public corridor of the New York Agency, Joseph Adans, seeing no one in
sight, stepped rapidly into a pay vidphone booth. He shut the door, managed to deposit the neta
poscred coin.

"Capet own, please. The villa of Louis Runcible." He was shaking so badly that he could
barely hold the aud receiver to his ear

"Seven dollars for the first--" the operator said; it was a |eady, highly efficient and
bri sk.

"Ckay." Quickly he shoved a five and two ones into the slot, and then, as the connection

file:/I/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (52 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

was put through, Adans, with a convul sive, hasty but thorough notion, covered the vidscreen with a
handker chi ef; he had now bl ocked the visual portion of the transm ssion, |eaving only the aud.

In his ear a fermale voice said, "Mss Lonbard, M. Runcible's secretary; who is calling,
pl ease?"

Joseph Adans said hoarsely, not having to alter deliberately his voice to nake it
unrecogni zable; it energed that way on its own, "l have an absolutely urgent nessage for M.
Runci bl e's ears al one.™

"Who is this, please? If you--"

"I can't do it," Joseph Adans grated. "Maybe the line is tapped. Maybe--"

"What is it, sir? Could you speak up, please? And the visual signal doesn't seemto be

com ng through at all. Could you reconnect in a better channel ?"

"CGoodbye, " Joseph Adans said. _| just can't take the chance_, he thought in fear

“I'"I'l put you through, sir; if you'll just wait--"

He hung up the receiver.

Renovi ng the handkerchief, still shaking, he got to his feet, left the public vidphone
booth. Well, he alnobst had done it. Tried; | did try, he said to himself. So cl ose.

Then a wire? O a special registered 'stant nail letter, no nane signed, letters cut from
honeopapes.

Can't, he realized; can't ever do it. Darn sorry, Louis Runcible; the bonds are too
strong. The ties; they're too long, old, tight. I have introjected them and now they act as a part

of nme; they live here inside, within ne. Life-long. Now and now on

He wal ked unhastily, feeling a nenbrane of nunbness transport itself with him hovering as
he wal ked up the corridor away fromthe vidphone booth. Back to his own office. As if nothing had
happened.

Not hing had. It was gall-bitter truth: nothing, nothing at all

So it would progress on its own, the thing. Force he did not understand, substantial but
renote, eluding, butterflylike, his perception even at the edge: shapes that w nged across the sky
of his life and left no trail, no sensation; he felt blind and afraid and hel pless. And still he
wal ked. Because it was natural. And, for him there was nothing el se.

And as he wal ked, it noved. Stirred; he felt it roll forth. Coasting in a direction which
was unveering: straight ahead.

18

Across the cropped green |lawn, tenporarily abandoned now because this was night and the
| eady gardeners had gone off el sewhere into storage sheds and i nmmobility, the machine coasted on
rubber, hard wheels; it made no noise, orienting itself by the rebound of the radarlike signals
which it emitted at a frequency not customarily utilized. The signals had begun to return nowin a
succession which informed the machine that the | arge stone building--the tropi smof phase one of
its homeostatic but many-sectioned journey--lay properly on its path, and it began to slow unti
at last it bunped soundl essly against the wall of the building, canme to rest for a nonent as the
next stage of its cycle rotated, in the formof a cam into position

Cick. Phase two had begun

By means of suction discs extended fromstiff radii of a power-driven revolving centra
shaft the machi ne ascended the vertical surface until it arrived at a w ndow.

Entering the building by nmeans of the wi ndow posed no problem despite the fact that the
wi ndow, in its alumnumframe, was securely |ocked; the machine sinply subjected the glass to
sudden enor nous heat--the gl ass becane nolten, dripped away |i ke honey, |eaving a wide, enpty hole
dead center, where the core of the heat beam had been directed. The machine, with no difficulty,
travel ed of f the vertical, over the al um num frane--

And, poised nonentarily on the aluminumframe, it performed phase four of its tota
operation; it exerted the precise pressure on the rather soft netal that a two-hundred-and-twenty
pound weight, if resting there, would create; the frane yielded, bent until warped-- satisfied,
the machine then crawl ed on vertically once nore by neans of its radii of suction cups, until it

file:/I/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (53 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

reached the floor of the room

An interval passed in which the machine renained inoperative, at |east fromexterna
appearances. But within it seletoidal sw tches opened and shut. At last an iron oxi de tape noved
past a pl ayback head; through an audi o system current passed fromtransfornmer to speaker and the
machi ne abruptly said in a low, muffled, but whiny voice, "Damm it." The tape, expended, fell into
a reservoir within the machi ne and was incinerated.

The nachine, on its small hard-rubber wheels, again rolled forward, again orienting itself
batli ke, by its radar emanations. To its right lay a low table. The nachine halted at the table
and sel etoidal sw tches once nore opened and shut. And then the machi ne extended a pseudopodi um
the end of which it pressed firmy against the edge of the table, as if, for a nonent, it had
involuntarily eased itself of the burden of its own excessive weight, had rested there before
going on. And now it went on. Carefully. Because the ultimate tropism the man, was not far off.
The man slept in the next room the nachine had picked up the sound of his respiration and the
emanations of warmh fromhis body. Attracted by both, tropisns of each sort operating in
synchronicity, the machine turned in that direction

As it passed a closet door it paused, click-clicked, and then released an electrica
i mpul se corresponding to the Al pha wave of a human brain--of, in fact, one particular human brain

Wthin the closet a recording instrunent received the inpulse, deposited it as a pernanent
record sealed within a | ocked case buried deep within the wall, inaccessible except through
extensive drilling or by the proper key. The nmachi ne, however, did not knowthat and if it had it
woul d not have cared; it did not inquire into these ranm fications; they were not its proper
concern.

It rolled on.

As it passed through the open doorway into the bedroomit halted, reared back on its hind
wheel s, extended a pseudopodi um which deftly--but at the | oss of several seconds--1odged a single
strand of artificial cloth-fiber into the brass lock fittings of the frame. This done to its
satisfaction it again continued on, pausing once to excrete three hairs and a fleck of dried scalp
material; otherwise it had no need to interrupt its double tropismtoward the man asleep in the
bed.

At the edge of the bed it stopped entirely. The nobst intricate part of its overall cycle
now cane, by neans of a rapid series of switch openings and closings, into play. The case form ng
the hull of the machine radically changed shape as a slow, fastidiously regulated warmh softened
the plastic; the nachi ne becanme thin, extended, and then, this acconplished again tipped back onto
its rear wheels. The effect, had anyone seen it, would have been conic; the machi ne now swayed
like a snake, barely able to maintain its bal ance--it came to the verge of falling first to one
side and then to the other, for, slender and elongated as it was, it no |onger possessed a w de
resting base. However, it was too busy to preoccupy itself with the problemof its latera
oscillations; the master circuit which controlled it, the _clock_, as the wartime technicians who
had built it had called that assenbly, endeavored to obtain sonething nmore vital than upright
bal ance.

The machi ne, having conpleted its nobile, anbul atory phases, based on the doubly
reinforcing tropisnms of heat and respiratory rhythm was attenpting to |ocate exactly the beating
heart of the man asleep in the bed.

This, after an interval of minutes, it acconplished; it locked its percept system focused
on the beating heart: the stethoscopic effect of its sensors registered deep within it, and then
the next phase canme swiftly. It could not hesitate, now that the beating heart had been | ocat ed;
it had to act at once or not at all

It released, froman aperture at its upper lid, a cyanide-tipped self-propelling dart.
Traveling at extrenely slow speed, so that corrections of its trajectory could be achieved even at
the last fractional second, the dart nade its way fromthe upended nachi ne, veered slightly as
signals fromthe machi ne indicated the need of a minor correction--and then its needl e nose
penetrated the chest of the sleeping nan.

Instantly the dart ejected its freight of poison.

The man, w thout waking, died.

And, at his throat, a conplicated but extrenely fine band, as fine as gold wire, but
containing a variety of functioning electronic valves and surge gates, enmtted an el aborate series
of radio signals which were without time | apse accepted by larger units bolted to the underside of
the bed. These larger units, triggered off by the fine-spun collar which had reacted i medi ately
upon the cessation of blood circulation and heart action, at once sent out their own signals.

file:/I/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (54 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

An al arm -audi bl y--sounded; the roomclanged with the racket. In other parts of the villa

| eadi es hopped into activity, churning windm |llike at full throttle toward the upstairs bedroom
A further signal tripped an automatic coded call to | eadies stationed on the grounds outside the
bui l di ng; they, ceasing to be immobile, sprinted toward the building, lined up at the wall by the

bedr oom wi ndow.

The man's death rattle had awakened fifty diverse | eadies conprising his entourage, and
every | eady, guided by the rapid inpulses fromthe larger units bolted to the underside of the
bed, thanostropically converged on the scene of the assassination

The machi ne, having released its dart, now regi stered the cessation of heartbeat; it
t hereupon again warnmed its frame, sank back, becane square as before. It began to roll away from
the bed, its job done.

And then--minute cilialike antennae on its anterior surface detected the radi o signals
emitted by the large unit bolted to the underside of the bed. And it knew it would never get away.

From out si de, below the window with its enpty, fused-away entry hol e where gl ass had been
a type VI leady called up at full voiceanplification, "Sir, we are aware that you're in there
Make no attenpt to escape. A police agency individual is on the way; please remain where you are
until he cones."

The nmachine rolled on its small wheels away fromthe bed in which the dead man lay; it
detected the | eadi es beyond the bedroom door, waiting out in the hall, and the |eadi es bel ow the
wi ndow, | eadies everywhere, deployed in precise and expert pattern; it reentered the room
adj oi ning the bedroom the first roomthrough which it had travel ed. There, pausing, as a sort of
ejacul atory afterthought, it rel eased one drop of blood which fell to the carpet--the machine
swi vel ed, started first in one direction, then another, then at last all sw tches operated by the
_clock_within it shut down as the nmaster circuit accepted the totality of the situation; al
exits were barred and no notion was possi ble. Hence, one final-optional--phase of its circuit
clicked into play.

Once nore the plastic formwhich housed the conponents of the machi ne warned, flowed,
reshaped. This tine into the conventional figure of--a portable television set, including handle,
screen, v-shaped antenna.

In that formthe nachine settled into inertness; every active portion of its electronic
anatony cl osed down in finality.

Not hi ng remai ned; the end had been reached. A neurotic oscillation between two opposing
i mpul ses--the tropismtoward flight, the tropismtoward camm ng--had been settled in favor of the
latter; the machine, in the darkness of the room appeared externally to be an ordinary television
receiver, as its wartime makers had intended, under such conditions as these: when, due to overly
rapi d defensive response on the part of the defenders, the nmachine, although having conpleted its
task of assassination, could not then--as had been hoped for--escape.

There, in the darkness, the nachine remained, while below the enpty wi ndow the type VI
|l eady in charge shouted its nmessage over and over again, and, in the hall outside the dead man's
bedroom the solid phal anx of |eadies stood watchful guard, prepared to bar the departure of any
person or thing that mght be attenpted fromthe scene of the nurder

There it remai ned--until, one hour |ater, Wbster Foote, in his official capacity, was
adm tted past the phal anx of |eadies guarding the hall door to enter the bedroom

19

He had been summoned by a frantic, half-insane vidcall fromthe ancient Stanton Brose;
hysterically, Brose's image on the screen wavered with the kind of pseudo-Parki nsoni sm agitation
possi ble only in a neurol ogically damaged structure, one bordering on senility.

"Webster, they killed one of ny nen, ny best men!" Nearsobbing, Brose confronted Foote,
conpletely out of control, the random spasns of his |inbs fascinated Foote, who watched fixedly,
thinking to hinself, _|I was right. My precog hunch. And right away_.

"Of course, M. Brose, I'll go personally.” He held his pen poised. "The nane of the Yance-
man and the |ocation of his denesne."
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Brose spluttered and bl ubbered, "Verne Lindblom | forget; | don't know where his demesne
is. They just called ne, his death rattle; it went off the second they got him So his |eadies
trapped the killer, he's still there in the villa--the |eadies are outside the doors and w ndows,
so if you get there you'll find him And this isn't the first assassination; this is the second."

"Ch?" Foote murnured, surprised that Brose knew about the death of Runci bl e's engineer
Robert Hi g.

"Yes; they started with--" Brose broke off, his face rolling and unrolling, as if the
flesh, starved, were shriveling away and then seeping back, refilling the enptiness, the holl ows
of the skull. "My agents on Runcible's staff reported it," he said, nore controlled, now

"I's that all you can say? Verne Lindbl omwas--" Brose snorted; he w ped at his nose, his
eyes, dabbed at his mouth with | oose, wet fingers. "Now |listen, Foote; pay attention. Send a
commando team of your best people to California, to the denmesne of Joseph Adans so they don't get
hi m next . "

"Why Adans?" Foote knew, but wanted to hear what Brose had to say. The participants of the
speci al project--the existence of which he knew, the nature of which he did not--were being taken
out, one by one; Brose saw the pattern, so did Foote. Wth his pen, Foote nmade the note out: _c-
teamfor A's dem Now. _

"Don't inquire of nme," Brose said, in his deadly ancient voice, "'why' anything. Just do
it."

Correctly, stiffly, Foote said, "Inmediately. I'Il come to the Lindbl om denesne; a
commando team ny best, to support Yance-man Adans. W will be with Adanms from now on, unless, of
course, he has already been destroyed. Did he, like Lindblom-"

"They all," Brose quavered, "have death rattles. So Adans is still alive, but he won't be
unl ess you get there right away; we're not set up--ny people are not prepared--any nore to protect
t hensel ves. W thought it went out when the war ended; | know their |eadies clash over boundaries,
but nothing like this, like the war--it's the war all over again!"

Webst er Foote agreed, rang off, dispatched a commando team of four nen fromhis substation
in the Los Angel es area; then ascending to the roof of his corporation's building, followed by two
of his specially trained | eadi es who | ugged heavy cases of detection equi prment.

On the roof a high velocity inter-hem heavy-duty old wartinme mlitary flapple waited,
al ready chugging, started by renmpte from Foote's office; he and his two specially trained | eadies
boarded it and, a nmonent later, he was on his way across the Atlantic.

By vi dphone he contacted the Yance-man Agency in New York City and fromit |earned the
| ocation of the dead nman's denesne. It lay in Pennsylvania. By vidphone to his own GHQ i n London
he asked for and obtained--presented visually to the screen for himdirectly to exam ne--the folio
on Yance-nman Verne Lindblom to refresh his nmenory. No doubt about it; Lindblom had not been
merely _a_ builder, one of nany, but _the_ builder of the Yance-organization. The man had had
absol ute cone-and-go use of Eisenbludt's facilities in Mdscow

this, of course, Foote had ascertained in the original investigation of the "special
project” of which Lindblomhad been a vital part. The investigation, he thought tartly, which had
failed to turn up any useful thing.

Except that Brose's despair and babyi sh concern, extended to anticipate the sequentia
next -step death of Joseph Adans, confirned that the assassinations so far, Hig's and then
Li ndbl omi's, were the result of the involvenent of both nen in the special project; Foote perceived
this clearly, perceived the weaving strand that passed fromH g to Li ndblomand now, potentially,
next to Adanms--and, he reflected, nmay have involved a deliberately fatal assault on Arlene
Davi dson, |ast Saturday, but in a manner which at the time had seened natural. In any case Brose
had bl ubbered the admi ssion that this was a sequence involving the participants of the special
Agency project--Brose's project--and this neant that H g was, obviously now, a Brose agent on
Runcible's staff. So Foote's insight had been authentic; the nurder of Hi g had not been directed
toward Runcible at, say, the instigation of Brose; the nmurder of Hi g, as proven by the death of
Yance- man Lindbl om had ainmed at Brose for its ultimate target. The ruling Yance-nman hinself. All
this now ceased to be conjecture; it had becone history.

And still Foote had no idea what the special project was . . . or rather had been, For
now, it would appear, the project had been properly aborted. Evidently it had not involved great
nunbers of nenbers; perhaps Adans was the |ast, excluding Brose hinself, of course

That clanged loudly in Foote's professional nmind. Adans, a part of the project, now under
the protection of Footenen comrandos, ni ght under the stress of these circunstances be persuaded
to blab to one of Foote's expert personnel the nature of the special project . . . a venture
Foote had no doubt, which was intended to nake Runcible the target. Runcible was to have been the
sl aughtered goat, but--it had not quite worked out that way. The 'dozers in Southern Utah
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continued; Runcible had not been interrupted. But Brose had been: conpletely so.

In fact Foote could not recall ever having seen Brose--or anybody--so nessy in their
enotionality. So out of control. Foote thought, _This special project nust have been a critica
endeavor. Could it conceivably have been directed at the absolute and total elimnination of Louis
Runci bl e? I n other words, could we have w tnessed here the instigation of the final showdown
bet ween Brose and the fabul ous enpirebuil ding conapt constructor? Instigation--and rapid
col | apse! _

_My lord_, Foote thought nmildly, _ny field rep, in talking to Louis Runcible, and I nyself
i n vidphone conversation with him obtained no inpression that he was preparing such enornously
preci se and effective steps by which to protect hinself. Louise Runcible had seenmed utterly
unawar e- - even unconcerned--as to what was being prepared to ensnare him. . . how then could he
have responded so decisively, and in such short a tinme?_

And Runci bl e had not conprehended the neani ng of the death of his enpl oyee, Robert Hig;
that had been apparent on the vidphone.

Therefore, Foote realized, it is possible, even probable, that H g and then the Yance-man
Li ndbl om and before that the Yance-man-woman Arl ene Davi dson--none of these were dispatched at
Runci bl e's instigation, or even with his know edge.

The safety of Louis Runcible is being shored up, Foote decided, but not by the man
hi msel f.

An additional figure unglinpsed by nme, by Runcible, by Brose-- the additional figure--has
entered the arena and is conpeting for power.

He thought, I'mglad I'mcontent with what | have. Because, had | begun to overreach
mysel f, as Brose has done in this special project, |I might have found nyself the target--_and the
mar ksman, if this is accurate_.

20

Wthin the hour Webster Foote descended to the roof of the dead Yance-man's villa.

Shortly, followed by his two expert |eadies who |ugged the heavy cases containing his detection
equi prent, Webster Foote nmade his way down the deep-pile carpeted hail to the top floor of the
villa. Ahead he nade out a forlorn sight: a phalanx of alert |eadies, guarding a cl osed door
Wthin lay the body of their dom nus, the lord of the denesne. And, if the type VI |eady in charge
were correct--that leady still keeping watch outdoors in the night darkness-- the nurderer had
been trapped within the room at the spot at which the killing had taken pl ace.

Thus, Foote reflected, does the death rattle function. History has proven, tragically,
that one cannot, no matter how highly placed, insure oneself against assassination. But one can
threaten--and carry out the threat--_that the killer will be trapped_. At the instant of Verne
Li ndbl omi s death the machi nery of apprehension, encircling the killer, had gone into operation
and so it could be presuned, as the type VI leady so did, that when he, Wbster Foote, opened the
bedr oom door he would face not only a corpse (he hoped unmangl ed) but an armed, professiona
assassin as well--ready to fight it out to save his life.

Foote cane to a halt before the phal anx of |eadies, who, |oyal dogw se, waited, guarded in
dignified silence. Turning to his own two | eadies he said, "A weapon." He pondered as they set
down their heavy | oads, opened the cases, waited for a nore exact instruction. "One of the
epheneral nerve gasses," Foote decided. "To produce dysfunction tenporarily. | doubt the
i ndi vidual within has an oxygen tank and mask in his possession.” One of his two | eadies
obedi ently handed himthe long, slender cylinder with its intricate tip. "Thank you," Foote said,
and, passing through the phal anx of silent Lindblomleadies he reached the cl osed bedroom door

Presenting the tip of the cylinder to the wooden surface of the door--clearly the door had
been | ovingly sal vaged from sonme ol d mansi on--he pondered for a nmonment as to the vanity of life,
the fact that all flesh was grass and so forth, and then squeezed the trigger

The tip of the cylinder rotated at high velocity, bored in an instant through the wooden
but solid, not hollowcore, door, broke through, sealed the hole with plastic sline so that none
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of the gas could back up to affect the weapon's user, and then, on its own cycle, shot a fragile
sphere of neurol ogically disjunctive synapse-depotentiating gas into the room beyond; the sphere
| anded in the darkness of the roomand no power on earth could have intervened to prevent its
fracturing; the distinctive noise neant to be audi bl e reached Wbster Foote and he then exam ned
his round pocket watch and prepared to wait. The gas would be active for five mnutes and then
due to its own constituents, would turn benign. Entry, in safety, could then be nade

Five minutes passed. "Now, sir," one of his |eadies said.

Webster Foote withdrew the cylinder, returned it to the nearer of the two | eadies, who
placed it in the carrying case once nore. However, it was within the realmof possibility that the
killer had been provident, had come equi pped to counter this weapon with a neutralizing agent. So,
fromthe case, Foote selected a funny-gun, as an of fensive weapon, and then, after sone deep
t hought, the kind that tended, over past circunstances, to save his hide, he asked for a plastic
protective shield which he unfol ded, draped awkwardly but effectively over hinself; one of his
| eadi es assisted himso that at |ast the shield, capelike, covered himexcept for his shins and
Engl i sh wool socks and Londonfabricated Oxfords. Then, carrying the funny-gun, which was not funny
at all, he again passed through the phal anx of Lindbl om|eadies. And--opened the bedroom door.

"Aflare," he ordered instantly. The roomwas dark; no tine to grope for--grope and m ss--
the switch.

One of his two superbly trained ieadies without hesitation obligingly |obbed a safe-style
i ndoor flare into the bedroom the flare Iit up, a warm conforting yellow light that did not
dazzle but clearly illunm nated each object. There was the bed; on it, under his covers, lay the
dead nman, Verne Lindblom eyes shut. Peaceful, as if unaware; as if he never had been informed of,
made acquainted with, the fact of his painless and instantaneous death. Because this was obvious
to Foote; the relaxed supine state of the dead man indicated that one of the tried and true, |ong-
tested, much-used cyani de instruments had been enpl oyed. Probably a homeostatic dart directly into
the brain or the heart or the upper ganglia of the spinal colum. _Merciful, anyhow , Foote said
to hinmsel f, and he glanced around for what he anticipated: a conpletely hel pless adult male,
unabl e to nmove or talk, twitching in paroxysnms of arrhythm al neurological reflex arc activity;
unabl e to protect hinself or escape.

But the bedroom contai ned no such man. In that or any other state. The dead man, peaceful
under his covers, was alone in the room-he and Webster Foote: no one else. And, as Foote nade his
way cautiously into the adjoining room through which entry, by the wi ndow, had originally been
made, he saw no one there either. Behind himhis two trained | eadies foll owed; he saw no one there
and they saw no one there and they at once began opening side doors, poking into a bathroomwi th
wondrous nosaiclike tile, then two closets.

"He got away," Foote said, aloud.

H s two | eadi es said nothing; no comment was i ndicated.

Returning to the phal anx of Lindblom]|eadies guarding the bedroom hall door, Foote said,
"I'nformyour type VI below that they canme too late."

"Yes, M. Foote,"” the in-charge |leady said, and did so. "The response,” it informed himin
its metallic, gracious manner, "is that such could not be. The killer of M. Lindblomis in the
bedroom area; anything else is inpossible."

"According to your kind of deduct |eady |ogic, perhaps," Foote agreed. "But enpirical fact
says otherwise.” He turned to his owm two leadies. "I will ask you now," he instructed them "to
begin collecting data. Assunming that the assassin was a human, not a | eady, pay special attention
for the presence of organic traces. Dernmal deposits, hair.”

One of the higher-type Lindblomleadies said, "M. Foote, there is, within the wall, a
brain pattern receptor. Access to which we have the key."

"CGood," Foote said. "I'lIl gather its readings."
"Plus an audio recorder. This also in continuous operation."
"Very good." _If_ the assassin had been a human. _If_ he had said sonething. And if he had

passed near the percept-extensors of the brain pattern receptor. Wbster Foote thoughtfully wal ked
back into the bedroom then into the adjoining roomto exam ne the w ndow t hrough which entry had
been made.

On the floor rested a portable TV set.

Bendi ng, he took hold of it by the handle, ignoring the possible loss of fingerprints; it
was unlikely that the murderer had involved hinmself in nmoving a TV set around.

The TV set was too heavy. He could Iift it, but with difficulty. Al oud, Foote said, "This
isit."

Wthin «the rooms closet, engaged in unl ocking the unit which contained the brain-pattern
record, if any, one of Lindbloms |eadies said, "Pardon, sir?"
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Foote said, "This is the killer. This TV set."

"Sir," the Lindblomleady said and snickered, "a portable television set is not an
i nstrument by which a human death can be--"

"Do you want to take over the job," Foote said, "of finding your lord s slayer? O wll
you leave it to nme?"

"“You, of course, M. Foote, are in charge."

"Thank you," Webster Foote said acidly. And wondered how, if at all, he was going to
manage to pry open this object masqueradi ng-- chanel eoned, as it was called--as a portable TV
receiver. Because if he were right, it would resist being pried apart, had been built to wthstand
every sort of forced, hostile inspection

He had, then, a bl eak precog hunch. It was going to take days, even weeks, to get at the
works within this "TV set." Even under the pressure of his many, varied shop assists.

Here in his hands he had the death instrument. But a hell of a lot of good it was going to
do him

21

The clues. The trail, beginning at the bent alumnumfrane of the room s w ndow, where the
gl ass had been nelted away; Wbster Foote's two | eadi es crouched at the frane, photographed and
anal yzed the exact extent of the warpage of the netal, recorded its nisalignnent, calculated the
pressure, in terns of pounds, which would have produced such a warp

Foote's | eadi es gathered data |i ke the good and successful machines they were. But he
himsel f felt nothing, stared sightlessly; he was not interested, not invol ved.

"Spot of blood, M. Foote," one of the |eadies inforned him

"Good, " he said tonelessly.

The Li ndbl om | eady whi ch had opened the deeply enbedded case set within the cl oset wal
now i nformed him "The brain pattern recept shows on its pernmanent record, in its repository, the
presence of--"

"A man," Foote said. "Who passed by it and emtted an Al phawave pattern.”

"The aud recorder, too, contains--"

"The man spoke," Foote said. "He cane here to kill a sleeping victimand yet he spoke,
| oudly enough to get his voice on the iron oxide tape."

"And not only loudly," the | eady said, "but distinctly. Wuld you care to have that
sequence of tape rerun for you right now?"

Foote murmured, "No, I'Il wait. Later.”

One of his own |l eadies exclained in shrill, metallic triunph, "Three hunan hairs, not
t hose of the victim"

"Keep going," Foote said. There'll be nore clues by which to identify the murderer, he

said to hinmself. W' ve got his unique brain wave pattern, his distinctive voice; we know his

wei ght, we have hairs fromhis head, a drop of blood--although it seens rather strange that he
shoul d all at once have, for no reason, bled a drop, right in the mddle of the room a drop and
no nore.

Wthin the next few ninutes a fragnent of cloth fiber was found. And then, on a | ow table,
fingerprints, not those of the victim

"You can stop, now," Foote said to his two | eadies.

"But sir," one of themsaid, "we may also find--"

"That's all," Foote said. "All which the standard nodel 2004 Ei senwerke Gestalt-macher
produces. Voice, fingerprints, hairs, drop of blood, fiber of clothing, indication of body weight
and idiosyncratic Al pha-wave brain enmanation pattern--that's the extent and that's sufficient.
Based on those, any reasonably adequate conputer can pop a signal card; _you've got seven factors
of delineation_." And actually six were unnecessary. The brain-emanati on pattern alone--if not the
fingerprints--was adequate.

Thi s was what annoyed hi m about this wartinme West German invention; it overdid its job.

Ni nety percent of its circuitry, its activities, could have been left out--in which event as
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portable TV receiver it would have tended to possess the proper weight. But that was the German
mentality, their love of the Gestalt , the conplete picture

Now, with the trail of clues, the data which nmade the Gestalt, in his possession, the
question arose as to which popul ati on-catal og conputer to consult. Actually he had his choice of
three, and each possessed an enornous nenory bank, an adequate library of crossindexed reference
aspects; in fact, by an odd coincidence, the exact aspects which his teamof |eadies had for the
| ast hour been gathering in these two roons

He could go to Moscow. The big BB-7 would probably find himthe reference card to which
t hese seven aspects, this Gestalt, pertained. O the 109-A3 at Estes Park. Or even Megavac 6-V at
the Yance-man Agency in New York; he could utilize it, relatively small and specialized as it was,
inthat its nmenory file consisted solely of Yance-nmen past and present. Because, Foote intuited,
the Gestalt depicted a Yance-man and not one out of all the mllions of subsurface tankers; the
exi stence of reference cards representing themwas not required. So why not Megavac 6-V?

One very good reason presented itself to Webster Foote i mediately. H s client, Stanton
Brose, would automatically, at his _Festung_ in Geneva, be notified of the event, would be handed
a duplicate first of the data fed to the conputer and then the conputer's response.

And it might serve the interests of all parties concerned that Brose have that
i nf ormati on.

Therefore the big BB-7 in Mscow, which was the furthest renpoved from Brose's control

As Foote and his two | eadies, each of themagain |ugging a heavy case, got back into their
flapple, he said to hinself, | wonder whose card the conmputer will pop . . . and, theoretically
anyhow, set the wheels of punitive justice turning. Wat individual, within the Yanceman cl ass,
was this Gestalt-nmacher programmed to indict? Carefully, as he set the ersatz television set on
the seat beside him again conscious of its inordinate weight--the quality which it could not
conceal and hence that which had given it away . . . it could nmimc any object of its general size
but it could not decide to cease being affected by Earth's gravity.

He had, already, an idea of whose card would energe. But it would be interesting to have
his precog hunch verified.

Three hours later, after happily napping while his flapple nade the trip by nmeans of its
automatic circuit, Webster Foote arrived in Mdscow.

Bel ow hi m |l ay the you-ki cked-the-toy-basket-over-so-you-pick-it-all-up installations of
Ei senbludt's filmstudios; interested, as he always was, to view this i mense factory of the
counterfeit, Foote peered down, noting that subsequent to his last trip here the studi os had once
nore expanded: several new buil dings of pasted-together rubble had sprung up, |eady-built and
probably al ready buzzing of fkey with the industrious activity of cranking out fake destructs of
cities . . . as he recalled, San Francisco cane next on the Agency's agenda and this no doubt
meant bridges, water, hills--a nice nultisided entity to be erected by all the artisans concerned.

And there, where the original Kremin had once stood--before the U S. Queen Dido self-
guiding missile of Wrld War Three had abolished it down to the last particle of old red brick--
| ay Marshal Harenzany's villa, the second | argest denesne on Earth.

Brose's demesne, in Geneva, of course was by far the larger. Yet still this vast park with
its mghty and pal acel i ke, | ook-on-ny-works-ye-m ghty-and-despair central buil dings was
i npressi ve. And Harenzany's denmesne did not have that black, befouled quality of Brose's, the
sense of sone evil thing hanging upside down with ragged, aged wi ngs. Like his counterpart in Ws-
Dem t he marshal was underneath it all a soldier, not a pol-com _ex nmero notu_ sybarite. Just the
ordinary stag-party extraordi nary sybaritic type. A man who liked to live.

But al so, like General Holt, he remmined, despite his nominal control of an army of
veteran | eadi es, under the yoke of Brose.

As his flapple |anded, Foote asked hinself the question, _How really does an eighty-two-
year-ol d semi senile but still cunning col ossal abnormality, weighing god knows how many pounds,
manage to keep his power? Is it the fact that at Geneva he nmintai ns--owns and operates--an
el ectronic contraption, a fail-safe gincrack which, in a crisis, pre-enpts Holt and Harenzany in
their nmanagenent of the totality of the world' s leadies? O is there something deeper and | ess
crude?

It may be, he decided, what the Christian sect calls "apostolic succession.” The process
of reasoning would be this: before World War Three the military establishnents of Pac-Peop and Ws-
Dem held ultimate power; all the civilian governnental bodies were so nmany | eague-of -nations
relics. And those twin, conpeting establishnents ruled through a dem god, the fakes-factory of
CGottlieb Fischer; they ruled through their cynical and professional manipulation of all nedia of
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i nformation, including the sides of country barns, but it was not they, the mlitary, who knew
precisely _how_ to manipulate these nmedia; it was Fischer. And then the war canme, the two
establishnents struck a deal. And by then Fischer was dead anyhow, but |eaving one pupil. Stanton
Br ose.

But even bel ow that there seenmed sonething nore. Charisna, perhaps? That magi ¢ aura that
great l|leaders in history such as Gandhi, Caesar, Innocent IIl, Wallenstein, Luther, F.D.R have
had? O maybe it's sinply that Brose is Brose_. He has ruled since the termination of the war;
the demigod this time made it, usurped ultimate authority. And even before that he was powerful;
he inherited--literally, in the courts--the studios and instrunments that had been Fischer's. The
fakes-factory _sine qua non_.

(dd, Fischer's death, so sudden and tragic, out in deep space.

| wish_, Foote wished, | had that tine scoop gadget that Brose, by neans of the advanced
weapons archives, has access to. |'d send back a packet of tracers, detection neters to nmake aud
and vid tracks . . . 1'd have electronic tails pinned onto the posteriors of both B rose and

Fi scher in those days, from 1982 on; especially 1'd have a nonitor following Gottlieb Fischer up
to the nmonent of his death, just to see what really happened there when that ship, |anding on
Venus, tried to fire its retrojets--fired them and expl oded. _

As he disenflappled, the vidset of the ship said _pinnngggg_. A call for himfromthe
corporation's London GHQ probably Cencio, who was in charge during his absence

St eppi ng back into the flapple, Foote turned on the vidset. "Yes, my boy."

Cenci o, face appearing in mniature, said, "l've got an animation of the sector from which
that destruct beam enmanated.”

"What destruct bean®"

"That destroyed those two | eadi es of Yance-nman David Lantano. You don't renenber."

"Now | do. Go ahead. Who or what fired the destruct bean? A Yance-man, but which one of
t hen®?"

Cenci o said, "Qur shot, of course, is fromdirectly above. So we can scarcely make out the
figure. But--" He was silent.

"Go ahead, darn it," Foote said. "I'mjust about to go into Marshal Harenzany's office and-

"The man who fired the destruct beam" Cencio blurted, "according to the filmour

satellite took, is Talbot Yancy." He waited, Foote said nothing. "I nean," Cencio said, "it
_looks_ like Yancy."

"How much |i ke hinP"

"Exactly. We've enlarged it to life size. It's exactly what you, | nean _they , see on

their TV screens. No mi stake,"

_And I've got to go into Harenzany's office_ , Foote thought, with that piece of news in
my mind_. "Al right, my boy," he said. "Thank you. And by the way; god bless you for very fine
psychol ogical timng in giving nme that piece of news just now Wen | need it nost." He broke the
vid connection, hesitated, then went on away from his parked flapple, leaving his two inert
| eadi es aboard.

Yancy did it, he said to himself. Killed Arlene Davidson, then Bob Hi g, then Verne
Li ndbl om and next he'll kill Joseph Adans and after that probably Brose hinself and possibly, as
a chaser, ne as well.

A dummy, bolted to an oak desk, programed by Megavac 6-V. Stood behind a boulder in the
Cheyenne hot-spot and fired a destruct beamat two veteran | eadies. To save the life of what was
undoubt edly just another poor tanker who had bored his way to the surface for a breath of fresh
air and a glinpse again, briefly, of the sun. An ex-tanker, now, squatting in the ruins of
Cheyenne with the rest of them living for, waiting for, god only knows what. And then this dumy,
this simulacrumcalled Tal bot Yancy, w thout anyone at the Agency noticing, returned to its oak
desk, rebolted itself back in place, resunmed its conputer-programed speech-delivering existence

Resi gned--accepting the insanity of it all--Wbster Foote continued on to the down-ranp of
the roof field, to Marshal Harenzany's office.

Hal f an hour later, with a |arge | egal docunent granting perm ssion to use the conputer,
suppli ed by one of Harenzany's clerks, he stood before the big Soviet conputer BB-7, and, with the
help of the friendly, correct Russian technicians, fed in the seven spurious data el enents which
his team of |eadies had uncovered, the trail of cover clues laid down by the Gestalt-nacher

BB-7, | oom ng ceiling-high before him began to process, to sort through its human
catal og. And presently, as Foote had anticipated, one single punched elongated card slithered from
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the slot and cane to rest in the wire basket.

He picked up the card, read the name typed on it.

He precog hunch had been correct; he thanked the hel pful Russian technicians, found an up-
ranp, ascended to his parked fl apple.

The card had read, BROSE STANTON

Exactly as he had anti ci pat ed.

Had the nachine, the Gestalt-macher, which now rested beside himin its canmed form of
portable TV set, managed to get away--had Li ndbl om not possessed a death-rattle--the evidence
woul d | egal |y speaking be pure and absolute in the direction to which it pointed. It would appear
beyond a reasonabl e doubt that Stanton Brose, the man who had hired Foote to ook into this fel ony
was the killer. But of course Brose was not; the object beside Foote proved it.

Unl ess he was wrong. Suppose this was not_a Gestalt-macher. He would not know for
certain--could not _prove_ it--until he got the machi ne open, actually saw its works.

And meanwhil e, as he and his shopnen struggled to open the machi ne, and what a good, hard,
long struggle it would be, Brose would be on the vidphone relentlessly, demanding to know what the
clues, picked up at Lindbloms villa, indicated. Whiomdid they point to?

| can see nyself saying, "To thyself, M. Brose," Foote thought to hinself archly. "Thou
art the nmurderer and hence | aboninate thee and | now put thee under arrest and will see that thou
art arraigned before the Recon Dis-In Council."

Hi | ari ous thought.

However, he felt no mirth. Neither by that nor by the recognition of the fight he had on
his hands to get open the object beside him There were plastics so tough, so beyond the power of
ordinary drills and therno fields .

And all the tine in the back of his mnd he was thinking, Is there a Tal bot Yancy? And if
so, _how?_

He did not understand it at all

And yet his job demanded that he, of all people, make sense out of this. If _he_ couldn't
who coul d?

Meanwhi | e, Foote decided, | will tell Brose nothing. O rather, as little as | can get
away W th.

His intuition, his Psionic hunch, remained; it was not to anyone's benefit--including his
own--to tell Stanton Brose the facts at this point ascertai ned.

Because Brose--and this was what nade himso personally uneasy-- m ght know what they
meant _and m ght know what to do with them_

22

To Nicholas the bearded ex-tanker Jack Blair said dolefully, "I guess we don't have a cot
for you to sleep on, Nick. Not right away. So you'll have to bed down on the cenment."

They stood in the di mbasenent of what had once been an insurance conpany's centra
of fices. The insurance conpany had | ong ago vani shed, along with its mghty concrete and stee
structure; the basenent, however, renmi ned. And was nuch appreci at ed.

And all around, on every side, N cholas saw ot her ex-tankers, now residents in a sense of
the surface. But still so conpletely, pal pably deprived; so devoid, in the nost literal physica
sense, of what was theirs.

"Not much of a way," Blair said, seeing his expression, "of inheriting the Earth. Maybe we
haven't been neek enough.”

"Maybe too neek," Nichol as sai d.

"You're beginning to feel that hate," Blair said acutely. "The desire to get back at them
It's a fine idea. But how? If you think of a way, tell us; all of us. Meanwhile--" He began
searching around. "A nore inmedi ate issue is your need for bedding. Lantano gave us--"

"I"'d like to see this Lantano,"” Nicholas said. "This one Yance-man that seens to have a
decent gene or two." And through him he thought, bargain for the artiforg.

Blair said, "You should get to, pretty soon. This is usually just about the time he drops
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by. You'll recognize himbecause he's so dark. Fromthe radiation burns."
said quietly, "Here he is now "

The man who had entered the basenent shelter had not cone alone; behind hima file of
| eadi es lurched under their |oads, supplies for the ex-tankers squatting here in the ruins. And he
was dark; his skin shone a reddish-black. But, N cholas realized, not fromradiation burns.

And, as Lantano made his way through the basenent, anong the cots, stepping over people,
their neager stores, saying hello here, smling to soneone there, N cholas thought, M god, when
he cane through the entrance he | ooked |ike an old man, weathered, dried-out, but now, closer
Lant ano appeared ni ddl e-aged; the aura of extrene age had been an illusion due to the scrawny
quality of the nman and the peculiar stiffness in the way he wal ked; it was as if he were delicate,
feared an injury, a fall. _

Going up to him N cholas said, "M. Lantano."

The nman with the retinue of |eadi es--who were now opening their bundl es and spreadi ng out
the contents for distribution--stopped, glanced at N cholas. "Yes?" he said, with a ragged,
burdened and quite fleeting smile of greeting.

Bl ai r plucked at Nicholas' sleeve. "Don't keep himlong; remenber he's sick. Fromthe
burns. He's got to nmake it back to his villa so he can lie down." To the dark man, Blair said,
"lIsn't that right, M. Lantano?"

Noddi ng, the dark man continued to gaze at Nicholas. "Yes, M. Blair. | amsick. Qherw se
I would get here oftener.” Lantano turned, then, to be sure his |leadies were distributing their
goods as rapidly and efficiently as possible; he turned his attention away from N chol as.

"He was oppressed and despi sed,” N chol as said.

At once Lantano turned back, eyed himintently; his eyes, black, deep-set, burned as if
overpowered, as if the surge of energy within himhad gone beyond the safe Iimt--the blaze seened
to consune the actual organ of sight through which it found expression, and N cholas felt awe.
"Yes, ny friend. What was it you asked ne for? A bed to sleep on?"

"That's right," Blair chined in eagerly. "W're out of cots, M. Lantano; we could use ten
nore, in fact, just to be on the safe side, because there's always sonebody like this N ck St
James here every day, it seens |like. Mdre and nore all the tine."

He gl anced up and then

"Perhaps,” Lantano said, "the illusion is wearing thin. An error here and there. A weak
video signal that interrupts . . . is that why you cane up, N ck?"
"No," N cholas said. "I want a pancreas. | have twenty thousand dollars." He reached into

what remmi ned--after the mauling by the | eady--of his coat. But the wallet was gone. It had fallen
then, when the | eady had clawed him or when it had hooked and dragged him or during the hours of

walking . . . any tine. He had no idea. He stood, enpty-handed, with no idea what to say or do; he
sinply stood facing Lantano in sil ence.

After a tinme Lantano said, "I couldn't have gotten it for you anyhow, Nick." H's tone was
faint but conpassionate. And the eyes. They still burned. Still overpowered by the flane that was
not nere life; it was archetypal--it went beyond the individual, the nere animal man as such. It

drew from whatever final source energy of this sort sprang; Nicholas had no idea about it, no
under st andi ng: he had never seen it before.

"Like | said,” Blair renminded him "That Brose has got--"

Lantano said, "Your quote was wrong. 'He was despised and rejected of nen.' Did you nmean
me?" He indicated his retinue of |eadies, who by now had finished distributing their stores to the
ex-tankers. "lI'mnot doing too badly. Nick; | have forty |eadies, not bad for a start. Especially
not bad considering this legally is still only a hot-spot and not a denesne."

"“Your color," N cholas said. "Your skin."

"Chrissakes!" Blair grated, grabbing at him drawing himaway from Lantano. In an angry
| ow voice he said into Nicholas's ear, "Wat do you want to do, enbarrass hin? He knows he's
burned; ny god, he cones here and keeps us alive and you go and--"

"But he's not burned," Nicholas said. He's an Indian_, he said to hinself. _A full-
bl ooded Cherokee, fromthe | ooks of his nose. And he's explained his skin color away as radiation
burns; why? |Is there some law that would bar himfrombeing . . . he could not remenber the term
Yance-man. Part of those who ruled; the insiders. Maybe it was strictly white, as back in the old
days, the previous prejudiced centuries.

Lantano said, "M. St. Janes, Nick--1"msorry you had such a traumatic first-neeting with
my retinue, today. Those two | eadies; they were so militant because--" H's voice was caln he
seermed tranquil, not disturbed by anything Nicholas had said: he was not really sensitive about
his skin; Blair was conmpletely wong. "--other denesne owners," Lantano was sayi ng, "bordering
this hot-spot. They'd like to acquire it. They send their leadies in to make Cei ger counter
readi ngs; they're hoping it's too hot, that it'll kill nme, and then this area will be open once
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nmore." He smled. Gimy.

"I's it too hot?" N cholas asked him "Wat do their readings give?"

"Their readi ngs give nothing. Because they never survive. My own netallic conpani ons
destroy them how hot this area has becone is ny business alone. But--you see, that nakes ny
| eadi es dangerous. Try to understand, Nick; | had to pick those who were old vets of the war; |
needed their toughness, their training and ability. Yance-men-- you understand that tern®--prize
the new, undented, undanaged | eadi es being m nted below. But | have such a special problent | nust
defend nyself." His voice, hauntingly nelodic, was alnost a chant, as if only hal f-uttered;

Ni chol as had to strain to hear it. As if, he thought, Lantano was becom ng unreal. Fading.

And, as he | ooked once nore at the dark man he again nade out the lines of age, and this
time, with those lines, a fam liar configuration. As if, in aging, Lantano had becone--soneone
el se.

"Ni ck," Lantano said softly, "what was that about my skin?"

There was silence; he did not say.

"Go ahead," Lantano said.

"You're a--" He scrutinized Lantano intently and now, instead of age he saw-a youth. A
suppl e man, younger than hinmself; no nore than nineteen or twenty. It nust be the radiation
Ni chol as thought; it consunes him the very marrow of his bones. Wthers, calcifies, speeds up the
destroying of cell-walls, of tissue; he is sick--Blair was right.

And yet the man rehealed. Visibly. It was as if he oscillated; he swing into degeneration
into subnission to the radioactivity with which he had, twelve hours a day, tolive . . . and
then, as it ate him he pulled hinmself back fromthe edge; he was recharged.

Time curled and poked at him tinkered insidiously at the metabolismof his body. But--
never totally overtook him Never really won.

"'Blessed,' " Nicholas said, " '"are the peacenmakers.' " He then was silent. That seened to
be the extent of his contribution. He could not say what he knew, what his hobby of years, his
interest in North Anerican Indians and their artifacts and culture, had provided himas a basis
for understandi ng what these other ex-tankers around himhad not, could not; their own phobias

about radiation, phobias devel oped while still belowin their tanks, and now augnmented, had m sl ed
them concealed fromthemwhat was to his eyes obvi ous.
And yet he was still puzzled, because obviously Lantano had all owed themto think of him

this way, as injured, burned. And--he did seemto be wounded. Not, perhaps, in regard to his skin
but nore deeply. And so, fundanentally, the ex-tankers' view was correct.

"Wy, " Lantano said, "are the peacenakers bl essed?"

That stunped Nicholas. And it was he who had said it.

He did not know what he neant; the idea had arisen as he contenpl ated Lantano; that was
all he knew, just as a nonent ago another outside-of-tinme observation had risen, unsolicited to
his conscious nmind, that about the nman who was despi sed and rejected. And that nman had been--wel |,
in his own mnd he knew who that man had been, even though nost persons at the Tom M x had
attended the Sunday services as a nere formality. For him however, it had been real; he had
bel i eved. Just as he had al so believed--although feared_ was a nore accurate word--that soneday
they might need to know how the North American |ndians had survived, because they thensel ves mni ght
need to know the art of chipping flint arrowheads and processi ng ani nmal hides.

"Cone and see ne," Lantano said to him "at my villa. Several roons are conplete; | am
able to live confortably while the noisy netal nmen bang away at the job of hauling concrete slabs
and chunks whi ch once nmade up bank buildings and freeway ranps and drive-ins and--"

Ni chol as interrupted, "Can | stay there? Instead of here?"

After a pause Lantano said, "OF course. You can see that ny wife and children are safe
fromthe predations of the | eadies of the four nei ghboring demesnes while I'mat the Agency; you
can strawboss ny little defensive police force." Turning, he signaled to his retinue; it began to
file fromthe basenent.

"Well | see," Blair said enviously, "you nade it big."

Ni chol as said, "I"'msorry." He did not know why Lantano awed him why he wanted to go with
him A nystery, he thought; there is an enigma about this man who when you first catch sight of
himis old, then not so old, is mddle-aged, and then when you are up close he is all at once a
youth. A wife and child? Then he can't be as young as he now seens. Because David Lantano,
striding out of the basenent ahead of him noved like a man in his early twenties, in the ful
vi gor of youth before it becanme wei ghed down by the responsibilities of wife, children: of
marri age.

_Time_, Nicholas thought. _It's as if a force that grips us all in a one-way path of
power, a total power on its part, none on ours, has for himdivided; he is noved by it and yet

file:/I/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (64 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

si mul taneously, or perhaps alternately, he seizes it and grips it and he then noves on to suit his
own needs. _

He followed after Lantano and his file of |eadies, out of the basement, up into the gray
light of a partial day.

"There are colorful sunsets,"” Lantano said, pausing and gl anci ng back. "Wich rmake up for
the di ngi ness of the daytine atnosphere. Did you ever see Los Angeles in the days of the snpg?”

"I never lived on the West Coast,"” Nicholas said. And then he thought, But snpbg ceased to
afflict Los Angel es by 1980; | wasn't even born, then_. "Lantano," he said, " _how old are you? "

There was no answer fromthe man ahead of him

In the sky sonething passed slowy, very high. Fromeast to west.

"A satellite,"” N cholas said, excitedly. "My god, | haven't seen one in all these years."

"An eye-spy,"” Lantano said. "Taking photographs; it's reentered the atnosphere to get a
clearer shot. | wonder why. What would interest anyone here? Rival demesne owners? Donini who'd
like to see ne a corpse? Do | look like a corpse, N ck?" He halted. "Answer me. Am| here, Nick
_or am| dead?_ What's your opinion? |Is the flesh that hung--" He becane silent, then; all at once
he turned and continued on

Ni chol as, despite his fatigue fromthe four-hour hike to Cheyenne fromthe tunnel, nmanaged
to keep up. Hoping, as he trudged on, that it was not far

"You' ve never seen a denesne villa, have you?" Lantano said.

"“lI've never even seen a demesne," Nichol as said.

"Then I'Il fly you over a few of them" Lantano said. "By flapple. It will interest you
the view fromabove; you'll think it's a park--no roads, no cities. Very pretty, except that the
animals are all dead. Al gone. Forever."

They trudged on. Overhead, the satellite had al nbost di sappeared beyond the line of the
hori zon, into the gray snogli ke haze that, N cholas realized, would remain in suspension for
generations to cone.

23

Poring over the segnent of positive, Cencio, the loupe in his right eye, said, "Two men.
Ten | eadi es. Wl ki ng through the Cheyenne ruins in the direction of Lantano's inconplete villa.
Want a bl owmup?"

"Yes," Wbster Foote said, instantly. It had been worth instructing the corporation's
satellite briefly to reenter; they woul d possess a nuch better picture, now

The room darkened and then the square of white appeared on the wall, and then that square
was nodified as the filmsegnent was fed into the projector which at the sane tine, at 1200x,
magni fi ed. The animator, his dearly prized gadget, began to work; the twelve figures shuffled
f orward.

"The sane man," Cencio said, "who was with the two destructed | eadies. But that's not
Lantano with him Lantano is a young man, in his twenties. That man there is middle-aged. I'll get
the folio on himand show you." He di sappeared. Webster Foote, alone, continued to watch the
ani mat ed, devel opi ng epi sode; the twelve figures in notion, toiling along, the ex-tanker clearly
quite tired, the man with him- certainly it was David Lantano. Yet, as Cencio said, clearly a nan
in his |ate mddl e-age. Strange, Wbster Foote said to hinself. The radiation nmust account for it.
It's killing himand this is the fashion that his death is taking; a premature aging. Lantano had
better get out of there before it's too |late; before it doesn't matter.

"See?" Cencio said, returning with the Lantano folio; he switched on the roomlights,
hal ted the ani mation of the filmsegnment. "Born in 2002; that nmakes himtwenty-three. So how can
that man there--" He shut the roomlights off once nore. "That is _not_ David Lantano."

"Hi s father?"

"According to the folio his father died before the war." Cencio, under a small lanp at the
desk, exanined the records which the corporation had gathered pertaining to the Yance-man David
Lantano. "Evidently Lantano, interestingly, is an ex-tanker. Anyhow wal ked out of the San
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Franci sco ruins one day, asked for asylumin one of Runcible's conapts. Sent, routinely, to the
Berlin Psychiatric Waffenlnstitute. Ms. Mrgen found himto be of unusual aptitude; recommended
that he be admitted to the Agency on a trial basis. Began witing speeches; is doing so now.

Brilliant speeches, it says here."
"That's himon that screen," Wbster Foote said, "and the radiation is killing him So due
to his greed to acquire a denesne he's not going to live, and the Agency |l oses a brilliant speech

witer and he his life."

"He's got a wife and two children. So he's not sterile. They all wal ked out of the S .F.
ruins together, alittle famly. Touching."

"They' Il probably die with him Before the year's up. Start the ani mator goi ng again, ny
boy. "

oligingly, Cencio started the animator once nore into action. The tired ex-tanker stil
| agged behind. For an interval the two nmen were |ost behind and within a great seni-standing
buil di ng; then, once nore, they energed into the light of day, the leadies stringing in a file
behi nd t hem

Suddenly Webster Foote exclained, |eaned forward: "My god. Stop the animator."

Agai n Cenci o stopped the action of the scene; the figures froze as they were.

"Can you get a greater enlargenment of just Lantano?" Foote asked.

Wth great skill Cencio maneuvered the nagni fying stages of |enses, manipul ated both
coarse and fine focuses; the figure on the screen, the first, darker human grew until there was
not hi ng but himon the screen. Only the one obviously youthful, vigorous nman.

Both Cencio and Webster Foote gazed in disconcerted, agitated sil ence.

"Well, ny boy," Foote said at last. "That knocks the radi ati on damage theory."

"That's how he ought to | ook. Like he does now. That fits his chronol ogical age."

Foote said, "There is, in the advanced weapons archives at the New York Agency, sone kind
of time travel weapon which has been tinkered with until it's a scoop they can use for depositing
objects into the past. Only Brose has access to it. But what we're seeing now suggests that
Lantano has got his hands on either the original weapon or the adaptation nade of it by the

Agency. | think we would be well advised to have a perpetual vid nonitor kept on Lantano if it's

at all possible. Could we plant one on a |leady of his imediate entourage? It's risky, | realize,
but if he finds it all he can do is rip it off; he can't prove who put it there. And we only need
a few nmore shots; just another handful." The animator, meanwhile, had run the sequence to its

limt; unable to carry it any further it nerely buzzed, while on the screen the figures once nore
were frozen. Cencio put on the roomlights; both nmen noved about, stretching, pondering.

"What few nore shots?" Cenci o asked.

"OfF himas old as he gets in his oscillations,

"Maybe we've seen it. Already."

"But maybe not. Do you know," Foote said, suddenly gripped by his extrasensory hunch
experience; it overpowered him-never had it struck himw th such force. "That man is not white;
he's a Negro or an Indian or sonething.”

"But there aren't any nore Indians," Cencio said. "Renmenber that article circul ated just
before the war; the ethnic resettlenent program established on Mars involved virtually all of
them and they were killed in the first year, when the fighting was confined to Mars; those who
remai ned behind on Earth--"

"Well, this one's still here," Foote said. "So that's that. W don't need twenty | ndi ans;
we need just one--overlooked, | nean.”

One of his lab technicians cane to the door of the room knocked respectfully. "M . Foote,
sir. Areport of that portable TV set. That you wanted torn down."

Foote said, "You got it open and it's a standard nodel prewar Philco 3-D color TV portable

Foot e said.

with--"

"Can't open it."

"What about those rexeroid bits?" Rexeroid, a compound from Jupiter, generally could
penetrate anything. And he had kept one in his London |abs for just such occasions as this.

"The case of the object, sir, is rexeroid; the bit goes in a quarter inch and then--the
subst ance took the edge off the bit so it won't cut. In other words we're out one rexeroid bit.
W' ve sent for nore, but they'll have to come from Luna; that's where the nearest avail able supply
exi sts. None of the Yance-nen have any, including Ei senbludt in Moscow. O if they do have any
they won't rel ease them you know how conpetitive the Yance-nen are. Afraid if they lend you--"

"Don't sernonize," Foote said. "Just keep trying. Anyhow | took a | ook at that case; it's
not an alloy at all--it's plastic."

"Then it's a plastic we've never before seen.”
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Foote said, "It's an advanced weapon, undoubtedly fromthe Agency's closed archives,
al t hough possi bly sonmeone dug it up. Anyhow devel oped at the end of the war and never used. Do you
mean to say you don't recognize the fine German hand when you see it? That's a Gestalt-nmacher;
know it." He tapped his forehead. "This extra knob on ny frontal |obe says so. _Wthout proof .

You get into it and you'll see; ejectors that spout blood, hair, words, brain waves, threads,
handprints." And, he thought, a cyani de-tipped honeostatic, honotropic dart. The first and | ast;
that nost of all. "You ve tried heating it, of course.”

"Not too high. To about 240; afraid if we go higher--"

"Try up to 350. And report if it shows any sign of flow"

"Al'l right, sir." The | ab technician departed.

Foote said to Cencio, "They'll never get it open. It's not rexeroid; it's a thernoplastic.
But that clever Gernman thernoplastic that flows at one precise split half degree; above and bel ow
it's even harder than rexeroid. You have to get exactly the proper tenperature; inside it's got a
heating coil that nelts it when it wants to change shape. If they keep trying | ong enough--"

"Or," Cencio said, "if they get it too hot there won't be anything left inside it but
ash. "

That was true. The Germans had even thought of that; the mechanismwas built so that
unusual pressures--such as heat, drills, probes of any sort--acted to trigger a denolition
circuit. And the thing did not even burst in a visible way; its works sinply disintegrated
so that one still continued to strive to gain entry--entry into a gadget which had al ready | ong,

I ong ago fused itself into a shapel ess nothing, worksw se.

Those late wartine units, Foote thought, are too clever. Just too dam cl ever for us
nortal s; can you i magi ne what woul d have been dreamed up in another year? |If_the autofacs hadn't
been destroyed, all the surface shops and | abs and proving grounds . . . like that one, sole
outfit that made artiforgs.

The intercomclicked on and Mss Grey said, "Sir, Yance-man David Lantano is on the |ine
wanting you. Are you in?"

Foote glanced at Cencio. "Saw the satellite reenter. Knows we took extra-careful shots of
him He's going to ask why." Rapidly, he tried to think why. The ex-tanker? Good; he had sonething
t here, because, according to |aw Lantano had to turn over any tanker who bored through within his
demesne area to the Berlin psychiatrists. Into the intercomhe said, "Put Lantano on, Mss Gey."

On the big vidscreen the face of David Lantano appeared, and Webster Foote saw,
fascinated, that it was the yout hful phase of the age-oscillation or cycle; in any case it was the
proper twenty-three-year-old nan who confronted him

"I have never had the pleasure of making your acquai ntance," Foote said politely (Yance-
men, as a general rule, enjoyed this sort of bending-the-knee). "However | know your reading
matter. Extraordinary."

Lantano said, "W would like an artiforg. A pancreas."

"Ch dear."

"You can | ocate one. Dug up. W will pay highly."

"There aren't any." Foote thought, Wiy? Wio needs it? You? Did your ex-tanker friend bore
to the surface for it? Probably the latter, and you are being charitable or anyhow goi ng through
the notions_. "Not a chance, M. Lantano." And then an idea cane to him "Allow ne," he said, "to
visit your villa, however, for a few nonents. | have sone maps, nilitary maps fromthe war, which
i ndi cate areas not dug into which conceivably m ght contain stored artiforgs; these were U S. Air
Force hospitals in renote places. Alaska, North Canada. On the old picket line fringes and on the
East Coast. Perhaps between us--"

"Fine," Lantano agreed. "Wat about nine p.m at ny villa? Nine as conputed by ny tinme-
zone here. For you that would be--"

"Sir, | can count time," Foote said. "I'll be there. And I'msure, with your extraordinary
abilities, you'll be able to nake use of these maps. You can dispatch your own leadies if you
wi sh, or my corporation can--"

"At nine tonight, ny time, then," Lantano said, and rang off.

"Why?" Cenci o asked Foote, after a pause.

Foote said, "To plant the continual vid nonitor."

"Of course." Cencio flushed.

"Run that ani mated sequence again," Foote said thoughtfully, "of Lantano at m ddl e-age.
Stop it at the point where he is aged the nost. | noticed a quality about him just now, on the
vidscreen . "

As he again set up the magnifying equipnent, the film the animator, the projector, Cencio
said, "Wat quality?"
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"It seened to nme," Foote said, "that Lantano, as he aged, began to resenbl e soneone. |

could not place who, but someone | know well." As he had faced even the young Lantano on the big
vi dscreen he had experienced it, the _dé a vu_.
A nmoment later, in the darkened room he was viewing a still of Lantano at m ddl e-age, but

seen from above; again the angle was bad, and al ways woul d be, when the photographi ng i nstrunent
was so vertically oriented, as a satellite naturally had to be. But--he could discern it anyhow,
because, as the satellite made its pass, both Lantano and the ex-tanker cane to a halt and peered
up.

"I know who," Cencio said, suddenly. "Tal bot Yancy."

"Except that he's dark," Foote said. "This man here."

"But if that skin-bleach were applied, that wartime dernmal--"

"No, Yancy is considerably older. When we get a good shot of Lantano at say sixty-five,
not fifty, then nmaybe we'll have something." _And when |I have got inside his villa_, Foote knew,
_we will thereafter have operating the equipnent to produce that shot. And this will be tonight;
only a few nore hours_.

_What is this Lantano?_ he asked hinsel f.

And got no answer.

At | east--not yet.

But over the years he had learned to be patient. He was a professional; he would, in
Lantano's inconplete villa, establish a video nonitor which sooner or later would tell him
additional facts, and ultimately one day, hopefully not too |Iong fromnow, the pivotal fact would
energe, and all would be tied together: the deaths of Davidson, Hi g and Lindblom the destruct of
the two | eadies, the peculiar aging of Lantano--and, as he aged, that even queerer fact that he
grew nore and nore to resenble a plastic and netal dummy bolted to a wooden desk in New York City

oh, Foote thought; then that would explain that peculiar and up to now anomal ous strip of
filmwhich showed the origin of the destruct beamthat took out the two leadies. It was we had
t hought, someone _resenbling_ Tal bot Yancy.

It was David Lantano at the extreme old end of his oscillation; _we have seen it already_.
The key fact had al ready energed.

Brose, he thought, you have nmade a major m snove; you have | ost your nonopoly on the
contents of the advanced weapons archives. Soneone el se has gotten hold of time-travel equipment
and he is using it to destroy you. How did he get hold of it? That doesn't matter; _that he has
it_: that's the point.

"Cottlieb Fischer,” he said aloud. "The idea for Yancy originated with hinm so the crisis
is actually in the past." And he who possesses the ability to travel in tine has access to the
past, he realized. There is a junction, a connection, between David Lantano, who or whatever he
is, and Gottlieb Fischer, back in 1982 or '4 or right up to Fischer's death; but no later than his
death . . . and probably slightly before Fischer began his work on the Yancy _Prinzip_, his
variation on the _Fuhrer Prinzip_: his new solution to the problem of who shall |ead, since, if
men are too blind to govern thensel ves, how can they be trusted to govern others? The answer is
der Fihrer, as every German knows, and Cottlieb Fischer was a Gernan. Brose then stole the idea
fromFischer, as we all know, and turned that idea into an actuality; the dunmmy, one in Mscow and
one in New York, bolted to the oak desk, programmed by the conputer which in turn is fed speeches
by well trained elite idea nmen--all that can be legitimately credited to Stanton Brose, but what
we did not guess is that CGottlieb Fischer stole _his_ part, the original germ nal concept, from
sonmeone el se

Sonetine near the year 1982, the Gernman film producer _saw Tal bot Yancy . And derived his
Fuhrer, not fromhis own creativity, his artistic genius, but fromsinple observation. And who
woul d Gottlieb Fischer, circa 1982, be seeing? Actors. Hundreds of them Sorted over to play roles
in his two vast phony docunentaries--actors picked especially for their ability to portray world
| eaders. In other words, actors who had that _charisma_, the magic.

To Cencio he said slowy, thoughtfully, plucking his lower lip, "I think, if | conb
versions A and B, the two Fischer works of invention, | will in one of the faked scenes, sooner or
| ater, conme across a Tal bot Yancy. In nakeup, of course; doing a character role." Playing Stalin,
he deci ded. Or Roosevelt. Any of them-or all. Wat the docunentaries |acked were proper credits;

who pl ayed what great world | eader: we need that list, and that |ist does not and never did exist;
it was carefully _not_ mnade.

Cencio said, "W own our ow prints of the two versions, you realize."

"Al'l right. Go through them and extract each of the faked scenes. Separate themfromthe
authentic clips that--"

Cenci o | aughed sardonically. "Good lord. Save us." He shut his eyes, rocked back and
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forth. "Who, honestly, can _ever_ do that? No one knew then, knows now, wll know-"

True; a good point. The _whole_ point, in fact. "Al right," Foote said. "Just start
running them Until you catch a glinpse of the Protector. He'll be one of the great charismatic
| eaders, one of the big four; he won't be Mussolini or Chanberlain, so you can bypass them" God
i n heaven, he thought; suppose he's the "Hitler" who lands in the Boeing 707 fanjet at Washi ngton
D.C. to hold secret conversations with F. D. R ? _Is that what rules the nmillions of tankers
today_, the actor who struck Gottlieb Fischer as just right to undertake the task of inpersonating
Adol f Hitler?

It could, however, be a bit part. The role of sone general. Even one of those "G 1. Joe
scenes in the foxholes.

“It"lIl take me weeks," Cencio said, obviously realizing the sane thing. "And do we have
weeks? |f people are being killed--"

"Joseph Adans is protected," Foote said. "And Brose--too bad if he gets it; nore power to
hi s hi dden eneny."

--Hi s hidden eneny who is obviously and clearly David Lantano. But that merely |led back to
his original inquiry; who or what is David Lantano?

Anyhow now he had a partial answer--at |east ad hoc. It had yet to be tested. David
Lantano, at the extrenme old age end of his oscillation, was hired by Gottlieb Fischer to play a
part--or was at |east interviewed--in one or the other versions of the 1982 docunentaries; there,
that was his hypothesis. And now to test it.

And the next step was going to be hard--the step which followed the positive
identification of Yancy--that is, David Lantano--in one or both of the 1982 docunentari es.

The next step, and this fitted the talents of Wbster Foote, Linmted of London, was to
chisel with highly specialized equi pment undetected and silently into the inconplete villa of
Davi d Lantano while Lantano was at the Agency in New York. And gain at |east nonentary possession
of the tinme travel instrunmentality which Lantano utilized.

It'll be tough, Foote knew. But we have the nmachines to track it down; it's been our job
since 2014. And this tine we're not nerely doing a job for a client; this is for ourselves.

Because, he realized, our own lives are currently--and involuntarily-- posted as stakes in
this; it is, has already proven to be, the ultimate pot for which the players are wagering,
striving, lying, faking and haggli ng.

"Alaw firm" he said aloud. "Wagering, Striving, Lying, Faking and Haggling. Associ ates.
They can represent us before the Recon Dis-1n Council when we sue Brose."

"On what grounds?”

"On the grounds," Foote said quietly, "that the duly elected world | eader is the
Protector, Tal bot Yancy, as every tanker knows; as the Estes Park Governnent has asserted for
fifteen consecutive straight years. And such a man really exists. Hence--_Brose holds no | ega
power ." Since the | egal power, he said to hinself, is QE D. all Yancy's and Pac-Peop as well as
Wes- Dem has been cl ai m ng, chanting, this.

And, | think, Yancy has begun to put forth a request for the validation of that claim
Foot e decided. At |ast.

24

The little dark-skinned boy said shyly, "My nane is Tinmy."

Beside himhis smaller sister squirmed, smled, whispered, "I'mDora."

Ni chol as said, "Timy and Dora." To Ms. Lantano, who stood off to one side, he said, "You
two have nice children." And, seeing David Lantano's wife, he thought of his own, of Rita, stil
bel ow; the dooned life of the ant tanks. Eternal, evidently; because even the decently inclined
i ndi vi dual s who dwelt on the surface, nen such as David Lantano and, if what he understood was
correct, the conapt construction nagnate, Louis Runcible: even these nmen had no plans, no hopes,
nothing to offer the tankers. Except, as in Runcible's case, hygenic, pleasant prisons above
ground instead of the darker, nore cranped prisons bel ow. And Lantano--

Hi s | eadies would have killed ne, N cholas realized. Except for Tal bot Yancy's appearance
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on the scene, and with a usabl e weapon.

To Lantano he said, "How can they say Yancy is a fraud? Blair said so; all of themsaid
so. You say so."

Eni gmatically, Lantano said, "Every |eader who has ever ruled--"

"This is different,” Nicholas said. "And |I think you know it. This isn't a question of the
man versus his public image; this is an i ssue that has never been raised--as far as | know-in
history. The possibility that there is no such person at all. And yet | saw him He saved ny

life." |I came up here, he realized, to learn two things: that Tal bot Yancy does not exist, as we
al ways believed, and--that he does; that he is real enough to destroy two feral, professional
veteran | eadies who, in the absence of authoritative restraint, would revert, would kill w thout
even serious debate. Kill a man as a perfectly natural act; part of their job. Perhaps even a
maj or part.

"As a conmponent in his makeup," Lantano said, "every world | eader has had _some_ fictiona
aspect. Especially during the last century. And of course in Roman tines. Wat, for instance, was
Nero really like? W don't know. _They_ didn't know. And the same is true about C audius. Was
Claudius an idiot or a great, even saintly, man? And the prophets, the religious--"

"You'll never answer," Nicholas said. It was obvious.

Seated on the | ong wought black iron and foamrubber couch with the two children
| sabel l a Lantano said, "You are right, M. St. Janes; he won't answer. But he knows." Her eyes,
power ful and i nmense, fixed themon her husband. They, she and Davi d Lantano, exchanged gl ances,
meani ngf ul and silent; N cholas, excluded, got to his feet and wandered about the hi gh, beam
ceiling living room aimessly, feeling acutely hel pl ess.

"Have a drink," Lantano said. "Tequila. W brought back a very fine stock from Mexico
City/ Amecanmeca.” He added, "At that time | was speaking before the Recon Dis-In Council
di scovering to ny satisfaction just how disinterested they really are.”

"What is this council?" N cholas asked.

"The true high court of this, our only, world."

"What did you try to get fromthenP" N cholas asked. "In the way of a ruling?"

After a long interval Lantano said, laconically, "Aruling on a very academ ¢ question
The precise legal status of the Protector. Versus the Agency. Versus General Holt and Marshal
Harenzany--" He broke off, because one of his household staff of |eadies had entered the living
room and was approaching himdeferentially. "Versus Stanton Brose," he finished. "What is it?" he
asked the | eady.

"Domi nus, there is a Yance-nman at the periphery of the guarded area," the | eady said
respectfully. "Wth his household retinue, thirty leadies in all; he is extrenely agitated and
wants to see you socially. Wth himin addition cones a group of humans referred to as Footenen
commandos who protect his person against real or imaginary dangers, according to orders, he
decl ares, from Geneva. He appears quite frightened and he said to tell you that his best friend is
dead and 'he is next.' Those were his words as | recorded them M. Lantano. He said, 'Unless
Lantano' --he forgot the obligatory polite formality in his agitation. 'Unless Lantano can help ne
I amnext.' Shall we admit hin®P"

To Nichol as, Lantano said, "That would be a Yance-man from Northern California naned
Joseph Adans. An admirer of certain aspects of ny work." To the |eady he said, after reflecting a
monent, "Tell himto come in and sit down. But at nine | have a business neeting schedul ed." He
exam ned his watch. "It's al nost nine now, nake sure he understands he can't stay for long." As
the | eady departed Lantano said to Nicholas, "This one is not entirely without reputability. You
may find himinteresting; what he does at |east produces conflicts within him But--" Lantano
gestured, with finality; for himit had been decided. "He goes along. After and during the doubts.
He has them but--he goes along." Lantano's voice sank, and agai n shockingly, the ancient, w zened
vi sage appeared, even ol der than before; this was not niddle-age: this was the glinpse which
Ni chol as had witnessed as Lantano stepped into the Cheyenne basenent, only now he saw it--briefly--
-close up. And then it was gone. As if it had been only a play of the fire's light; not a change
in the man at all. And yet he knew, understood, that it really was within the man, and, as he
gl anced around at Lantano's wife and two children, he caught a fleeting inpression, based on the
three of them he saw, as if fromthe corner of his eye, a waning within them too--except that
for the two children it was nore a growh, an augnentation into maturity and vigor; they seened,
abruptly, tenporarily, older. And then that passed, also.

But he had seen it. Seen the children as--adol escents. And Ms. Lantano gray and noddi ng,
in the doze of a tineless half-sleep, a hibernation that was a conservation of departing, forner
power s.

"Here they cone,"” |sabella Lantano said.
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Cl anking noisily, a group of leadies filed into the living room canme to a halt; from
within them slipping out from behind, stepped four human bei ngs who gl anced about in a cautious,
prof essional way. And then, after them appeared one scared, |one man. Joseph Adams, Nichol as
realized; the man vibrated with apprehension, as if gouged fromwthin, already--not nerely
potentially--a victimof sone |iquidagile, ubiquitous, death-disturbing force.

"Thanks, " Adans said huskily to Lantano. "I won't stay long. | was a good friend of Verne
Li ndbl om we worked together. H s death--1"mnot so worried about nyself." He gestured at first
his corps of |eadies, then the human conmandos protecting him his double shield. "It's the shock
of _his_ death. | nmean, this is a lonely life anyhow, at best." Trenbling, he seated hinmself near
the fire, not far from Lantano, glancing at Isabella and the two children, then at N cholas, with
di sori ented vagueness. "I went to his denesne, in Pennsylvania; they know nme there, his |eadies;

they recogni zed ne because he and | used to play chess together in the evenings. So they let ne
in"

"And what did you find?" Lantano said in a strangely harsh voice; N cholas was surprised
at the aninosity of his tone.

Adans said, "The type VI leady in charge--it took the initiative of letting me have a
readi ng which the brain-pattern recording apparatus in the wall had picked up. The killer's
distinctive Al pha-wave. | took it to Megavac 6-V and ran it; the 'vac has cards of everyone in the
Yance organi zation." His voi ce shook; his hands as well.

"And, " Lantano said, "whose card did it pop?"

After a pause Adans said, "Stanton Brose's. Therefore | guess it nust have been Brose who
killed him Killed nmy best friend."

"So now, " Lantano said, "you not only have no best friend but you have instead an eneny."

"Yes; | suppose Brose will kill me next, As he did Arlene Davidson and then H g and then
Verne, These Footenmen--" He gestured at the four of them "Wthout themI|'d be dead already."

Thought ful l y, Lantano nodded and said, "Very likely." He said it as if he knew

"What | cane here for," Adans said, "is to ask your help. Fromwhat | saw of you--nobody
has your ability. Brose needs you; w thout such people, young brilliant new Yance-nen |ike you
com ng into the Agency, we'll ultimtely make a m stake--Brose hinself will get nore and nore
senile as that brain deteriorates; sooner or later he'll pass on a tape that's got a ngjor flaw

Like the flaws in Fischer's two docunentaries; sonething |like the Boeing 707 or Josef Stalin
conversing in English--you know about those."

"Yes," Lantano said. "I know. There are nore, too. But generally still not detected. Both
versions are marred in small, insidious ways. So |'m essential to Brose; well, so?" He gl anced at
Adans, waiting.

"You tell him" Adans said raggedly, as if having trouble breathing, "that if I'mkilled,
you'l'l pull your talents out of the Agency."

"And why should I do that?"

"Because," Adans said, "soneday it'll be you. If Brose is allowed to get away with this."

"What do you think caused Brose to kill your friend Lindbl onP"

He must have decided that the special project--" Adans halted, was silent, struggling with
hi nsel f.

"You all had done your job," Lantano said. "And as soon as each of you had he was
di spatched. Arlene Davidson, once the carefully articul ated sketches--not properly sketches at al
but superbly realistic drawi ngs, perfected as to every detail--had been prepared. Hi g, as soon as
he had |l ocated the artifacts at the site of the Utah diggings. Lindblom as soon as he had
conpl eted the actual artifacts thenselves and they' d been shot back in tine. You, at the point
where your three articles for _Natural W rld_ are finished. Are they finished?" He gl anced up
acutely.

"Yes "Adams nodded. "I handed them over to the Agency today. To be processed. Printed up
in fake back-dated editions, aged and so on; you seemto know. But--" He returned Lantano's acute
gaze. "H g died too soon. He did not call the artifacts to Runcible's attention, although he had
the canera and tape going. There are other Brose agents on Runcible's payroll and they report--and
the canera reports--that Runcible does not know, beyond doubt he's absolutely ignorant of the
presence--forner presence--of the artifacts. So . . ." H's voice | owered, becane a bew | dered
munbl e. " Somet hi ng went wrong.

"Yes," Lantano agreed, "sonething went wong at the one really critical nonent. You're
right; Hig was killed an instant too soon. I'Il tell you sonething nore. Your friend Lindbl omwas
murdered by a German wartime invention called a Gestalt-macher; it does two distinctly separate
jobs: first, it assassinates its victiminstantly and w thout inordinate pain, which, to the
German m nd, nmakes it ethically acceptable. And then it lays down a trail of--"
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"Clues," Adans interrupted. "I know, we've heard of it. W know it exists in the advanced
weapons archives, which naturally only Brose can get into. Then the Al pha-wave pattern that
Verne's continuous action nmonitor picked up-" He was silent, clasping and uncl asping his hands.

"I't was spurious. Laid down deliberately by the Gestal tmacher. Fakes. That's what makes up the
Gestalt, clues like that, profile indicators. Did the other clues--"

"Al'l delineated Brose; they agreed. Wbster Foote, who will be here any nonment, fed the
seven data to the Moscow conputer and it popped only Brose's card. Just as Megavac 6-V did for
you, on the basis of just the single datum But one--that one--was enough."

"Then," Adans said hoarsely, "Brose did not kill Verne; it was soneone el se. Who not only
want ed Li ndblomkilled but wanted us to believe Brose did it. An eneny of Brose." Hi s face worked
frantically, and N chol as, watching, realized that the man's world had di sintegrated; nonmentarily,
the man had no intellectual, idiocrastic basis by which to orient hinself; psychologically he
floated, lost in a toneless, untended sea.

Lant ano, however, did not seem nuch noved by Adans' disorganization and despair. He said,
sharply, "But the Gestalt-nacher was nabbed at the death | ocus, kept from escapi ng by Lindbloms
alert staff of |eadies. The person who set up the macher, who dispatched it with those clue data
init, knew the Lindblomhad a death rattle. _Don't virtually all Vance-men carry death rattles?_
You do." He pointed at Adans' neck, and Nicholas saw a hair-thin | oop of gold, a band of sone
unusual netal .

"That is--a fact," Adans adnmitted, bew |l dered now to the extent that speech for himwas
al nost i npossi bl e.

"And so Brose saw a way of manufacturing a de facto case that he was not the authorizing
source for the nmacher. Since its clues pointed to him and it is axiomatic that the trail of clues
deposited by a nacher are spurious, then Foote, whose job it is to know this, knew, as Brose
i ntended, that Brose was to be thought of as the killer--that this was what the killer wanted; and
Brose was innocent." He paused. "However, Brose is not innocent. Brose programred the nmacher. To
indict hinmself and by that neans certify to the police nind his innocence."

Adans said, "I don't understand." He shook his head. "I just do not understand, Lantano;
don't say it again--1 heard what you said. | know what the words nean. It's just too-"

"Too convoluted,"” Lantano agreed. "A nachine that kills, that also | ays down fal se clues;
only in this case the false clues are authentic. W have here, Adans, the ultinmate in fakery_,
the last stage in the evolution of an organi zation created for the purpose of nmanufacturing
hoaxes. Convincingly. Here's Foote." Lantano rose, turned toward the door. It opened, and a single
i ndi vidual, without, N cholas noted, a retinue of |eadies plus human detectives to guard him
entered, a |leather strapless binder-type case under his arm

"Adans," Foote said. "lI'mpleased to see they didn't get to you."

Somberly, with a peculiar weariness, David Lantano introduced everyone around; for the
first time he acknow edged N chol as' presence in regard to the distraught, frightened Yance-nan,
Joseph Adans.

"I'"msorry, Adams," Lantano said, "but I'mafraid nmy conference with M. Foote is
confidential. You'll have to |eave."

Huskily, Adanms said, "WII you help ne or not?" He rose, but did not nove away. And his
human, as well as artificial, bodyguard remai ned inert, watching the goings-on intently. "I need
hel p, Lantano. There's no place | can go to hide fromhim he'll get nme because he has access to
t hose advanced weapons; god knows what's in those archives." He appealed, then, with a silent,
wild glance at Nichol as, seeking even _his_ assistance.

Ni chol as said, "There's one place he might not find you." He had been pondering this for
several mnutes, since he had first managed to grasp the nature of Adans' situation

"Wher e?" Adans said.

“Down in an ant tank."

Adans regarded him his expression too |ax, too confused by conflict, to be nmade out.

"My tank," Nicholas said, deliberately--because so many other persons were present--not
naming his tank. "I can relocate the vertical tunnel. | intend to go back, with or w thout the
artiforg | came for; you could come with nme."

Foote said, "Ah. The artiforg. It's for you. The pancreas.” He seated hinsel f, unzi pped
his | eather binder. "Soneone in your tank? A val uable person, a dearly beloved old aunt?
Artiforgs, as M. Lantano has undoubtedly already told you--"

"I'"mgoing to keep trying," N chol as sai d.
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As he unzi pped his | eather binder, Wbster Foote managed to let a roll of papers bounce
out and onto the floor; he bent forward to retrieve them and, in that nmonent, saw his chance and
made use of it; as with his left hand he snatched back the decoy, the rolled-up bl ank docunents,
with his right he placed within the cushions of the couch on which he sat--a deliberately sel ected
spot--an aud-vid transmtting nonitor; it would not nerely perceive and store data; it would
i nstantaneously transmt all it picked up to a Footenan at the nearest tracking substation

To Foote, the harassed Yance-nan Joseph Adans said, "You fed the clue data to the Mdscow
computer and it popped Brose's card. So in your mnd Brose is innocent, because the clues are
spurious, laid down by a Gestalt-macher; soneone hostile to both Lindblomand Brose did it."

Eyi ng him wondering how he knew this, Foote said, "Hmm"

"This is true," Adans said hoarsely. "I know because | fed the Al pha-wave pattern to
Megavac 6-V nyself and got the sane card. But David Lantano--" He jerked his head toward the dark
young Yance-nan. "He points out that Brose could have programed the nacher, knowing it'd be
caught; and you did catch it."

"Well," Foote said warily, "we have an object. But we haven't yet got into it; the thing
resists entry. W assune it's a cammed stage of a Gernman-nmade wartine device; yes, that's so." He
saw no reason to deny it at this point; however, since Joseph Adans and David Lantano knew this,
it now of course would have to be told Brose. And as soon as possible, Foote realized. _Brose nust
get it fromme_ and not them So | had better get out of here as soon as / can manage it, back

into nmy flapple where i'll have access to vid-transmi ssion by satellite relay to CGeneva_. Because
if Brose learns the news fromthemand not fromme, ny reputation will suffer permanent
inpairment; | can't afford this. He felt nettled, aggrieved.

Do you nean_, he said to hinself, _that |I fell for a cover--or, nore accurately, a double
cover? The crinme was comitted by that portable TV receiver--so-called, so-appearing--but Brose
really dispatched it, set it up to delineate _hinmself?_ And to think that | never, even with ny
extrasensory ability, happened onto that idea_.

_It'"s this Lantano_, he realized; _the idea is his. Inspired. The man is dangerously so,
dangerously gifted_.

In his ear a receiver-speaker, grafted subdernal so as to be invisible, piped, "W're

pi cking up the aud-vid signals clearly, M. F. It's extrenely well-placed. W'll get everything in
t hat one room from now on."

Refl exively, still deep in thought, Foote unrolled his military maps, which showed
ordi nance di spositions of essential mlitary stores; these had been top secret . . . classified,

the old argot had been. Made available to himoriginally by General Holt, via the Agency. For
purposes of a fornmer job he had perforned for Brose; the actual nmaps had been returned; these were
Xer oxed copies. He studied them now, perfunctorily, prepared to begin the tedi ous cover discussion
with Lantano . . . and then, w thout warning, sumarily, his extrasensory faculty bunped him
jarringly, flooded his mind with intimation, and he scanned closely, keenly, the top map. It
showed an area near the Atlantic Coast of North Carolina. Three U S. Arny weapons arsenals were

i ndi cated, subsurface stores which had | ong ago been excavated by Brose's |eadi es and everything
of value renpoved. This was so indicated by check-nakers on the map. But--

The distribution of the arsenals indicated that they had been set up to supply highly
nmobi |l e arnored tactical surface units, probably engaged--or it had been so anticipated--in
handl i ng Soviet |eadies | anded by the giant troop carrier USSR transoceani c subs of the 1990s. And
a quadripatrite division of such arsenals had been comon in those days: three of weapons, fue
and repair parts for the heavy U S. rexeroid-shielded tanks capable of surviving a direct hit by a
ground-to-ground A-head missile . . . these were the three that had been dug up. But no fourth
subsurface depot was indicated, and yet it should have existed fifty mles or so in the rear; that
woul d have contai ned the nedical supplies--if any had been provided for the personnel of the
hi ghly nobil e nmechani zed defensive units drawing on the three weapons arsenals closer to the
coast i ne.

Wth a pencil he drew |lines connecting the three indicated arsenals, then, with the edge
of a book plucked froma nearby table, he neasured off a Iine which ended at the hypothetica
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| ocus which would transformthe visible triangle into a square.

In five hours, Foote realized, | can have a work detail of |eadies digging at that spot;
they can sink a shaft and in fifteen mnutes determne if a fourth depot, that of nedical
hospital energency equi pnent, exists there. The chances are--he cal cul ated. About forty percent
favorabl e. But--digs had been essayed on far slinmmer evidence in the past, and by his corporation

Sone paid off; some did not. But it would be of incalculable value if he were to locate a
store of artiforgs. Even a few, three or four. even that meager handful _would break Brose's
nmonopol y_.

"At this spot,"” he said to Lantano, who had come over and seated hinself beside him "I
plan to dig. You can see why." He indicated the three depots already excavated, then the lines he
had drawn. "My Psionic hunch,” he said, "tells nme, water witchwise, that we will strike an
undi scl osed U S. Arny medical store, here. And perhaps luck will be with us. Artificial
pancreasw se. "

Joseph Adams said, "I'lIl go." Obviously he had given up; he signaled to his retinue of
| eadi es; they and the four Footemen assigned to guard himbegan to collect around hi mand together
the group of themall shuffled toward the door, an ensenble of defeat.

"Wait," Lantano said.

At the door Adanms waited, his unhappy face still contorted; the suffering and confusion
pain at his friend' s death, uncertainty as to who was responsi bl e, what he hinself ought to do-al
was m ngl ed, bl ended.

Lantano said, "Wuld you kill Stanton Brose?"

Staring at him Adans said, "I--" His stare becane blind, horrified. There was sil ence
t hen.

"You can't escape him Adans. Probably not even by descending into an ant tank; not even
by that. Because Brose's pol-cons are there waiting. If you went down into that tank with N ck--
with their pol-comthere, acting for Brose, who probably knows the exact conditions up here--"

Lantano broke off. It was not necessary to say it. "You'll have to decide for yourself, Adans,"
Lantano said, then. "It can be for any notive you care to assign yourself. Revenge for Lindblons
death, fear as regards your own life . . . for humanity itself. Take your choice. Al three, if

that appeals to you. But you do have the opportunity to see Brose. You could conceivably take him
out. Although the chance, frankly, would be slim However, it's a real chance. And | ook at your
situation now, |ook at your fear. And it will get worse, Adams; | predict that and | think M.
Foote here woul d predict the same."

"I --don't know," Adanms nuttered, at |ast.

"Morally," Lantano said, "it would be right. | amsure of that. M. Foote knows that. N ck
here knows that--already. You knowit, too, Adans. Don't you?" He waited; Adans did not answer. To
Foote, Lantano said, "He knows it. He's one of the few Yance-nen who does, who faces it.
Especially now, after Lindbloms death."”

"Kill himw th what?" Adans said, then

Lantano said, regarding Foote's military map intently, "I'Il supply you with the weapon.
Leave that part to ne. | think we've arrived at the crux, here." He put his forefinger on the spot
whi ch Foote had indicated on the military nap. "Go ahead and dig; |'Il pay the costs." Once nore

he turned to Adans, who stood at the door entirely surrounded by his | eadi es and Footenen escort.
"Brose has to be killed. It's only a matter of time. And by whom And through what technica
construct." To Foote he said, "What weapon woul d you recomrend? Adans will encounter Brose at the
Agency sonetinme later this week, in his own office. Adans' office. So he need not carry it on him
it can be in the office, camed in place; he need only have the triggering nechani smon him or

aut o-arranged i n advance."

Extraordi nary, Foote thought. _Is this what | cane here for?_ It was supposedly a pretext,
ny visit here, to plant a nonitoring device. By which | could | earn nore about David Lantano. But
i nstead--1 have been drawn into, or anyhowinvited to enter, a conspiracy to kill the nost

power ful human being in the world. And the man with the greatest repertory of advanced weapons at
hi s di sposal

The nan, Foote realized, we all really terribly fear

And this conversation, due to the aud-vid bug he had planted in the couch, _was being
nmonitored_. And, by an incredible, maddening irony, by his own technicians. But his own
corporation's experts, at the local tracking substation and then at the London office itself. Too
late now, to shut it off; the data, the inportant message, had been sent out already. And, of
course, somewhere in the corporation Wbster Foote, Limted, Brose had his agents; eventually,
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al t hough not perhaps right away, the news of this conversation in utter and conpl ete bona fide
detail, would arrive, through channels, at Geneva. And every man in this room Foote realized,
will be killed. Even if | say no; even if both Adans and | say no; _that will not be enough_.
Because the old man, Stanton Brose, will not dare to take the chance; we will have to be

di spatched. Just in case. To insure his absolute self-protection

Al oud Foote said, "You have Brose' s Al pha-wave pattern. In the wall nonitor at Lindbloms
denesne. And you have access to it--" He spoke, now, to Adans.

"Tropi sm" Lantano said, and nodded.

"Since Lindbloms |eadies recognize you as the deceased's closest friend--" Foote
hesitated and then he said, nunbly, "I therefore recommend yes; the Al pha-wave pattern as the
tropism A conventional honeostatic high-velocity cyanide dart. Set to rel ease fromsone recess in
your Agency office the nonent its dispatching nmechani smreceives and records that idiosyncratic
Al pha-wave pattern as present."

There was sil ence.

"Could it be set up tonight?" Lantano asked Foote.

"It takes only a fewmnutes to install the barn for such a dart," Foote said. "And to
program the di spatching nechanismw thin the barn housing. And to |l oad the barn with the dart
itself."

Adans said. "Do--you have such hardware?" He spoke to Foote.

"No," Foote said. Which was the truth. Unfortunately. He could not come through

"l have," Lantano said.

Foote said, "There are hundreds of those wartine cyani de honmeostatic high velocity darts
| eft over fromthe days when the Comruni st international assassins were in business, and literally
t housands of the |ow velocity ones that could be corrected after release, such as that which
killed Verne Lindblom But they're old. They exist but they can't be relied on; too many years
have--"

"I said," Lantano said, "_that | have one_. The conplete assenbly: dart, barn, housing,

di spat ching nmechanism And in mnt condition."

"Then," Foote said, "you nust al so have access to tinme travel equipnment. This hardware you

speak of, it nmust cone directly fromfifteen to twenty years ago."

Presently Lantano nodded. "I do." He clenched his hands together, violently. "But |I don't
know how to set up the assenbly. The wartinme and prewar CP assassins who used those were specially
trained. But | think with your general know edge of the field--" He glanced at Foote. "You coul d.
WIIl you?"

"Toni ght?" Foote said.

"Brose," Lantano said, "will visit Adans' office possibly as early as tonmorrow. If it's
installed tonight, Brose could be dead within the next twelve to twenty-four hours. The
alternative of course, needless to say, is death for each and every hunman being in this room
Because within the next _forty-eight_ hours, news of this discussion will be in Brose's hands." He
added, "Due to sone nmonitoring device, Foote, which you yourself brought; | don't know what it is,
where it is, when and how you installed it, but I knowit's in the room And functioning."

"True," Foote said, at |ast.

"So we have to continue," Adans spoke up. "Tonight, as he says. Al right, 1'Il fly to
Li ndbl omi s denesne and get the Al pha-wave pattern back; | returned it to the type VI chief |eady,
there." He hesitated, suddenly realizing something. "The Gestalt-macher possessed that pattern.
How did it get it? The person who progranmed it had the pattern; only Brose would have the
pattern. So | guess you are right, Lantano. It had to be Brose who fed the data to the nachine."

"Did you think," Lantano said quietly, "that perhaps | dispatched that nachine to kil
your friend?"

Adans hesitated. "I don't know. Soneone did; that's all | knew Except that | got that
card popped; it seemed to ne--"

"I think you did," Foote said.

A ancing at him Latano smled. It was not the smle of a young man; it had in it ancient,
wild craft. An elliptic untaned wi sdom which could afford to be gentle, could be tol erant because
it had seen so nuch.

"You're an American Indian," Foote said, all at once understanding. "Fromthe past. Wo
sonmehow, in the past, got hold of one of our nodern-day time travel devices. How did you get it,
Lantano? Did Brose send a scoop back to your era, _is that it?_"

After a tinme Lantano said, "The artifacts that Lindblomnade. He utilized the ingredients
of the original advanced prototype of the wartinme weapon based on that principle. A geologist made
an error; sone of the artifacts appeared not subsurface but on the ground, in plain sight. | cane
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along; | was leading a war party. You would not have recognized me, then; | was dressed
differently. And all painted.”

The ex-tanker, Nicholas St. Janes, said, "Cherokee."

"Yes." Lantano nodded. "By your reckoning, fifteenth century. So I've had a long tine to
prepare for this."

"Prepare for what?" Foote said.

Lantano said, "You know who | am Foote. O rather, who |I've been in the past, in 1982, to
be specific. And who | will be. Shortly. Your nen are going over the docunmentaries. |'Il save you
some long and difficult research; you will find me in episode nineteen of version A Briefly."

"And whom " Foote said levelly, "do you portray?"

"Ceneral Dwi ght David Ei senhower. In that spurious, utterly faked scene contrived by

Gottlieb Fischer, in which Churchill, Roosevelt--or rather the actors inpersonating themfor

Fi scher's didactic purposes-- confer with Ei senhower and the decision is reached as to exactly how
I ong they can stall the invasion of the continent. D-day, it was called. | read a very interesting
phony line . . . | will never forget it."

"I remenber that," N cholas said suddenly.
They turned toward him all of them

"You said," Nicholas said, " 'l think the weather is sufficiently rough. To hanper the
| andi ngs and so account for our failure to establish our beachheads successfully.' Fischer had you
say that."

"Yes." Lantano nodded. "That was the |ine. However, the |andings were successful. Because,

as version B shows--in an equally inspiredly spurious scene for Pac-Peop consunption--Hitler
del i berately held back two panzer divisions in the Nornandy area _so that the invasion would
succeed ."

No one said anything for a tine.

"WIl the death of Brose,"” Nicholas said, "nean the end of the era which began with those
two docunentaries?" He addressed Lantano. "You say you have access to--"

"The death of Brose,"” Lantano said firmy, "will inaugurate the nmonment in which we, plus
the Recon Dis-In Council, with whom| have already discussed this matter, will, in conjunction
with Louis Runcible--who is essential in this--decide exactly what to tell the mllions of
under ground dwel l ers."

"So they'll come up?" N chol as said.

"I'f we want that," Lantano said.

"Hell," N cholas protested, "of course we want that; it's the whole point. Isn't it?" He
| ooked from Lantano to Adams, then to Foote.

Foote said, "I think so. | agree." And Runci bl e would agree.

"But only one man," Lantano said, "speaks to the tankers. And that man is Tal bot Yancy.
What will he decide to do?"

Adans, sputtering, said, "There is no Tal--"

"But there is,"” Foote said. To Lantano he said, 'Wat will Tal bot Yancy decide to do?" _I
bel i eve you can authoritatively answer , he said to hinself. _Because you know, and / know why you
know, and you realize this. W are no longer in the quagmre of fakes, now, this is real. Wat are
you, what | am aware of, due to the photographic records taken by ny satellite_.

After a pause Lantano said thoughtfully, "Talbot Yancy will announce, in the near future,
if all goes well, that the war has ternminated. But that the surface is still radi oactive. So the
ant tanks rmust be enptied on a gradual basis. On strict allocation, step by step.”

"And this is true?" Nicholas said. "They really will be brought up gradually? O is this
just another--"

Looking at his watch, Lantano said, "W have to get busy. Adans, you get the Al pha-wave

pattern from Pennsylvania. |I'll bring the assenbly that conprises the term nal weapon we've
deci ded on; Foote, you conme with me--we'll neet Adans at his office in the Agency, and you can
install the weapon, programit, have it ready for tonorrow. " He rose, then, noved agilely toward

t he door.

"What about ne?" Nichol as said.

Lantano picked up Foote's military map, carried it to Nicholas, presented himwth it. "M
| eadi es are at your disposal. And an express flapple that'll get you and nine or ten leadies to
North Carolina. This is the spot for themto excavate. And good luck," Lantano said tersely.
"Because from now on you're on honeo--on your own. Toni ght we have other nmatters to take care of."

Foote said, "I wish we didn't have to--rush into this; | wish we could discuss it
further." He felt fear. Precog, extrasensory, as well as the ordinary instinctive fear. "If only
we had nore tine," he said.
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To him Lantano said, "Do you think we have?"
"No, " Foote said.

26

Wth his cunbersone human and | eady entourage surrounding him Joseph Adans |eft the
living roomof the villa; Foote and Lantano foll owed, the two of themtogether

"Did Brose programthe macher?" Foote said to the dark young man--young now, but as he had
seen on the ani mated sequences of the satellite-obtai ned photographic record, capable of or victim
of an oscillation into any section of his life track

Lantano said, "Since the machi ne cane equi pped with the Al phawave pattern of--"

"Whi ch can be obtained by any Yance-nman from any of the three nmajor conputers,” Foote
said, in a voice that did not carry to Joseph Adams, who was insulated by the clankings of his
entourage. "And Lantano, let's face it; _you know that . Are you responsible for Lindbloms death?
I'd like to know before we go into this."

"Is it inmportant? Does it really nake a difference?"

Foote said, "Yes. But I'll go ahead anyhow. " Because of the danger of not going ahead, the
menace to their lives; the noral issue had no bearing, not at this late point. Not since he had
installed the aud-vid bug. If ever anyone becane the victimof his own professional ingenuity .

"I programmed the nmacher,"” Lantano said, then
"Why? What had Li ndbl om done?"

"Nothing. In fact I was deeply in his debt, since through himl obtained the tine trave

rig; | wouldn't be here now without him And before himl--" The nost brief, short-lingering
hesitation. "I killed H g."
n V\hy?"

"Hig !l killed," Lantano said matter-of-factly, "to stop the special project. To save
Runci bl e. So the special project would nmisfire. Wich it did."

"But why Lindblon? H g | can understand. But--" He gestured.

Lantano said, "For this. To indict Brose. To provide delineation that woul d convince Adans
that Brose had killed his best friend, the only friend, as near as | can nmake out, that Adans had
left in the world. | expected the nmacher to escape; | didn't think Lindbloms |eadies were that
efficient, had been trained to nove that fast. Evidently Lindbl om suspected somet hi ng, but perhaps
fromsome other quarter.”

"And what does this acconplish, this death?”

"It forces Adans to act. Brose is wary; Brose, w thout having a rational, conscious
reason, distrusts me and avoids me. _Brose has never cone within weapons distance of ne, wll

never ; | couldn't have reached himal one, by nyself, wi thout Adans' help. |'ve | ooked ahead; |
know. Brose either dies tonorrow norning when he visits Adans' office--which is one of the few
pl aces Brose will go--or Brose continues on, if you can accept and believe this, _another twenty
years_."

"In that case," Foote said, "you did the proper thing." If this was true. And no way
exi sted by which he could check. Twenty years. Until Brose was one-hundred-and-two years old. A
ni ght mare, Foote said to hinself. And we are not out of it yet; we still nust awake

"What Adanms does not know," Lantano said, "will never find out, is a deplorable fact that
shoul d never have conme into existence. Lindblom up to the time of his death, was agonizing over a
deci sion. Had actually reached a decision; he was finally prepared to report on Adans' nora
reservations toward the special project. He knew that Adans was on the verge of |eaking enough
infornmation to Louis Runcible to keep Runcible from being gaffed, fromfalling onto the hook
Runci bl e woul d have, based on Adamis tip, nade the archeol ogical finds public. He would have | ost
his Utah |and, but not his overall econonic syndrome. Nor his political freedom Lindblom-he was
| oyal, when it came down to it, to the Agency. To Brose. Not to his friend. | have seen this,
Foote; believe me. Wthin the next day Lindbl omwould go through channel s--and he knew exactly
how, exactly which nediatory agency to nake use of--to approach Brose at his _Festung_ in Geneva,
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and Adans hinself was afraid of this; he knew that Lindblomheld his Iife in his hands

Adans' life. Due to Adans' rather unusual --anmong Yance-nmen--higher inclinations, his scruples. His
awar eness of the evil underlying the special project fromstart to finish." He was silent as
Joseph Adams, in his overl oaded conmercial nodel flapple, managed to get off the ground, to depart
into the night sky.

Foote said, "If it had been me | wouldn't have done it. Killed H g or Lindblom Anybody."
In his business he had seen enough of killing.

"But," Lantano said, "you are willing to participate in this now In Brose's death. So
even you, at a point, feel--recognize--that no other resource can be turned to, except the
ultimate one. |1've lived six hundred years, Foote; | know when it is and isn't necessary to kill."

Yes, Foote thought. Evidently you do.

But where, he wondered, does this sequence termnate? WIl Brose be the |last? There's no
guar ant ee extended, here.

H's intuition told himthat there would be nore. Once this sort of thinking, this nethod
of problem solving, began it tended to develop its own nomentum Lantano--or Tal bot Yancy as he
woul d soon be calling hinself, and not, evidently, for the first tine--had worked centuries to
achieve this. Qbviously after Brose might come Runcible or Adans and, as he had thought fromthe
start of this, hinself. Whoever, as Lantano had put it, was "necessary."

A favorite word, Foote reflected, of those driven by a yearning for power. The only
necessity was an internal one, that of fulfilling their drives. Brose had it; Lantano had it;
countless little Yance-nen and woul d-be Yance-nmen had it; hundreds if not thousands of pol-cons
down in the ant tanks below, Foote realized, are ruling as true tyrants, through their link with
the surface, through their possession of the _gnosis_, the secret know edge of the actual state of
affairs that obtain here.

But with this particular nan the drive spans centuri es.

Who, then, Foote asked hinself as he foll owed Lantano toward a parked and waiting express
flapple, is the greater menace? Six-hundredyear-old Lantano/ Yancy/ Runni ng Red Feat her or whatever
his original Cherokee name was, who in the dotage stage of his cycle will becone what is now
merely a synthetic dumry based on him bolted to an oak desk--a dunmy which, and this wll
convul se a fairly extensive nunber of Agency people, of demesne domini, all at once will be- cone

anbul atory and real . . . this, or the rule by an aging, genuinely senile nonstrosity who hides
out in Geneva, blubbering over with plans to hei ghten and strengthen the di kes which support his
exi stence-- how can a sane man choose between these and still stay sane? W are cursed as a race,

all right, Foote said to hinmself; Genesis is right. If this is the decision we are stuck with; if
there are no choices but this, in which we nmust all becone instruments of one or the other, units
whi ch either Lantano or Stanton Brose picks up and noves about, according to the direction of his
grand desi gn.

But is this all? Foote asked hinself as, reflexively, he entered the flapple, seated
hi nsel f besi de Lantano, who at once started up the engine; the flapple rose into the gl oom
| eavi ng the hot-spot of Cheyenne behind, and the half-conpleted villa with its glowing lights .

whi ch, no doubt, would after all see conpletion

"The assenbly,"” Lantano said, "which constitutes the weapon, is in the back seat.
Carefully packaged in its original autofac carton.”

Foote said, "Then you knew what | would choose."

"Time travel ," Lantano said, "is valuable." That was the extent of his laconic reply; they
flew on in silence.

There is a third choice, Foote said to hinself. A third person, of enornous power, who is
not a unit noved about by Lantano and not by Stanton Brose either. In his Capetown resort villa,
sunning hinself in his vine-walled villa patio, lies Louis Runcible, and if we are out to |ocate
sane nen and sane decisions we may find both there in Capetown.

“I"l1l go through with it, as | said," Foote said aloud. "The setting up of the weapon
assenbly in Adans' office in New York." _And then_, he decided, _|I'm heading for Capetown. For
Loui s Runci bl e_.

_I"mphysically sick , he realized, _mde so by the aura of "necessity" that surrounds
this man beside nme-an order of political and noral reality which I'mtoo sinple to fathom after
all, I"ve lived only forty-two years. Not six hundred. _

_And as soon as |'ve arrived safely in Capetown_, Foote said to hinself, | will get ny
ear up against news transnmitters of every kind, waiting wthout break, without interruption, to
hear, out of New York, that Stanton Brose, fat and putty-like and senile-cunning, is dead--if the
coup fromwithin the Agency itself by its youngest (good god, six hundred years was young?)
bri ghtest idea nan, speech witer, has been successful._

file:/l/F|/rah/Philip%20K.Dick/Philip%20K%20Dick%20-%20The%20Penultimate%20Truth.txt (78 of 95) [1/19/03 7:59:51 PM]



filex///F|/rah/Philip%20K .Dick/Philip%20K %20Di ck%20-%20The%20Penul timate%620Truth.txt

_After that perhaps |--and, hopefully, Louis Runcible, if we can nake a deal--will have
sone idea of what to do. WII| see our "necessity."_

Because at the nonent, |ord knew, he did not.

Al oud he said, "You personally are ready, the noment Brose is dead, to claim before the
Recon Dis-In Council, to constitute the sole legitinmate governing body? The pl anetw de Protector
outranki ng General Holt here in Ws-Dem and Marshal --"

"Doesn't every one of the several hundreds of nmillions of tankers know that? Hasn't the
Protector's suprene authority been established for years back?"

"And the leadies," Foote said. "They'll obey you? Not Holt or Harenzany? If it conmes to

t hat ?"

"What you are overlooking is this: ny legal access to the sinulacrum that _thing_at the
oak desk; | programit--1 feed reading matter to it by way of Megavac 6-V. So |'ve in a sense
begun to nmake the transition already; | will sinmply blend with it, not by an abrupt abolition of
it, but by--" Lantano gestured spasnodically. "The word is--_fusion_ ."

Foote said, "You won't enjoy it, being bolted to that desk."

"I think that part can happily be elimnated. Yancy may in fact begin visiting
representative ant tanks. As Churchill did the bonbedout areas of England in Wrld War Two.
CGottlieb Fischer did not have to counterfeit _those_ sequences.”

"Did you, in your centuries of past life, limt your public appearance to one faked scene
in Gottlieb Fischer's docunentary? One inpersonation of an Anerican general of Wirld War Two? O --
" And his extrasensory insight was keen, now, it had sniffed something into the light. "Did you at
one or nore tinmes already hold power-- power to sonme extent . . . not like this, not that of the
pl anet wi de suprene Protector--"

"I have to sone extent been active. On a nunber of occasions. There is an evol utionary,
historic continuity of nmy role.”

"“Any nane | would recognize?"

The nman beside himsaid, "Yes. Several." He did not anplify, and it was obvious that he
was not going to; he remained silent as the express flapple flew above the unlit surface of Earth,
toward New York City.

"Not too long ago,"” Foote said cautiously, not really expecting to obtain an answer to
this direct query, "sone of ny better interrogators, working with tankers who had bored through to
the surface, extracted the--to ne--fascinating fact that a weak TV signal, not the nornal one from
Estes Park, carried by the coax, had elliptically alluded, shall we say, to certain irregularities
in previous official, supposedly authentic--"

"There | erred,"” Lantano said.

"Then it was you." So now he knew the origin of that. Once nore a hunch of his had proved
correct.

“"Yes, it was ny nistake," Lantano said. "And | al nbst cost Runcible his free existence,
whi ch for himwould have nmeant his physical life. It was obvious | had to stop--once | discovered
that Brose blaned the splice and the transnission on Runcible. Al | was really doing was to set
up Runci ble for extinction by Brose's agents. And | didn't want that. | renoved the | ash-up cut
into one of the peripheral shielded coax cables--but I was too |ate. Brose had already in that
weird, worn-out, crafty, infantile brain hatched up the special project. The gear teeth had begun

to turn, and it was ny--nine, all ny--fault; | was obsessed by what | had initiated. And at that
poi nt--"

"You managed," Foote said tartly, "to inpede it rather well."

"I had to; the responsibility was so clearly mne. |I had transforned a | atent suspicion on
Brose's part into a crisis. O course, it goes wi thout saying, | couldn't come forth. So | started

with Hi g. That seened the only way to approach it at that |ate date; the only way to handle it so
that it canme to a stop, a real stop-not just a tenporary one."

"And without, as you say, exposing yourself."

Lantano said, "It was a difficult situation and dangerous, not only to Runcible--" He
gl anced at Foote. "But to ne. And | did not intend to have that."

_CGod help me_, Foote thought, _to get away fromthis man. And out over the Atlantic in a
flapple, alone, in contact with Runcible by vidphone, telling himI'mon ny way. _

_Suppose Runcible didn't listen_.

That anxi ety-induci ng thought, with every one of its ranifications, renained central in
Foote's mnd, all the way across the United States to the Agency buil dings and the office of
Joseph Adams in New York City.

The office was dark. Adams had not yet arrived

"Naturally it'll take hima little while,” Lantano said, "to get the Al pha-wave pattern.”
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Nervously, |ooking--for himunusually--taut, he exanmined his wistwatch, checked the dial which
gave New York tine. "Maybe, we should get the Al pha-wave pattern from Megavac 6-V instead. You
begin setting up the assenbly." The two of them stood briefly in the hallway outside Adans' office
at 580 Fifth Avenue. "Go on in while | get the pattern."” Lantano started off, rapidly.

Foote said, "There's no way | can get in. Adanms and Brose have, as far as | know, the only

keys."

Staring at him Lantano said, "Can't you--"

"My corporation," Foote said, "possesses tools to obviate any lock in the world, no matter
how intricate or obstinate. But--" He had none with him they were all in London or scattered at
field stations around the world.

"Then we might as well just stand here and wait," Lantano said, not pleased at all, but
accomodating hinmself to the fact; they had to have Adans, not only for the Al pha-pattern of
Stanton Brose by which to render the weapon tropic but sinply and literally to gain access to the
preni ses, the office, which evidently fat, huge, aging Brose would enter bright and early in the
nmor ni ng, ahead of its owner. One of the few places outside of Geneva where he apparently felt
safe. And Ceneva itself was inpossible; if they had to alter their plans and nake a try at Brose
there they were already finished.

They wai t ed.

"Suppose, " Foote said presently, "Adanms changes his nmind. And does not cone."

Lantano glared at him "He'll conme." The bl ack deep-set eyes were envenoned even at
nmention of the possibility.

"I"'mwaiting exactly fifeen nore mnutes," Foote said, with quiet dignity, unafraid of the
furious dark eyes, "and then |I'mgetting out of here.”

The two of them continued to wait, mnute after mnute.

And, as each mnute ticked past, Foote thought, he's not com ng; he's backed out. And if
he's backed out we nust assune he's contacted Geneva: we can't afford to make any other assunption
than that we're waiting here for Brose's killers. Waiting in this hall for our deaths.

"The future," he said to Lantano, "it's a series of alternatives, is it? Some nore
pr obabl e t han ot hers?"

Lant ano grunt ed.

"Do you foresee, as one alternative future, Adans inform ng Brose and saving hinself at
our expense?”

Lantano said, tightly, "Yes. But it's unlikely. About one chance in forty."

"l have ny extrasensory hunch faculty," Foote said. And, he thought, it tells me that
those are not the odds; the odds are far, far greater that we are trapped |ike pink-eared baby
m ce, floating, drowning, in a dish of honey. Served up for exterm nation. For greedy, |ipsmacking
consunpti on.

It was a very arduous, and, psychosomatically, very unfortunate wait.

And, despite what Lantano' s watch said, very |ong.

Foote wondered if he could endure it.

Could--or, in the face of Brose's ability to nmove his agents about rapidly fromthis place
to that, would.

27

After he had stopped by Verne Lindbloms denesne and had picked up the Al pha-wave pattern
of Stanton Brose' s brain once nore fromthe type VI senior |eady, Joseph Adans with his retinue
of personal |eadies and his bodyguard fromthe Foote organization flew aim essly, not toward New
York; not in any particular direction

He got away with that for just a few m nutes. And then one of the four Footenen | eaned
toward himfromthe seat behind and said distinctly and grimy, "Go the Agency in New York.
Wthout delay. O 1'Il kill you with nmy |aser beam" He thereupon placed the cold, round nuzzle of
his | aser pistol to the back of Joseph Adans' head.
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"Some bodyguard," Adans said, bitterly.

"You have an appointnment with M. Foote and M. Lantano at your office,"’
commando said. "Please keep it."

On Joseph Adans' person, in the formof a dead man's throttle strapped to his left wist,
he possessed--had rigged this up as a result of Verne Lindblonis death--an energency signaling
device that connected himby nmicrowave with his retinue of |eadies now squeezed in on each side of
himhere in this oversized flapple. He wondered, if he were to trigger the signal, which would
come first; would the Footeman commando, an expert, kill him or would his |eadies, who were war
vet erans, take out the four Footenen?

An interesting question

And on it nothing nore or less than his |ife depended.

But why not_ fly on to the Agency? Wat hel d hi m back?

I"mafraid of Lantano, he realized. Lantano knew too nuch, had too nany pieces of detail ed
know edge about Verne Lindblom s death at his disposal. But |I'mafraid, he realized, of Stanton

t he Foot enan

Brose, too; I'mafraid of both of them but of the two Brose is the known fear and Lantano the
unknown. So for ne, Lantano creates an even greater sense of that grisly all-enconpassing
devouring inner and outer fog that sweeps life away fromme . . . and god knows, Brose has been

bad enough. Hi s special project was the epitonme of wi ckedness and cynicism plus Brose's own
uni que bl end of senile cunning, of drooling, glint-eyed, alnost childishly mischievous doi ng-of -
wong _and enjoying it_.

And Brose, he realized, will get worse. As that brain rots nore and nore, as those
m scroscopi ¢ strictures of m nute bl ood vessels continue to occur. As bit after bit of brain
tissue, clogged, deprived of oxygen and nutrition, perishes. And | eaves the remants just that
nore revolting, that nuch I ess to be depended on, ethically and pragnmatically.

The next twenty years, under the decaying rule of Stanton Brose, would be even nore
profoundly ghastly as the decay of the central, guiding organ penetrated deeper, ceaselessly
deeper, and lured the world along with it. And he--all the Yance-nen--all of them would be jerked
and dangl ed by the conclusive twitches on the deranged nmaster string; as Brose's brain
degenerated, as extensions of Brose, would all of them degenerate in resonance. God, what a
pr ospect

The force which Lantano had uni que control over--time--was the force which was corrupting
the organic tissue of Stanton Brose. Hence-- Wth one stroke, the rel ease of one high velocity
honeostati c Al pha-wave-tropic cyanide dart, that corrupting force would he abolish fromtheir
lives. And wasn't that the whole rational reason for this flight to New York, to his office, where
Lant ano and Foote waited?

But Joseph Adans' body, unconvinced, threw its netabolic secretions of fear through and
t hrough his synpathetic nervous system Struggling for relief--in other words, he realized, for
escape. _| want to get away_.

And Foote, too, he realized acutely, if that ook on his face meant anything, felt
something of this. Only not as strongly as I'mfeeling it now, because if he did he would not be
in New York; he'd be out here I ong ago. Wbster Foote would know how. And, he realized, | don't;
I''m not equi pped, as he is, for this.

"Ckay," Adans said to the Footerman comando behi nd hi mwho held the | aser pistol to Adans'
head. "I was disoriented for a minute; nowl'mall right." He turned the flapple then toward New
Yor k.

Behi nd hi mthe Footenman commando withdrew the | aser pistol, restored it to its shoul der
hol ster as the flapple streaked northeast.

At his left wist Joseph Adans rel eased the dead man's throttle signaling device. The
nm crowave inmpulse, to his |eadies, automatically and instantly becanme perceptible, although his
own sense receptors picked up nothing. Nor did those of the four Footenen.

As Adans stared fixedly at the control before him his leadies in a brief skirm sh--al nost
gruesonely silent--killed the four Footenmen. The noise, after a time so short that Adans coul d not
really believe or accept that the act had been acconplished, cane to its term nation; a rear door
of the flapple was opened, and with nmuch straining and groani ng and cl anki ng, the | eadi es dunped
out the bodies of the four Footenen, out into the enptiness of space and the renoteness of a
ni ght, which, it seened to Adans had begun but woul d never end.

Adans said, "l just couldn't go to New York." He shuts his eyes. _In nomne Donini_, he
t hought. Four nen dead; awful, and he would al ways wear, carry with him the mark: _he_ had
ordered it--and w thout using his own hands. Wich nade it just that much worse. _But they put
that gun to ny head , he realized, _and in nmy fear | went insane; they threatened to kill me if!
didn't go to New York, and since / can't do that--god hel p each of us, he thought. That to live we
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have to destroy; this price has to be paid, this bad bargain: four lives for one_.
Anyhow it was done. And so he turned the flapple toward the south; it noved sout heast,
now, toward the Carolinas. Instead of toward New York. \Wich he woul d never see again.

It took himhours to sight the illum nated blotch in the darkness bel ow which was the
scene of the diggings.

The flapple, at Adans' instruction, began its spiral down. Toward the spot where Nichol as
St. Janes, the ex-tanker, dug with the assistance of David Lantano's |eadies, seeking the possible
buried U S. Arnmy prewar nedical storehouse and the artiforgs--if they existed, and if this was the
correct spot--somewhere bel ow the surface.

Once | anded, Adans nade his way toward the diggings. Of to one side, the ex-tanker
Ni chol as St. Janes sat anong cartons and boxes and Adans realized that the | ocation had proved
correct. The U S. Arny dunp had been | ocated; already prewar supplies were being recovered. It
was, in Yance-nman argot, christnmas norning.

@ ancing up at the sight of the first |eady, N cholas peered. "W is it?" he said.

Si nul t aneousl y, Lantano's | eadies ceased their toiling; wthout command they noved toward
Ni cholas, to protect him their manual extensors dropped so as to nmake contact with the weapons
which they, at their md-sections, carried. It was done swiftly, snoothly, and of course at once.

Adans gave an order and his own | eadies noved about him too, in an equally defensive
pattern. The two nmen, now, were separated each by his own | eadies; only |l eady faced | eady--neither
man coul d see the ot her.

"St. Janes--remenber ne? Joe Adans; | net you at Dave Lantano's denesne. |'ve conme by to
see what luck you had. In getting your artiforg."”

"Real luck," Nicholas yelled back. "But what's this depl oying of these |eadies for? Wo's
fighting who and what for?"

“I don't want to fight," Adans said. "Can | retire ny leadies? WIIl you do the sane with
yours and give ne your word there won't be any hostile interaction?"

Soundi ng genui nely puzzled, N cholas said, "But there's no war; Blair said so, and | saw
the denesnes. Wiy should there by any 'hostile interaction' between you and ne?"

"No reasons." Adans signaled his |eadies; they withdrew reluctantly, because after all
each of themwas a veteran of the war, the true war which had been fought thirteen years ago.

Al one, as a single human, Adans approached the ex-tanker. "Did you find the particul ar
artiforg you need?"

Excitedly, like an overjoyed, enthralled small boy, N cholas said, "Yes! Three artiforgs,
a heart, a kidney, | found it--an artiforg pancreas, still in its original protective carton--it's
sealed in an alum numdrum" He displayed it proudly. "Plastic-di pped to keep out air; undoubtedly
it's as good as when it was first made. This container was built to protect its contents for
| ook, right here; for fifty years."

"Then you did it," Adams said. _You got it_, he thought to hinmself, _what you energed into
the light of day for. Your journey is over. You lucky guy_, he thought. _If only it were that
sinple for nme. If what | needed, |acked, required so that | mght live, could be held in the hand,
inspected, its ink markings read. Picked up and manually gripped; sone object, material and hard-
and ny fears equally concrete. Linmted, as has been your case, to the fear of not finding one
specific clearly defined wartinme construct, and that construct now found and possessed, as nuch as
we can in this Iife ever possess anything, really retain and keep it. And | ook what | have |ost_,
he thought. _My denesne, my job; | amgoing to give up the surface of Earth. In order not to
foll ow Verne Lindblom Because , he said to hinself, | know it was David Lantano who did it. |
knew that the nonment Lantano adm tted that he had the weapon assenbly in his possession. The
conponents that nmake up the killing agent known to us all: the high velocity--or as in Verne's
case, |low velocity--cyanide-tipped honeostatic dart. And not rusty but in working order . . . as
was the one which reached Verne Lindbloms heart. _

_Mnt condition, as Lantano had said. Derived directly fromthe war-years, fromthirteen

years ago, by neans of Lantano's time-travel equipnent. And to be set up in my office to kill B
rose exactly as Verne was killed; admittedly it will be instantaneous and painless, but it is
still murder, as was mne of the four Footemen commandos. But--this is how we stand. And |'m

| eavi ng. Descending. If | can._

"You' re going back to your tank?" he asked Nichol as.

"Ri ght away. The shorter a tine old Souza is in freeze the better; there's always the
chance of sone brain decay. |'mgoing to | eave Lantano's | eadies here to keep on digging, get the
rest up; | guess Lantano and Foote can split it or anyhow conme to an agreenent.”
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"They seem " Adans said, "able to agree. Foote supplied the map; Lantano the |eadies and
the di ggi ng equi pnent. They'll find some way to divide the trove." _Wat's amazing_, he thought,
_is that you are getting your pancreas w thout conditions. They' ve asked nothing in exchange. So
they're not bad nen_, not in any typical, ordinary sense; together Foote and Lantano, with
dignity and caritas, arranged for you to obtain what B rose has deprived you-and everyone el se on
the planet--of, what he has hoarded for hinmself. B rose-- who was absolutely w thout _caritas__.

"l thought you were supposed to nmeet themin New York," Nicholas said to Adans.

"They'll make out." From Megavac 6-V they could get Stanton Brose's Al pha-wave pattern;
they woul d think of that sooner or later, when he did not show-in fact probably already had. And,
if they could not nount the dart weapon in his office, if they, using Foote's tools and skills,
could not pick the intricate door |ock, could not enter, they could--and would--find a serviceable
place in the corridor, the sole passage to the office, the route which Stanton Brose would have to
follow to reach the office. He knew, intuited on a very deep, absolute |level, that together Foote
and Lantano woul d nmanage sonmehow to work it out.

They woul d never forget, however, that he had failed to show. |f they did not get Brose
then the old, half-senile mass of fat would no doubt destroy them and possibly Adans as well; if
they did--well, probably at some convenient |ater date, when Foote and Lantano, especially
Lant ano, had gai ned power, replaced Brose, they would track himdown. There woul d be plenty of
time for vengeance. Utimately, in either case, _it would conme_. Watever the outconme of the
weapon planting which at this moment was taking place in the agency hallway or office at 580 Fifth
Avenue, New York City.

"Did you ever tell Lantano,” he asked N chol as, "which ant tank you cane fron®"

"Hell no," Nicholas said. "I have to protect the people down there; I've got a wife and a
kid brother, down in--" He broke off. "I told that ex-tanker in the Cheyenne ruins, though. That
Jack Blair." He shrugged stoically. "But Blair probably won't renenber; they all, there in those
ruins, seened a little scranbled witwi se." Soberly, he said to Adans then, "I'mthe el ected
President of the tank. | carry a terrific responsibility. That's why it was nme they sent up to the
surface to get this artiforg."” He turned, started toward the parked fl appl e.

Adans said, "Can | go al ong?"

"To--" Nicholas | ooked startled, but principally preoccupied; it was the artiforg that
concerned him-the object and the task of getting it back intact with himto his tank. "You want
to go below with ne, you nean? \Wy?"

"I want to hide," Adans said, sinply.

After a pause Nicholas said, "You nean Lantano."

"I mean," Adans said, "everyone. They got ny one and only living friend; they'll get ne.
But if |I'm down bel ow, and they won't know which tank, maybe, unles your pol-com happens to report-

"My pol-com" Nicholas said tonelessly, "cane fromthe surface, fromEstes Park, after the
end of the war. He knew. So there isn't going to be any pol-comat the Tom M x. Anyhow, not that
one."

Anot her death, Adans realized. And also "necessary." Like each of the others; |ike nine
will be, eventually. And yet--this rule, this necessity, has always existed, and for everything
that has ever lived. What we've got here is only a special case, only a hastening of the natural
organi ¢ process.

"Sure," N cholas said. "You' re welcome. | know from what you said at Lantano's demesne
you' re as unhappy as hell up here.”
""Hell,' " Adans echoed. Yes, it was, literally, the burning place of the dead; the place

of fires, the flicker of red, the charred background, the pits, sunmmred up and sunmoned up by the
war of thirteen years ago-he had been living it, first in the scorching blaze of the war itself,
then in its other, later form the cool, approaching mist, and then once nore in its nmore aw ul
searing aspect; igniting him crammng himwith this time a new, entirely new, agony: fromthe
monent he had | earned of Verne Lindbl oms death.

"You'll have to get used to the overcrowdi ng down there," N cholas said as the two of them
made their way toward the parked flapple, Adans' |eadies trailing behind. "And you can't bring
them-" He gestured at the retinue of leadies. "--with you; you'll have to cone alone. There's no

room in fact in our cubby we share the bathroom-"

"CGood enough," Adans said. He would agree to anything, give up his last |eady, be stripped
of that, too, and gladly. And--he would be nore than willing to share the bathroomw th those
i nhabiting the adjoining room He would not endure it; he would thrive. Because it would make up
for the loneliness of his years as donminus of his vast, silent, forest-surrounded denesne, with
its ocean fog; the gruesone, enmpty Pacific fog.
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The tankers woul d not understand that. Maybe they would even marvel at his ability to
adj ust to such crowded conditions--after having been a functionary, as he would tell them _have_
to tell them of the Estes Park Ws-Dem Governnent. Like the pol-cons he had descended into their
tank to share their deprivations with them. . . or so they would think

I ronic.

28

They were, presently, airborne. The flapple, in the night's darkness, headed northwest,
toward the Cheyenne hot-spot. Wth only the two nen aboard. All | eadies, both Adanms' and
Lantano's, had been left behind to dig. Adanms wondered if they had begun to scrap, yet, if the
fracas that was |atent between the two factions had broken out overtly. Probably so.

To reopen the vertical tunnel to the Tom M x tank proved a major problem It was not unti
dawn that the two of them at |ast nanaged, w th equi pment brought from Adanms' denesne on the
Pacific Coast, to cut away the hard, fused crust which Lantano's two | eadies had installed as a
barrier to further use of the shaft. Nicholas and Adans had been lucky to find the spot at all
however the thoroughness of the |eadies' job had assisted them The spot had been conspi cuous,
even at night, by its tenporary barrenness, by the snooth and lifeless artificial surface, an
al nost obsidian-1ike disfiguration anong the tufted weeds and rubbl e.

Now t he entrance once agai n gaped. The professional work of the no | onger extant |eadies
had been undone. But it had taken hours.

Setting it on auto, Joseph Adans di spatched the flapple; it rose, disappeared into the
gray, early norning light. Left here it would have acted as a clear giveaway. And the problem
still remmined of resealing the tunnel's entrance after themin such a manner that it would not
even with instrunents be detected.

For this purpose he and Adans had conposed a plug. A section of hard dirt, weed-covered,
sheared to fit the tunnel -nouth exactly. This, in actuality, was relatively a sinple aspect of the
j ob; he and Adams now squeezed down into the tunnel, and then, by neans of a series of small-link
chains attached to steel stakes driven into the underside of the plug, they dragged the piece of
hard earth and weeds after them and over them all at once the gray |light of norning vani shed and
they had only their lanterns. By pulling the chains taut they wedged the plug securely in place.

And then, with great care, they detached all netal pieces fromthe plug, the stakes and
the chains . . . detectors, used later on, would have registered the presence of the metal; that
woul d have been the tropismthat would have distinguished their trail of escape, for the hounds
who woul d one day be comi ng.

Five minutes later Nicholas, with his boots, kicked | oose the seal at the base of the
tunnel; the tank's conmmittee of activists, acting under Jorgenson's expert direction, had
careful ly made the seal susceptible to easy renoval from above--after all, if N cholas returned,
with or without the artiforg, he would have to cone by this route.

Squeezed into the small storeroom of floor one the entire | eadership of the committee,
Hai l er and Fl anders and Jorgenson, all of themwaited with their strange little hand-rmade | aser
pi stols which they had turned out in the ant tank's shops.

"We've been listening to you for an hour," Jorgenson said. "Banging and rattling around up
there, reopening the tunnel. Naturally we have a full-tinme alarmsystemrigged; it woke us at
exactly four a.m How did you make out?" He saw then, in Nicholas' hands, the al um num cyli nder

"He got it," Hailer said.

Ni cholas said, "I got it." He handed the cylinder to Jorgenson, turned then to hel p Adans
out of the tunnel and into the crowded storeroom "What about Dale Nunes? Did he file a report up
to--"

"Nunes, " Jorgenson said, "is dead. An industrial accident. In the bottomfloor shops; he
was--you know. Exhorting us to greater productivity. And he got too near a power cable. And for
some reason--1 forget now-but anyhow the cable wasn't properly shiel ded."

Hail er said, "And sonme oaf pushed Nunes backward so that he fell onto the cable. And it
wi ped himout." He added, "W already buried him It was either that or have himreport to up
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above on your absence."

"And in your nane," Jorgenson said, "like you were still here, we sent an official report
to the surface, to Estes Park. Asking for another pol-comto replace Conm ssioner Nunes, and of
course expressing our regrets.”

There was sil ence.

Ni chol as said, "I'lIl take the artiforg to Carol." And then he said to themall, "I didn't
bring this back so we could nake our quota. | brought it for Souza' s sake as such. For his life.
But the quota is over."

"How cone?" Jorgenson said, perceptively. "Wat is it, up there?" He saw Adans, then
realized all at once that Nicholas had not returned al one. "Who's this? You better explain."

Ni chol as said, "I will when the nmood strikes nme."

"He's still President of the tank," Flanders rem nded Jorgenson. "He can wait as |ong as
he wants; chrissakes, he brought the pancreas; | nean, does he have to deliver a speech in
addi ti on?"

"I was just curious," Jorgenson, backing down, said |anely.

"Where's Carol ?" N cholas said, as with Joseph Adans, he passed through the gang of
comrittee nmenbers toward the door of the storeroom He reached the door, took hold of the knob--

The door was | ocked.

Jorgenson said, "W can't |eave here, M. President. None of us."

"Who says so?" Nicholas said, after a pause.

"Carol herself,"” Haller said. "Because of you. The Bag Plague or the Stink of Shrink or
any other bacterial contamination that you--" He gestured at Adams. "--and this fella may have on
you. And we're all of us we're stuck, too, because we said, christ, we got to be at the bottom of
the tunnel. In case it _isn't_ N ck that we heard, that set off the alann. And if it was--" He
hesitated. "Well, we felt we ought to be here. To sort of, you know, officially be on hand. To
greet you." He glanced down in enbarrassment. "Even if you didn't have the artiforg. Because after
all you tried."

"You risked your life," Jorgenson said, in agreement.

Ni chol as said acidly, "Under the threat of being blown up by you shop boys; and ny wife
and brother along with ne."

"Maybe so," Jorgenson said, "but you did go, and you got it, so you didn't just poke your
head out, then slide back down again and say, 'Sorry, fellas; no luck.' As you could have done.

Hel I, we couldn't have disproved it. Proved you hadn't tried." They all seened enbarrassed, now.
Quilty, N cholas thought; that was nmore it. Ashamed of the terror tactic they had used to get him
to go. Now, he realized their President has returned, with the artiforg; old Maury Souza will be

revived, restored to his position. Qur production of |leadies will resume and we will neet our
quot as. Except that their ant tank President knows the truth, now. Which he did not when he
originally left, clinbed the tunnel, energed on Earth's surface--to | earn what Conmi ssioner Dale
Nunes had known all the tine.

No wonder Nunes had insisted everyone act solely through channels-- that is, through
Nunes. Make no _direct_contact with the world above.

No wonder a pol-comin each ant tank was essenti al

It had al ways been obvious the the pol-comperfornmed a vital function for sonmebody- -
presunably for the Estes Park Government. But only by journeying to the surface hinself--and
com ng back here again-- had he seen just how vital, and for whose benefit, that function had
been.

"COkay," N cholas said to the cormittee; he let go of the doorknob, gave up. "And what did
Carol intend next? A decontam nation process of sonme sort?" To 'cide bacteria, mcrobes and
vi ruses whi ch he knew to be nonexistent; it was a tenptation to tell them now-but he refrained.
The tine, he knew, it has to be exactly right. This nust not be nishandl ed, because if it is there
will be too great a reaction. Too nuch--justified--anger. They will burst up, through the |arge
chute, the leady chutes, break out, carrying their handnmade | aser pistols . and the veteran

expert leadies will massacre them as they energe. And, for us, it will be over.

Jorgenson said, "W've already notified Carol by intercomthat it is you; she ought to be
here any second. Be patient. Souza's deep in the freeze; he can wait another hour. She'll graft in
the pancreas sonetinme around m dday. Meanwhile we're all supposed to take off all our clothes,
pile themup, then outside the door there's this chanber we built down in the shops; we'll pass
through it, naked, one by one, and jets of 'cide of different types will--"

To Nichol as, Adanms said, "I never, | just never realized. How conpletely they accept it.

It's incredible.” He seemed dazed. "W thought of it | guess as an intellectual acceptance. But
_this_." He gestured
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"Al'l the way," Nicholas said, nodding. "In every enotional |evel. Down to the basic phobic
animal level; to the very deepest |ayer." He began to renove his clothes, resignedly. Until the
time arrived to tell them there was no choice; the ritual had to be gone through

At last, as if prodded by a renmpte reflex of sone dim uncertain source, Adams, too, began
unbuttoning his shirt.

29

At one o'clock that afternoon Carol Tigh performed--successfully--the pancreas insertion
operation on the still-frozen dead Maury Souza, and then, using the tank's nost precious nedica
equi prent, the old man's circul ation, heartbeat, respiration were artificially, externally
restored; the heart began to punp blood, then, on its own, and followi ng that one the artificia
function stinulators were cautiously and expertly detached from him

The EEG and EKG records, during the next, critical hours, indicated that body processes
were occurring normally; old Souza had a good chance--a very good chance--of recovering and |iving
out a few nore good, inportant years.

So that was that. N cholas, after standing at the bedside of the old mechanic for a |ong
time, watching the nmonitoring machinery spill out their ribbons of tape, at |ast turned away,
satisfied.

It was tine at last for himonce again to face his little overcrowded, janmred-together
famly in their adjoining cubbies with their shared, quarrel ed-over-daily bathroom Once nore he
woul d resune the old life of the tank

For a while.

And then, he said to hinself as he wal ked al one down the clinic corridor and to the
terminal ranmp which led to his own floor, his residential floor, the trunpet shall sound and--not
t he dead--but the deceived shall be raised. And not incorruptible, sad to say, but highly nortal,
peri shabl e, and- - nad.

A nest of hot, scorched wasps, rising to attack. This tank first, but by then we will have
establ i shed contact with our neighboring tanks, will have told them too. Pass it on, we'll say,
he said to hinself. Until everyone knows. And finally a worldw de network of angry wasps; and if
they all swarm simultaneously, no arny of |eadies can get them Just _sone_ of them A third,
per haps. But no nore.

However, it all depended on the TV transm ssions during the next twenty-four hours. Wat
Tal bot Yancy, either real or imaginary, had to say to them

He would wait, first, on that.

And which would it be, Brose or Lantano? Who, at this hour, lived and held power, and who
had di ed?

The next Yancy speech, the next dose of reading matter, would tell him Probably within
the first ten words uttered by the face on the screen

And which, he asked hinself as he arrived at the door of his little cubby, do we want to
see energe? Adans woul d know better than |; David Lantano was good to ne, nmade it possible for ne
to obtain the artiforg. But David Lantano's |eadies before that, began the act of killing nme .
woul d have, if the man hinself, in his older, artificially lighter skinned Yancy phase, hadn't
i ntervened. O perhaps sonething el se had energed up there or will energe in tine; neither Lantano
nor Brose but a conbination--Joseph Adans, as they had worked together to reopen the tunnel, had
conj ectured about this--a new alignment, of Webster Foote and his worl dwi de police corporation
with Louis Runcible and his unw el dy econom ¢ supergiganti c overgrown satrapy. Pitted against the
Agency and its arny of |eadies, many of themw se old tontats with kinks in their tails, left over
fromthe war and ready at any pretext to fight again . . . whether commanded by Stanton Brose or
Davi d Lant ano.

He opened the door of his cubby.

There sat Rita, conposed, waiting. "Hi," she said quietly.

"Hi." He stood awkwardly in the doorway, not knowi ng whether to enter or not, trying to
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read her attitude.

Rising, Rita said, "lIt's nice to have you back. To see you. How are you?" She cane toward
him then, hesitantly, also uncertain, as he was. "You didn't get the Bag Pl ague, then. That's
what | was nost afraid of. Fromwhat |'ve heard and seen on TV and what Dal e Nunes sai d before he--
di sappeared. "

He put his arns around her, hugged her

"This is fine," Rita said, hugging himfiercely back. "But N ck, an all-points cane

through just a few seconds ago; we're supposed to be in Weeling Hall right now, listening to the
Protector, but |'m not going--Nunes, as you know, is dead, and so right now there's nobody to
_make_us go. So I'll stay here. Wth you." She held himagai nst her; however, he very swiftly
di sengaged her arms. "What is it?" she said, then, bewildered.

"I"'mgoing to Wheeling Hall." He strode to the door

"What does it matter--"

He did not take time to answer; he sprinted down the hall, to the ranp.

A nonent later, with perhaps no nore than a fifth or sixth of the citizens of the tank,
Ni chol as St. Janes entered Weeling Hall. Catching sight of Joseph Adans he nade his way over to
him seated hinself rapidly beside him
The giant floor-to-ceiling TV screen was |lit and active; it pul sed but showed not hi ng.
Adans, briefly, said, "We're waiting. There has been what the announcer just now called a

"delay.' " His face was pale, stark. "He, that is, Yancy--he started to appear; then the i mage was
cut off. As if--" He glanced at Ni cholas. "the coax had been cut."

"Jesus,"” Nicholas said, and felt his heart beat, retrieve its rhythm at |ast continue to
| abor on after a fashion. "So they're still fighting it out."

"We'l I know," Adans said, speaking coolly, professionally. "It won't be long." H s tension

seened deliberately technical. And kept so.

"WAs he at his big oak desk? Wth the flag behind?"

"Couldn't tell. Too fragnentary; it lasted--they were able to keep it on--just a split
second. | think--" Adanms' voice was |low but quite clearly audible as, around them tankers
| eisurely, with no particular concern, took their seats, yawned, nurnured, chatted. They did not
know, they just did not know what this neant, to them to their future collective and intinate,
personally lived, individual lives. "--to tell you the truth, the showdown evidently did _not_
come at nine o' clock a.m New York Tine. Apparently it's just comi ng now " He exam ned his watch.
"It's six p.m at the Agency. So sonething, god knows what, has been going on all day long." He
turned his attention back to the big TV screen, then. And becane silent. Witing.

"The dart," N cholas said, "missed, then."

"Perhaps. But that wouldn't be the end. Lantano wouldn't give up and die. Let's take this
step by step. First of all, that particular weapon assenbly, if it fails to neet its target, so
notifies its installer owner. So no matter where he nay be say a thousand niles away, Lantano
woul d know i nstantly the bad news. And Foote--he'd be up to sonething in the meantine anyhow, |
hope at Capetown. If he has the brains I know he has, definitely at Capetown. And woul d have
di scl osed to Runci bl e the whol e busi ness about the special project. And renenber this: there are,
in those conapts of Runcible's, thousands upon thousands of ex-tankers who Runci bl e m ght already
have trained, arned, prepared for--" He broke off.

On the screen appeared the enornous, three-dinmensional, full-color faniliar ruddy but
tanned, healthy, hard-cut features of Tal bot Yancy.

"My fellow Americans,” Yancy said, in his grave and firm nomentous yet considerate, even
gracious voice. "I am hunble before the sight of God to announce to you a matter of such infinite
significance that | can only pray to the Alm ghty and thank Himthat we, you and | together, have
lived to see this day. My friends--" The voice, now, had choked with enpotion; contained, however,
by the iron, nmilitary inspired stoicismof the nan. Masculine al ways, yet nonethel ess overwhel ned;
that was Tal bot Yancy at this instant, and N cholas sinply could not fathomthis that he saw was
this the simulacrum which had al ways confronted themfromthe TV screen, or was this--

The canera retreated. Now the oak desk. The flag. As al ways.

Ni chol as said to Joseph Adans, "Brose got them Before they got him" He felt |eaden
dulled. It was over.

Well, that was that. And--maybe for the better. Wio knew? Wo woul d ever know? And stil
the great real task lay ahead, for him for all the tankers. Nothing less than a total, absolute
war to the end, to try to break through and stay broken through to the Earth's surface.

On the screen in a trenbling, overcone voice Tal bot Yancy said, "Today | can informyou,
every one of you down beneath the ground where you have for so |ong | abored, year in, year out--"

Adans grated, " Get to it _."
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"--wi thout conplaint, enduring and suffering, and always having faith . . . now ny
friends, that faith which has so long been tested can be justified. The war, ny friends, is over."

After a nonent--Weeling Hall and the people scattered here and there in it were dead-
still--Nicholas turned; he and Adans | ooked at each ot her

"And soon, ny friends," Yancy continued in his heavy, solem way, "you shall cone up to
your own sunlit world once again. You will be shocked, at first, by what you see; it will not be
easy, and this will be slow, | nust tell you; slowin comng; it nust be done bit by bit. But it
is here now Al fighting has ceased. The Soviet Union, Cuba, all nenbers of Pac-Peop, has as an
entitey resigned itself, agreed, at last, to--"

"Lantano," Adans sai d, unbelievingly.

Getting to his feet, N cholas wal ked up the aisle, out of Wueeling Hall

In the corridor, alone, he stood in silence, thinking. Evidently Lantano, with or w thout
Webster Foote, had after all gotten Brose, either early in the norning with the high velocity
dart, or, if not then and by that weapon, later on. And in sonme other but absol utely professional
equal |y serviceable way. Ained, of necessity, at the old brain itself, because that al one could
not be replaced. Wen that organ was gone it was over. And it is over

Brose, he realized, is dead. There is no doubt of it. This was the proof--what we were
wai ting for. The one, the only sign we down here would receive. The reign of the Yance-man, the
fraud of thirteen years, or forty-three if you start with Fischer's docunentaries--all over

For better or worse.

Appearing beside him Adans stood for a nonment; neither of them spoke and then Adans said,
"It all depends on Runcible and Foote, at this point. Maybe they can drag Lantano into a
stalemate. Moderate him What in the old U S. Governnent was called 'bal ance of power.' Possibly

t hrough an appearance before the Recon Dis-In Council; insist on--" He gestured. "God knows. |
hope _they do. It's a nmess, N ck; honest to god--1 know wi thout being up there and seeing; it's a
terrible ness and it'll be a nmess for a long tine."

"But," Nicholas said, "we're going to start energing."

Adans said, "What |'"'mwaiting to see is how Lantano or whoever it is that's running the
si mul acrum now, or however they're transnmitting--1 want to see how they explain those thousands of
nmles of grass and trees. Instead of an endl ess waste surface of radioactive rubble." He grinned,
grimaced, twitched rapidly; half a dozen, then steadily deeper, stronger and nore profound
conflicting ideas and enotions flew across his features as, in his mnd, he saw swiftly into one
possibility after another: the idea man, the Yance-man in him the person that he was, cane, under
these conditions, the excitenent, the fear and stress, back into being. "What the hell,"” he said,
"can they--whoever 'they' are--possibly say? Could_there be a plausible cover story? Lord,
can't think of one. Anyhow right now, right on the spot. Lantano, though. You have no realization
Ni ck; he might. He's brilliant. Yes, he very possibly might."

"You think," Nicholas said, "that the biggest lie is still to cone?"

After a long, visibly tornented pause Adans said, "Yes."

"They can't just tell the truth?"

"The what ? Listen, N ck; whoever they are, whatever conbination out of all the possible
crazy bedfell ow conniving, doubl e-dealing deals and deal -outs, whatever group or person has gotten
its paws, tenporarily anyhow, on the winning cards, after his |long day of-- whatever took place;
they have a job, N ck: they have the job, now O explaining away an entire planet of green
neatly trimred, |eadygardener cared-for park. _This is it_. And not just satisfactorily explaining
it to you or ne or a couple of ex-tankers here or there but to hundreds and hundreds of mllions
of hostile, really furious skeptics who are going to scrutinize every single word that ever issues
out of a TV set--by anybody!--fromthis nonent forever into the future. Wuld you |like that job,

Ni ck? Just exactly how well would you like to have to do that?"

"I wouldn't," Nicholas said.

Adans said, "I would." His face withed, in suffering, and with what seened to Ni chol as as
aut henti c and unm st akabl e devouring yearning. "I wish to god | were inonit; I wish |l were
sitting in nmy office at the Agency right now, at 580 Fifth Avenue, New York, nonitoring this
transm ssion as it goes out over the coax. It's ny job. Was ny job. But the fog scared nme, the

loneliness; | let it get me. But | could go back now and it wouldn't get ne; | wouldn't let it.
Because this is so inportant; we were working up to this all the time, this noment when we had to
account for it all. Even if we didn't know. It added up to this _and I'mnot there_, now that this
monment's finally cone; I'"'moff and hiding--1 ran.” H's suffering, the sense of |oss, the know ng

he was severed fromthemand it, palpably grew, made himgag as if he had been brutally butted in
the depths of his stomach; as if physically thrust back so that now he was falling, and
hel pl essly, with nothing to cling to: Adans caught at the enpty air, flailing, futile. And yet
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still he was trying.

"It's over," Nicholas said to him and not trying or wanting to be kind. "Over for you
personal ly and over for all of them" _Because , he said to hinself, _I'mgoing to tell themthe
truth_.

They | ooked at each other, silently. Adans blinking out of the recess into which he fel
and fell. Both of themw thout friendliness, and utterly w thout warnth. Divided, each fromthe
ot her. Absolutely.

And, second by second, the holl owness, the space between, enlarged. Until finally even
Ni cholas felt it, felt the grip of what Joseph Adans had al ways called--the fog. The inner
soundl ess fog.

"Ckay," Adans gasped. "You blab the truth; you rig up sone dinky little ten-watt shortwave
radio transmtter and rai se the next tank, pass your Wrd al ong--but |I'm going back up to ny
demesne and I'mgoing to hole up in ny library where | have to be right now and wite a speech
Beyond doubt, without qualifications, the best one | ever did in all ny years. The cul ni nation.
Because that's what we need. Even better than Lantano can do; when | really have to | can surpass

even him-there isn't anyone who can get beyond ne at ny job; | know | have it. So we'll see,
Nick; we'll wait a while and see who wi ns, who believes what and whom when all this is finally
over; you have your chance and |'mnot going to let mine slip by--1"mnot going to be left.
Di scarded." He stared at N chol as.
Rita, breathless and excited, hurried up the hall to her husband. "N cholas, | just heard--

the war's over and we're going to be able to go back up. W can finally start to--"

"But not quite yet," Nicholas said. "They haven't quite got it ready; conditions on the
surface aren't quite right, yet." He returned Adans' fixed, goaded, suffering stare. "Are they?"

"No, not yet," Adanms said in slow, mechanical response, as if he had al ready gone and
little, very little of him remained here now, by which to answer. "But conditions will be," he
said. "Like you said. Ckay in tine."

"But it's true," Rita said, gasping. "W won; they, Pac-Peop; they surrendered to our
armes of |eadies. Yancy said so; it was piped to every cubby in the tank, | heard it down bel ow. "
Seei ng the expression of her husband's face she said falteringly. "lIt's not just a runor. Yancy
hinsel f, the Protector, personally said it."

To Adans, Nicholas said, "Wat about this. You could tell them- tell us--that it's a
surprise. For our birthday."

"No," Adans said vigorously, thinking once nore at high speed, weighing each of N chol as’
words. "Not good enough; it won't do."

"The radiation level," N cholas said. He felt tired, considering, and not too pessimstic,
not by any manner of neans despairing. Despite what both he and Adans saw the task which had step
by step approached unnoticed, all of these waiting, and for each of them unproductive years. "The
radi oactivity," Nicholas said.

At that, Adans' eyes flickered intensely.

"The radi oactivity,” Nicholas said, "has just now finally, after all this tinme, at |ast
dropped to a tolerable level. There it is; what about that? And throughout all these years you
were forced to say--you had no choice, just no choice at all in the matter; it was norally and
practically necessary_ to say--that the war was still going on. O otherw se people, and you know
how t hey al ways do, woul d have rushed to the surface."

"Foolishly," Adanms agreed, nodding slowy.

"Too soon,"” N cholas said. "The way they naturally act in their stupidity, and the
radiation; it would have killed them So actually when you get right down to it, this was self-
sacrificing. The sort of noral responsibility that your |eadership entailed. How about that?"

"I know," Adans said quietly, "that we can come up with sonething."

Ni chol as said, "I know you can, too." Except for that one thing, he said to hinself, and
put his armaround his wife to draw her cl oser.

You're not going to.

Because we will not allow you
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In the Mbld of 1964: An Afterword

by Thomas M Di sch

In Decenber of 1961 the U. S. Defense Departnent announced a fallout shelter program ai ned
at establishing 235,000,000 fallout shelter spaces. At that time the entire popul ation of the
country had yet to exceed 200, 000, 000.

In Cctober of 1962, Kennedy had his noment of macho glory when he declared a quarantine
around Cuba, where the Russians were building mssile bases. For a few days everyone was waiting
for the bonbs to fall. The sensation of dread and hel pl essness was just the stuff nightrmares are
made of. For those who had read nore than the governnent's bromidic brochures on the subject of
nucl ear destruction and who were living at that time in a mgjor (i.e., targeted) city, there was
little to be done but figure the odds for survival. Fifty-fifty seemed the general consensus anobng
the New Yorkers | knew. The poet Robert Frost, |legend has it, reckoned doonmsday even likelier than
that, and when he appeared at a synposium at Col unbia University, he declared hinself to be
delighted that now he would not die alone (he was then eighty-eight) but would take all humanity
along with him

A year and a nonth later, in Novenmber of 1963, President Kennedy was assassi nated- -
probably as a quid pro quo for his earlier efforts to play a sinilar dirty trick on Castro.
However, at the time we were asked to believe that the deed was acconplished by a single bullet
fired by Lee Harvey Gswal d. Earl Warren, having been adnoni shed by President Johnson that
continued doubts of the scapegoat's sole guilt could |lead to nuclear war, was directed to wite a
scenario to this effect. The Warren Conmission issued its report in 1964, the same year in which
_The Penultimate Truth_ was published. Neither was noninated for a Hugo, for indeed both books
were much too hastily witten to deserve such an honor. But as a snapshot of the angst that
characterized that period--and of the blackly hunorous enotional antidote to that angst--_The
Penultimate Truth_ is an essential docunent.

According to the records of The Scott Meredith Literary Agency, the outline for _The
Penultimate Truth_ was received in March of 1964, and the conpl eted manuscript in Muy.
Conceptual ly it represented the splicing together of two short stories Philip K. Dick had witten
in the earliest years of his apprenticeship. The first of these, "The Defenders," appeared in the
January 1953 issue of _Galaxy_. It duplicates, in mniature, the N cholas St. Janes portion of the
plot, in which all humanity has been tricked into believing it nust continue Iiving underground to
escape the radiation and other dangers of a nuclear war. In this story it is the |eadies (robots)
that have perpetrated the deception in order to keep manki nd from self-extinction, and the story's
last wistfully liberal tableau represents two groups of escaped U S. and Russian trogl odytes
blasting off into the sunset, reconciled by the rational |eadies:

"I't has taken thousands of generations to achieve," the A-class |eady concluded. "Hundreds
of centuries of bloodshed and destruction. But each war was a step toward uniting manki nd. And now
the end is in sight: a world without war. But even that is only the beginning of a new stage of
hi story."

"The conquest of space," breathed Col onel Bor odsky.

"The nmeaning of life," Mss added.

"Eli minating hunger and poverty," said Tayl or.

The | eady opened the door of the ship. "All that and nore. How rmuch nore? W cannot
foresee it any nore than the first men who formed a tribe could foresee this day. But it will be
uni magi nably great."”

The door closed and the ship took off toward their new hone.

The second source-story for the novel was published in _If_ (August 1955), and its title,
"The Mol d of Yancy," was intended, in a slightly emended form _In the Mdld of Yancy , as the
original title of the book. It concerns the conspiracy of the yance-nen of Callisto, a satellite
of Jupiter, to brainwash the guileless Callistotes into a condition of abject conformty by neans
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of the tel evised speeches of a (nonexistent) homespun phil osopher who is a cross between Arthur
Godfrey and George Owell's Big Brother. The problemis resolved not by revealing the deception to
the gullible population but by using_ the Yancy mannikin to inculcate a preference for Geek
tragedy and Bach fugues anong those who fornerly were satisfied by Westerns and the songs of

St ephen Col I ins Foster

It is clear, even in that early story, that Dick's interest in the premse is nore with
the secret power exercised by hidden persuaders, such as advertising copywiters, speechwiters,
and fil nmakers, than with the noral question of the legitimcy of such persuasion. It's less clear
whet her, as he wote "The Mol d of Yancy," Dick recognized his personal fascination and
identification with the yance-nen of Callisto, but surely by the time he had decided to rework
that old naterial into a novel, he knew hinself to be a yance-man--al beit one enployed in the
| ower echel ons of the power structure--as a hack witer producing sci-fi paperbacks. By way of
signaling that fact and of sharing it with the unhappy few who could be counted on to read his
hack novel s as a phantasnal form of autobiography, Dick gave the Agency that is responsible for
this gl obal deception the then-current address of his own literary agent, Scott Meredith, at 580
Fifth Avenue.

What it neant, for Dick--as for his novel's protagonist, Joseph Adans--to be a yance-man
was that he knew, as nost of his fellow citizens did not, that the real sociopolitical function of
the cold war and the arns race was to guarantee confortable "demesnes" for corporate executives
and other officials of the mlitary-industrial establishnent. Only as |ong as there was the nenace
of an external eneny would a nmajority of people agree to their own systematic inpoverishment. But
if one's "eneny"” was in the same situation with respect to its captive popul ati ons, then a dea
could be struck to keep their reciprocal nenace ever-threatening--not at all a difficult task with
t he unt hi nkabl e power of the nuclear arsenals both sides possessed.

I n anot her novel, _The Zap Gun_, conceived and witten in the same few nonths of spring
1964 that produced _The Penultimate Truth_, Dick hypothesized a very simlar conspiracy between
t he superpowers. The hero of that novel, Lars Powderdry, is a weapons fashions designer whose
i nposi ng but inpotent creations are derived, telepathically, froman Italian horror comc, _The
Bl ue Cephal opod Man from Titan_. The noral of both novels is clear: Governnent is a conspiracy
agai nst the people, and it is maintained by the illusion of a pernanent crisis that exists, for
the nost part, as a nedia event.

Such a view of world affairs was much | ess common in the early sixties than it has becone
since Watergate, but it was surely not original to Philip Dick. Its npst forceful expression is

probably found in George Owell's 1984 , in which a perpetual state of war and shifting alliances
anong the three superpowers provide the basis for totalitarian rule, and in which the head of
state is, like Tal bot Yancy, a chinera. Many critics have pointed out that 1984 is intended, not

as a prediction or a warni ng agai nst sone dire possible future, but rather a nighmarishly
hyperbolic picture of the actual state of affairs at the tine it was being witten, a neaning
concealed in the title: 1984 = 1948

The great difference between Owell's world-nightmare and Dick's is that the possibility
of nucl ear hol ocaust has not yet informed Orwell's vision, while it dom nates Dick's-and often
obscures it. Never mind that the future Dick has inmagined _could not_ cone into being, that the
radi ati on rel eased by a nuclear war woul d have had far nore awful and w despread consequences than
the singeing represented in _The Penultimate Truth_. The envotional basis of the inability to
conprehend nucl ear reality has been compellingly discussed by Jonathan Schell in _The Fate of the
Earth_, where, after denonstrating the virtual certainty of human extinction as a result of a
| arge-scal e nucl ear war, he argues:

It thus seens to be in the nature of extinction to repel enotion and starve thought, and
if the mind, brought face to face with extinction, descends into a kind of exhaustion and
dejection it is surely in large part because we know that mankind cannot be a "spectator" at its
own funeral, any nmore than any individual person can

M ght not the congruent sense of "exhaustion and dejection" pervading the first chapters
of _The Penultinmate Truth_ be synptomatic of Dick's natural inability to think the unthinkable--
that is, to inmagine the aftermath of nuclear war in plausibly dire terns?

O course, Dick never intended to wite a plausible, realistic posthol ocaust novel
Readers who wanted a verisno version of their own future deaths might read _On the Beach_ (novel,
1959; novie, 1959). Dick has another zeitgeist to sunmon, a new wi sdomthat is at once happier and
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bl acker, the Spirit of '64.

He sinply denies that the cold war is happening.

It is a denial we all |earned to nmake, having passed through the twin crises of 1962 and
1963, the Mssile Crisis and the Assassination. Robert Frost died alone, after all, and the rest
of us, by and large, survived. If we'd never bothered listening to the news, there'd have been no
reason to be fussed. Life went on. The Beach Boys produced new and better songs. Ditto Detroit and
cars. That segment of the entertainment industry devoted to politics had an el ection, Johnson
versus Col dwater, and the plot was that Gol dwater would lead us into war. So we voted, by and
| arge, for Johnson.

But that's getting ahead of the story, since this cannot chronicle the entire unreality of
the nucl ear era, but only the particular slice represented by The Penultimate Truth --spring of
1964.

Consi der our presidents. Up to the age of fifteen, Dick would have known but one, F.D. R
and he woul d undoubtedly have shared in the idolatry accorded Roosevelt in the war years, Dick
bei ng el even years old in 1941. It can be maintained (and often has been) that two of the next
three presidents--Trunman, Ei senhower, and Kennedy--achi eved their success because of the inmage
they projected rather than through sonme special conpetence. |ndeed, Ei senhower's nomination in
1952 was denounced by Taft's supporters as a triunph of show biz over politics, while, with the
benefit of hindsight, Kennedy's entire career seens a pageant choreographed by the yance-nmen about
hi m - Schl esinger, Bradl ee, even Miiler. Christopher Lasch wites, in the October 1983 issue of
_Har per's_ nagazi ne:

Never was a political myth so consciously and deliberately created or so assi duously
pronoted, in this case by the very people who had depl ored Madi son Avenue's participation in
Presi dent Ei senhower's canpai gns. As Norman Mailer wote in his account of the 1960 Denocratic
convention, which helped to fix Kennedy's image as an "existential hero," the "life of politics
and the life of nyth had diverged too far" during the dull years of Ei senhower and Truman. It was
Kennedy's destiny, Miler thought (along with many others), to restore a heroic dinmension to
Anerican politics, to speak and represent the "real subterranean life of Anerica,"” to "engage"
once again the "nmyth of the nation," and thus to bring a new "inpetus . . . to the lives and the
i magi nati ons of the Anerican."

If this is how one of the man's vassals speaks of him in public, in his lifetine, Lasch's
case--and Dick's--seens fairly unassail able. OF course, those intellectuals who pronoted Kennedy
for his nmythic potential felt with a certain conplacent knowi ngness that they were privileged to
see the reality beyond the myth (for that is a yance-man's greatest reward). Muiler begins his
teasingly self-revealing, selfconcealing _An Anerican Dream_ (which first began to appear
serially, in _Esquire_in January 1964) with a paragraph calculated to nake all true yance-nen
swoon with envy:

I met Jack Kennedy in Novenber, 1946. W were both war heroes, and both of us had just
been el ected to Congress. W went out one night on a double date and it turned out to be a fair
evening for ne. | seduced a girl who would have been bored by a dianond as big as the Ritz.

In every respect but one _An American Dream_ is a nore acconplished novel than _The
Penultimate Truth_, but that one respect was crucial to its (failed) anbition. _An Anerican Dream_
does not succeed as an evocation of the zeitgeist of the dawn of the assassination era--for the
sufficient novelistic reason that Miiler has murders to discuss nuch closer to his own heart.
However, both novels share the sane courtier's fascination with the intrigues presuned to be the
reality behind the nyth of Canel ot/ Tal bot Yancy, and both find something glanmorous in the ruthless
exerci se of power by well-placed crimnals.

It must be admitted, however, that the hugger-nugger surroundi ng the Machi avel lian schenes
of the smarnmily villainous Brose and the Byronic David Lantano is the central weakness of _The
Penultimate Truth_. Brose's plot for entrapping Runcible is so unnecessarily preposterous, and
i nvol ves such needl ess multiplication of hypotheses, and is at last so irrelevant to the outcone
of the story, that one m ght wonder at Dick's willingness to permt such an obvious blenm sh to
remai n, except that one knows, fromhis own adm ssions and fromother internal evidences, that
Dick's method of work was to plunge on ahead and never | ook behind. If _he d_ been O pheus,
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Eurydi ce woul d have had nothing to worry about backwards-I|ooking-w se (as D ck woul d say).

I"d like to intrude a | ong parenthesis here concerning the faults of the book, which are,
pretty obviously, the result of Dick's chosen manner of witing, a manner conparable to downhil
raci ng. The results can be spectacul ar, though often the spectacle provided is one of disaster
But rather than appearing to guess at Dick's technique of conposition on the basis of interna
evidence, let me quote his account of the matter, witten to an editor at Harcourt, Brace early in
1960:

I wonder why you say | wite so nuch; that is, produce so nuch. My anxiety is that |

produce too little--that if | bore down | could produce a ot nore. Mist of the work, for me, lies
in the pre-typing stage, in the note-taking. | generally spend five to six nonths doing no typing,
but sinply outlining. At best | can now bring forth no nore than two novels a year. . . . Under
certain conditions, however, | can wite very fast, even w thout notes. The Lippincott book was
witten in two weeks, proof read and then retyped in two nore. . . . My work tends to force a pace
onme; I1'll do forty to sixty pages a day for days on end, until |'m exhausted, and then not
uncover the machine for several nonths . . . | wait until | amsure of what | want to put down,

and then away | go.

After winning a Hugo for _The Man in the High Castle_in 1963, Dick was actually able to
_increase_ his rate of production to a little better than three novels a year, a rate he
mai nt ai ned al nost to the end of the sixties.

The downhill-racing style of novel-witing is not unconmon in science fiction or other
genres, and when it is brought off well, there is a fizziness and exhilaration to such books that
is not to be found in nore carefully wought novels, however favorably they m ght otherw se be
conpared. Often, however, speed-witten novels run out of steamsporadically. Forty to sixty pages
a day nmeans a week's continuous work for a novel the length of The Penultimate Truth , and it is
difficult to scintillate virtually non-stop for an entire week. Oten it is all that bleary eyes
and weary fingers can do to type coherent sentences. Take as a for-instance Chapter 14, four
| abored pages of dialogue in which two minor characters rehash a situation the reader is already
wel|l aware of, arrive at no conclusions, and can't refrain fromdropping hints right and left as
to how low Phil Dick is feeling at that |late hour, after his seventeenth cup of coffee: "A Yance-
man, femal e, named Arl ene Davi dson, who has a denmesne in New Jersey; the Agency's top draftsman

Di ed of a massive coronary during the past weekend. Late Saturday night. . . . She may have been
given a deadline for sonething major; overworked. But that's conjecture . . ." And then, a page
later: "Still shuffling his docunents, trying to cone up with sonething of use, trying and
unhappily failing, the abstract-carrier Footeman said, "I w sh you good |uck. Maybe next tine.

." And he wondered if, for Runcible, there would be a further report. This inadequate-- adnmittedly
so--one today might well be the |ast "

The wonder is how often Dick was able to produce work of real interest and wit in these
mar at hons of typewiting. For readers who read at a pace proportioned to his speed of witing (as
nmost sf fans learn to do, or else cease being fans), the dull patches disappear into a haze of
white powder as they careen down the slopes of the narrative. It is the _ideas_ they are after
and Di ck al ways provides nore than a sufficiency of these.

I ndeed, for slower readers like nyself, who are so old-fashioned in their tastes as to
demand sone ki nd of consistency and continuity in the plot of a book, this profusion of ideas
often is a bigger stumbling block to the enjoynent of Dick's |esser novels than the chapters
witten on automatic pilot. Take the way Dick picks up, and throws away, and again picks up, the
idea of tine travel in _The Penultimate Truth_. First he posits a "tinme scoop" that can prope
obj ects back into the past, a device Brose intends to use to plant fal se archaeol ogi cal "proofs"
of an extraterrestrial invasion of fifteenth-century North Arerica. Brose's plot conmes to nothing,
t hough several chapters are devoted to its preparation. Then, fudging the explanation |ike mad,

D ck asks us to believe (1) that one of the yance-nen, David Lantano, is actually a Cherokee

I ndi an who has managed to ride the (now two-way) scoop back into the twenty-first century; (2)
that in a manner never fully explained this Lantano's physical age oscill ates between young
manhood and ol d age, when he becones the _real Tal bot Yancy; and (3) that he has taken a few
starring roles in the intervening five centuries.

None of which has nmuch to do with what the book set off to be about, nor does it inpinge
very much on the resolution of the plot. Yet, it is clear fromscattered footprints, broken tw gs,
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and ot her spoor of the downhill-racing novelist what Dick would have _|iked_ this stew of

i mpossibilities to acconplish. Lantano first appears as the yance-man nost likely to succeed--and
to succeed the hero, Joseph Adanms, as The Agency's nost acconplished speechwiter. Adans envies
the way Lantano, in one of the speeches he has witten for the Yancy sinulacrum is able to
"openly discuss the fact that those tankers down there are _systenatically deprived of what
they're entitled to_." Here is how Dick, using the mask of Lantano (who is using the mask of
Yancy), describes the characteristic deprivation of the tankers' (i.e., working class) lives:

Your lives are inconplete, in the sense that Rousseau had meant when he tal ked of man
havi ng been born in one condition, born brought into the light free, and everywhere was now in
chains. Only here, in this day and age . . . they had been born onto the surface of a world and
now that surface with its air and sunlight and hills, its oceans, it streans, its colors and
textures, its very snells, had been swi ped fromthemand they were left with tin-can subnarine--
figuratively----dwelling boxes in which they were squeezed, under a false light, to breathe
repurified stale air, tolisten to wired obligatory nusic and sit dayl ong at workbenches maki ng
| eadi es for a purpose which--but even Lantano could not go on here.

But Lantano's place in the schene of the novel isn't limted to his rhetorical abilities.
He is nmeant to be the redeener of a humanity not sinply downtrodden but buried, a Christ figure
whom Ni chol as St. Janes, his evangelist, at once recognizes as such, murnuring when they first
meet, "He was oppressed and despised,” a nisquotation that Lantano hinself corrects to "despised
and rejected of nmen." However, about the only way that the Cherokee Lantano resenbles Christ is in
havi ng been appointed the task of harrowing hell--that is, of being the agent by which the
subt erranean tankers will win release and inherit the earth. Yet, the means Lantano adopts
resenbl e those of Danton nmuch nore than those of Christ, for Lantano proves to be the sneaki est
and nost ruthless of the book's sundry scheners, and in this he represents Dick's own anbival ent - -
and unfonnul ated--feelings on the question of how human |liberation is to be achieved.

The sane anbi val ence is mrrored--but nore coherently--in the opposition between the two
chi ef protagonists of the novel. N cholas St. Janes is an ideal proletarian, the "president" of
his ant tank, resourceful, courageous, and a dupe. Joseph Adans has only one thing going for him
apart froma certain ineffectual "liberal" goodw |Il-- the fact that he is not a dupe. Dick adnmres
Ni cholas St. Janes, but he identifies with Joseph Adans (who is, accordingly, the only character
in the book with an intermttently plausible inner life).

Wth regard to plot construction, therefore, Lantano is an unnecessary conplication, a
deus ex machi na whose powers prove alnost as illusory as those of the figurehead of Yancy with
which he is identified. At the end of the novel, as a result of Lantano's coup, humanity is to be
rel eased fromits bondage, but this has been acconplished without any recourse to Lantano's
speci al characteristics as a tinme-traveling, Christ-like Cherokee warrior

What, then, was the purpose of such "ideas"? Wre they no nore than a kind of conceptua
paddi ng, a way to punp up the prenise of the original stories to novel |ength? After the fact,
perhaps yes, but in the pell-nell of witing | think Dick's throwaway ideas represent a kind of
sel f-pitched curve ball that he honestly hopes to knock over the stadiumwall. There are simlarly
transcendental elenents in the plot of another novel from 1964 (and one of his best), _The Three
Stigmata of Palner Eldritch_.

If Dick had stopped to think (but that's sonething a downhill racer can't do), he might
have realized that there was an essential dramatic disparity between the two stories he was trying
to weld together. The Yancy part of the plot generated a story about dirty tricks in high places,
a genre for which Dick possesses little flair (conpare Le Carré and his better imtators), while
that elenent of the story that all readers remenber, after the | apse of however nmany years, is the
noti on of the hunman race inprisoned in underground factories because they' ve been tricked into
believing that a nuclear war has destroyed the world. It's an extraordinarily resonant idea. One
thinks of the dwellers in Plato's cave who know nothing of the reality but the shadows cast on the
wall; of the sinmilar destiny of Wells's Morlocks; of the prisoners in Beethoven's _Fidelio_; and
of ourselves, living in the shadows of a nuclear threat that is only bearable by pretending that
it does not exist. To have recogni zed that our situation is a kind of madness ("Wat, nme worry?"
sang the Titanic_'s passengers) has not hel ped us toward a solution, for our situation with
respect to the bonb is not nmuch different in 1983 than it was in 1964. And for that reason _The
Penultimate Truth_, for all its flaws, renmains a book that can speak to the terror that is the
bedrock of our social order.
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Sources Quoted QGther Than _The Penultimate Truth_

"The Defenders,” fromthe collection _The Turning Weel and OQther Stories_ by Philip K
D ck (London: Coronet, 1977); published in U S. as _The Book of Philip K  Dick_ (New York: Daw,
1973).

_A Letter fromPhilip K Dick_, published by the Philip K Dick Society and copyright 1983
by his estate.

_The Fate of the Earth_ by Johanthan Schell (New York: Knopf, 1982).

"The Life of Kennedy's Death" by Christopher Lasch in the Cctober 1983 issue of _Harper's_
magazi ne.

_An Anerican Dream_ by Norman Mailer (New York: Dial, 1965).

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Philip K. Dick (1928--1982) was born in Chicago, Illinois, and spent nost of his life in
California. The author of 35 novels and six short story collections, Dick received the 1962 Hugo
Award for his novel, The Man in the High Castle . In 1974 he was awarded the John W Canpbel
Menorial Award for his novel, Flow My Tears, the Policeman Said . H's novel, Do Androids Dream
of Electronic Sheep?_  (1968) was produced in My, 1982, as the novie _Bl aderunner_.

He was married five tines and had three children. In his nmenory, there has been
established an annual Philip K Dick award for best original paperback novel, since nuch of his
finest work initially appeared in that nedium

"The fact that what Dick is entertaining us about is reality and nadness, tinme and death,
sin and salvation--this has escaped nost critics. Nobody notices that we have our own honegrown
Borges, and have had himfor thirty years."

--Ursula K. Le @Guin,
_The New Republic_
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